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Financial Highlights

Shareholder Information

AS OF OR FOR YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
($ AND SHARE AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

2002

2001

Executive Offices
Operating Results

Net revenues
Investment banking
Trading and principal investments
Asset management and securities services
Total net revenues
Pre-tax earnings
Net earnings

$

$

2,830
5,249
5,907
13,986
3,253
2,114

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
85 Broad Street
New York, New York 10004
1-212-902-1000
www.gs.com

3,836
6,349
5,626
15,811
3,696
2,310

Common Stock

The common stock of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trades
under the ticker symbol “GS.”

Common Share Data

Diluted earnings per share
Average diluted common shares outstanding
Dividends declared per share
Book value per share (1)

$

$

4.03
525.1

$

$

0.48
38.69

4.26
541.8
0.48
36.33

Information about the firm, including all quarterly
earnings releases and financial filings with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, can be accessed
at our Web site: www.gs.com.

$312,218
31,016
18,231
17.1x
14.5x
13.0%
17.8%

$355,574
38,711
19,003
18.7x
15.2x
11.3%
15.3%

Mellon Investor Services LLC
Overpeck Centre
85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, New Jersey 07660
1-800-419-2595
www.melloninvestor.com

Shareholder Inquiries

Financial Condition and Other Operating Data

Total assets
Long-term borrowings
Shareholders’ equity
Leverage ratio (2)
Adjusted leverage ratio (3, 4)
Return on average shareholders’ equity (5)
Return on average tangible shareholders’ equity (6)

Transfer Agent and Registrar for Common Stock
Questions from registered shareholders of The
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. regarding lost or stolen
stock certificates, dividends, changes of address and
other issues related to registered share ownership
should be addressed to:

Independent Accountants

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1177 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10036

Shareholder inquiries can also be directed to
Investor Relations via our Web site at
www.gs.com/investor_relations/ or by calling
1-212-902-0300.

Selected Data

Total employees
Assets under management ($ in billions)

$

Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2002

22,677
$
351

19,739
348

(1)

Book value per share is based on common shares outstanding, including restricted stock units granted to employees with no future service requirements, of 491.2 million as of November 2002 and 501.8 million as of November 2001.

(2)

Leverage ratio equals total assets divided by shareholders’ equity.

(3)

Adjusted leverage ratio equals adjusted assets divided by tangible shareholders’ equity. Adjusted assets excludes (i) low-risk collateralized assets
generally associated with our matched book and securities lending businesses (which we calculate by adding our securities purchased under agreements to resell and securities borrowed, and then subtracting our nonderivative short positions), (ii) cash and securities we segregate in compliance
with regulations and (iii) goodwill and identifiable intangible assets. See “Financial Information — Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Capital and
Funding” for further information regarding our adjusted leverage ratio calculation.

(4)

Tangible shareholders’ equity equals total shareholders’ equity less goodwill and identifiable intangible assets.

(5)

Return on average shareholders' equity is computed by dividing net earnings by average monthly shareholders' equity.

(6)

Return on average tangible shareholders’ equity is computed by dividing net earnings by average monthly tangible shareholders’ equity. See “Financial
Information — Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Results of Operations” for further information regarding our return on average tangible shareholders’ equity calculation.

Copies of the firm’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission can be accessed on our
Web site at www.gs.com/investor_relations/.
Copies can also be obtained by contacting
Investor Relations via our Web site at
www.gs.com/investor_relations/ or by calling
1-212-902-0300.

©2003 The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. All rights reserved.
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Except where specifically defined, the terms “Goldman
Sachs,” “Firm,” “we,” “us” and “our” in this document
may refer to The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. and/or its
subsidiaries and affiliates worldwide, or to one or more of
them, depending on the context in each instance. Except
where otherwise noted, all marks indicated by ®, ™, or SM
are trademarks or service marks of Goldman, Sachs & Co.
4350-02-102

The difficult business and economic climate throughout much
of the world in 2002 produced unprecedented challenges for
both users and providers of capital. It also created unexpected
opportunities for those who were able to seize them.
For Goldman Sachs, our clients’ expectations were high:
clarity at a time of uncertainty, strategies to bolster liquidity today
and growth tomorrow, and prompt execution on their behalf
despite troubled markets.
Certain characteristics define Goldman Sachs, our people and how we do business:
We focus on our clients and their best interests and outcomes;
We work as a team because the whole really is greater than the sum of its parts; and
We are determined to turn adverse market conditions into future opportunities.

We cannot control external forces but we always strive to meet
our own high standards of professionalism, excellence and integrity,
regardless of the environment. The results are long-term client
relationships that span geographies and decades, and a position of
leadership within global markets that is the foundation for success
in the years to come.
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From right: HENRY M. PAULSON, JR. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
JOHN A. THAIN President and Co-Chief Operating Officer
JOHN L. THORNTON President and Co-Chief Operating Officer

Fellow Shareholders:
It was a challenging year for Goldman Sachs.
The business environment was perhaps the most
difficult in recent history, marked by weak or
negative growth throughout much of the world,
international uncertainty, the third consecutive
year of broad equities market declines and the
continued aftermath of the technology/telecommunications bubble collapse.
As a firm, we cannot control the external
forces that shape the business climate. What we
can control is how we manage our business and
execute our strategy. On those terms, Goldman
Sachs’ 2002 results demonstrated the firm’s
resilience and ability to produce a solid performance for shareholders.

2
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Net earnings for the year were $2.11 billion,
on total net revenues of $13.99 billion. Earnings
per diluted share were $4.03, down 5% from 2001.
Return on shareholders’ equity was 11% for the
year, and return on tangible shareholders’ equity
was 15%. Evident in this performance were both
the strength and diversity of the Goldman Sachs
franchise and our discipline concerning expense
reduction. This performance also reflected, as it
has throughout the 133 years since the firm’s
founding, in good times and bad, the quality of
the people of Goldman Sachs and their ability to
develop and execute business.

Letter to Shareholders

BUSINESS RESULTS

MANAGEMENT DISCIPLINE

Investment banking activity and net revenues for
the industry declined throughout the year. Those
declines are clearly seen in our investment banking
results, although relative performance remained
strong. Once again, Goldman Sachs ranked first
in announced and completed global mergers and
acquisitions, and we advised on seven of the ten
largest deals completed during 2002.(1) We were
also the leading underwriter of global public equity
offerings in 2002, and ranked second in global
initial public offerings.(1)
Within our Trading and Principal Investments
business, Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities
(FICC) produced record net revenues for the firm,
demonstrating the ability to serve clients and take
risk prudently. In particular, we were able to avoid
significant credit losses as the business environment
deteriorated and spreads widened. Performance
was strong across most of our FICC businesses,
particularly in currencies, mortgages and fixed
income derivatives. Net revenues declined in our
Equities trading business, reflecting weaknesses
in global equities markets in what continues to be
a very difficult environment. At the same time,
however, we continued to strengthen our equities
franchise in the most important trading centers
across the globe. And, as a result of the fuller
integration of Spear, Leeds & Kellogg, we are truly
at the cutting edge of technology-driven innovation
and efficiency. Principal Investments had another
disappointing year, with further declines in the
value of several technology and telecom investments
more than offsetting favorable results from the real
estate portfolio. During the year, however, we were
successful at finding a number of very attractive
investments in which to participate, and we
continue to believe this is a particularly good time
to be an active investor.
Asset Management and Securities Services
continued its strong performance in 2002. Despite
significant equities market depreciation, assets
under management declined only slightly, reflecting net inflows. This is, we believe, an affirmation
of our investment track record as well as our
focus on client service.

In response to the difficult operating environment,
we reduced operating expenses by 11% from the
prior year’s level. Non-compensation expenses were
pared back and we made painful but necessary
reductions to our workforce, taking great care
not to impair our ability to compete today or in
the future. Compensation is, of course, our largest
expense and we imposed rigorous discipline in
making 2002 bonus awards. Most professionals
saw reductions in total compensation, starting
with the firm’s senior management.
Finally, we took important steps throughout
2002 to refocus the entire Goldman Sachs organization on our business principles, which begin
and end with an absolute insistence on integrity.
In particular, we have a major continuing initiative
aimed toward insuring that we exhibit unimpeachable professionalism in everything we do and
reinforcing our culture. That culture, with its
emphasis on client service, teamwork, strict
compliance and excellence, is our greatest strength,
but it requires constant reinforcement, particularly
in difficult markets and under adverse conditions.
Safeguarding our culture will continue to be one
of our highest priorities in 2003.
RESTORING INVESTOR CONFIDENCE

The continuing after-effects of the late 1990s
technology/telecommunications bubble posed significant challenges to the financial markets and
our industry in 2002. The huge losses associated
with the bubble’s collapse severely affected
investor confidence — which in turn was further
shaken by the large and highly visible corporate
scandals that emerged beginning in late 2001.
All this led to a storm of public criticism and
calls for new laws and regulations. Notwithstanding
some of the rhetoric, much of the criticism has been
warranted, as are many of the regulations recently
enacted or proposed. And while it is simply wrong
to say that investment banks, such as Goldman
Sachs, created the market bubble, it is true that,
in common with much of the media, academia and
the business community, we misjudged it.
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The more important point, at least for us at
Goldman Sachs, is that we understand and accept
our responsibilities as one of the gatekeepers of
the financial markets. With the benefit of hindsight,
it is clear that we all could have done better.
We are committed to learning from our mistakes.
Against this backdrop, in 2002 there were dramatic
changes in the legal and regulatory environment.
The New York Stock Exchange proposed new
corporate governance listing rules. U.S. regulators
mandated CEO and CFO certification of corporate
financial statements. Law enforcement agencies
began aggressive enforcement actions aimed at
misconduct. And the U.S. Congress passed the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act in an attempt to strengthen
confidence in U.S. corporations, accounting and
financial markets.
In the financial services industry, public scrutiny
focused on the role and quality of investment
research. Even before the public controversy of
2002 arose, we had taken a series of decisive steps,
commencing in February, to protect further the
integrity of our research and to improve its quality.
During the months that followed, we worked
closely with regulators and other investment banks
in crafting the provisional settlement announced on
December 20. While many of the new rules were
initiated primarily to protect retail investors — not
our market segment — we are determined to make
them work. In addition, we are supportive of a
proposed industry initiative that generally would
prohibit allocations of initial public offerings to
officers and directors of public companies. The
new rules for research and for IPO allocations
applicable in the U.S. may well form a template for
our industry throughout the world.
We have also attempted to play a positive role
in the debate on corporate governance, accounting
and regulatory reform, and, among other things,
participated in the development of the SarbanesOxley Act in the United States. As with the research
settlement, there are areas of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act that need to be clarified to prevent unintended
consequences to the competitiveness of the U.S.
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capital markets. At the same time, one of the
strengths of the U.S. system has always been its
ability to respond to crisis with quick self-correction. Passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act was part
of that process, and we support it as an important
step towards rebuilding investor confidence.
We believe that only by putting appropriate
corporate governance mechanisms in place, and
otherwise aligning the interests of management
with shareholders, can there be sufficient focus on
shareholder interests. In that connection, we refer
you to our statement on “Promoting and Protecting Shareholder Interests” that follows.
SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS

On February 7, 2003, Goldman Sachs entered into
a series of related transactions with Sumitomo
Mitsui Financial Group, Inc. (SMFG) that include
an investment of ¥150.3 billion ($1.25 billion) in
convertible preferred stock of SMFG, the provision
by SMFG of credit loss protection to Goldman
Sachs and a broadening of cooperative initiatives
between our two firms. We believe these transactions have strategic significance and real benefit
to both organizations and their shareholders.
For Goldman Sachs, it enables us to pursue three
important objectives. First, it deepens our participation in Japan and Japanese financial markets,
through an investment in one of that nation’s
largest and best-managed institutions. Second, the
credit protection component will enhance Goldman
Sachs’ ability to offer credit commitments to investment-grade clients while mitigating in part the
credit risk of doing so. Finally, the agreement with
SMFG extends the range of cooperative initiatives
between Goldman Sachs and SMFG, and areas
on which we anticipate working together will
include the disposition of non-performing assets,
investment banking and asset management. This
transaction is especially meaningful, given the long
and successful relationship between our firms,
including Sumitomo Bank’s historic capital investment of $500 million in Goldman Sachs initiated
in 1986.

Letter to Shareholders

(1)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS / MANAGEMENT CHANGES

CONCLUSION

In December, we announced that William George,
former Chairman and CEO of Medtronic, Inc., was
joining our Board of Directors. Bill fills the seat
Steve Friedman left when he retired to become
Assistant to the President for Economic Policy
and Director of the National Economic Council.
We will miss Steve’s contributions to the Board,
although we are gratified that President Bush
will have the benefit of his counsel. And we are
fortunate to gain a new director of Bill’s caliber.
Morris Chang and Meg Whitman also resigned as
directors late in 2002. We are grateful for their
dedication and insights as directors. In February
2003, in light of the announced retirement of Bob
Hurst, the Board nominated Lloyd Blankfein, a
Vice Chairman of Goldman Sachs with responsibility for our securities businesses, to stand for
election to our Board of Directors at the April 1
Annual Meeting. We look forward to having
Lloyd as a new director and we thank Bob for his
contributions to our Board.
Over the past year we changed the ranks
of our senior leadership to meet the challenging
business environment and to ensure the best
possible service to our clients. Lloyd Blankfein,
Bob Steel and Rob Kaplan were appointed Vice
Chairmen and asked to take on expanded management responsibilities. In addition, Masanori
Mochida, Suzanne Nora Johnson, John Weinberg,
Gary Cohn, Chris Cole, Michael Evans, Scott
Kapnick, Peter Kraus, Eric Mindich, Tom Montag,
Eric Schwartz, Michael Sherwood and Andrew
Melnick joined the firm’s Management Committee
over the course of 2002. These individuals bring
a wealth of talent and experience and a diversity
of perspectives to the Committee.

One of the most meaningful tests of individuals
and organizations is how well they handle adversity. In 2002, the people of Goldman Sachs rose to
meet the challenges of the environment and events
with great distinction and considerable success.
We anticipate that the coming year will continue to be difficult, with slow growth in most of
our major markets. The international situation,
particularly in the Middle East and Asia, is of
concern to us all, and will affect market conditions
in ways that cannot be predicted. And we believe
that close scrutiny of the securities industry and its
role in the late 1990s bubble will continue.
However, there is no question that today
Goldman Sachs is a stronger firm than we were
only a year ago, and well positioned to benefit
from the broad secular forces that, despite recent
setbacks, are driving profound and lasting global
change. As a result, we have even greater confidence in Goldman Sachs’ longer-term prospects
and success.

HENRY M. PAULSON, JR.
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

JOHN A. THAIN
President and
Co-Chief Operating Officer

JOHN L. THORNTON
President and
Co-Chief Operating Officer

Thomson Financial Securities Data — January 1, 2002 through December 31, 2002.
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Promoting and Protecting Shareholder Interests
It has never been more evident that business leaders must hold themselves and
their companies to the highest ethical and business standards. Only by putting
appropriate corporate governance mechanisms in place, and otherwise aligning
the interests of management with shareholders, will shareholder interests be
adequately promoted and protected. The discussion below is intended to inform
our shareholders and other interested parties about our philosophy and actions
in this important area. Further information concerning our corporate governance
structures is contained in our 2003 Proxy Statement and on our Web site.
On May 7, 1999, Goldman Sachs became a
public company — a profound change for the firm.
Operating as a partnership for 130 years, it had
successfully evolved from its roots as a modest,
family-owned business founded in 1869, into one of
the most prominent investment banking, securities
and investment management firms in the world.
In making the transition to a public company,
we were determined to retain the best characteristics of the partnership culture that had led to our
success — a key element of which is meaningful
ownership of the firm by its people. A major priority was putting in place a strong framework of
governance and assembling a Board of Directors
that would promote and protect the interests of
our new partners, our public shareholders.
RETAINING THE STRENGTHS OF AN OWNER CULTURE

The core of the Goldman Sachs partnership was
shared long-term ownership. It shaped individual
behavior and our approach to business. The
partners were the owners of the enterprise and,
with few exceptions, they could not withdraw
their capital until they left the firm or retired.
Their interests were tied individually and collectively to the well being of the firm as a whole.
As a result, there was a total alignment between
ownership and management because they were one
and the same. The leaders of virtually every business were partners with their capital tied up in the
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firm. We are in a business where our success is in
large measure a reflection of our people and our
reputation. Every partner had a tangible interest in
strong operational and legal and ethical controls,
effective risk management methodologies and
maintaining a culture of integrity. In that regard,
we rigorously adhered to mark-to-market accounting to ensure that our recorded positions reflected
economic reality. And they had to because our
accounting formed the basis for determining partners’ individual capital accounts and paying them
out when they retired from the firm.
We viewed our public offering as an opportunity to deepen the benefits of ownership by
sharing it with all of our people. So we made the
largest stock grant to employees in history.
Approximately $5 billion of Goldman Sachs stock
was distributed to all of our employees, at all
levels in the firm. We believed that by making
all of our people owners, the firm would benefit
by strengthening the culture of ownership.
We also took steps to ensure that our people
would retain an important personal stake in
Goldman Sachs going forward. First, we established minimum stock retention requirements for
all of our Managing Directors (currently over
1,000 individuals) based upon the shares they
received at the time of the IPO and subsequently as
a portion of their annual compensation. Today, virtually all of our senior executives have the largest

Promoting and Protecting Shareholder Interests

part of their personal assets in Goldman Sachs
stock. Their financial success is directly tied to the
success of Goldman Sachs. We also established
compensation plans in which a significant portion
of compensation — approximately 45% for our
most highly paid people — is in the form of equity.
Today, Goldman Sachs is distinctive among large
public companies in that a very significant portion
of the firm (over one-third) is owned by its people.
Another key element in retaining the best aspects
of our partnership culture was the establishment of
a partnership compensation plan. Every two years,
we elect new partners. Those partners, who currently number about 290, are compensated by their
share of a compensation pool, which is determined
each year by the firm’s overall level of profitability.
The effect of this concept is that our most senior
managers’ compensation is directly linked to the
success of the firm as a whole. This is a unique
approach to compensation in our industry and it
encourages the firm’s leaders not to focus narrowly
on their individual businesses, but rather to work
together to maximize the success of Goldman Sachs.
At the time of the IPO, the firm was owned
principally by partners who were engaged fulltime in the business. A smaller portion was also
held by retired partners and certain institutions.
We viewed a major challenge of our transition to
a public company to be the orderly distribution of
a significant portion of these shares into the
public market, with as little disruption as possible,
so as to eliminate the market “overhang” issue
and to provide deep liquidity for our public shareholders. With the exception of the three most
senior officers, we have encouraged our partners
to sell a portion of their shares on an orderly and
volume-limited basis. Last year, after we reached
approximately 50% public ownership, Goldman
Sachs was added to the S&P 500, perhaps the
most significant index for listed shares in the U.S.,
and an important milestone for any company,
given how many investors use it as a benchmark.

THE FRAMEWORK FOR GOVERNANCE:
MANAGEMENT AND THE BOARD

The leadership and oversight task for an investment bank like Goldman Sachs is a complex one.
We are one of a handful of truly global investment
banks conducting advisory, asset management and
securities sales and trading businesses around the
world, and are active in virtually every market
center. We manage considerable risk, often taking
on large capital commitments, on short notice.
Senior management must spend considerable time
with clients. Our industry is highly regulated, and
here again, the global nature of the enterprise adds
to the complexity since every jurisdiction has its
own regulatory regime or regimes.
The partners of Goldman Sachs, prior to the
IPO, delegated oversight and firmwide decision
making to a Management Committee, comprised
of the Senior Partner and a group of senior business leaders who brought their individual skills,
technical knowledge and experience to bear collectively on the major issues facing Goldman Sachs.
As a public company, management is vested in the
CEO and other senior business leaders, with a firmwide Management Committee continuing to assist
in the overall leadership and direction of the firm.
We believe that in view of the complex nature
of our business, the shareholders of Goldman
Sachs benefit by having a number of Management
directors — who literally know the firm from
inside out — engaged together with the outside
directors in the Board of Directors’ oversight role.
We also recognize that from a governance perspective, it is important that there be a substantial
majority of outside directors on our Board.
At the time of the IPO, Goldman Sachs’ Board
of Directors was comprised of seven members, five
of whom were inside directors and two of whom
were outside directors. A commitment was made to
achieve a majority of outside directors within three
to five years, which commitment was satisfied in
October 2001. We currently have five independent
outside directors and four members of Management
on our Board. We will continue to add outstanding
non-Management directors selectively and over time.
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Our outside directors are first-rate, proven
leaders in their fields who have the character,
confidence and expertise to be tough-minded and
independent. They are all experienced directors
of public companies and successful leaders of
complex organizations whose complementary
backgrounds, experiences and skills make the
Board, as a whole, highly effective. The interplay
of the directors’ diverse perspectives has been
invaluable to our successful evolution as a public
company and will be vital to our continued
success. To align their interests more fully with
shareholders, the compensation of our outside
directors has been paid predominantly in equity of
Goldman Sachs, and they receive no fees from the
firm except those paid for their Board service.
THE FRAMEWORK OF GOVERNANCE:
ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board of Directors oversees the development
of our strategy and performance of our businesses
and Management. Management is responsible for
presenting strategic plans to the Board for review
and approval and for implementing the firm’s strategy. Among the Board’s most important functions
are the selection of its Chairman and the firm’s
Chief Executive Officer. The Board does not have
a policy on whether the role of the Chairman and
CEO should be separate or combined but believes
that the current combined arrangement serves
Goldman Sachs well at this time. Other significant
Board functions, certain of which are conducted
with the assistance of one of its three committees
described below, include oversight of the integrity
of our financial statements, compliance with laws
and regulations and risk management, evaluation
of the CEO, review of management succession,
director compensation, and the review and approval
of significant transactions.
Our directors are expected to be, and they are,
active overseers of our business. In addition to the
minimum of five formal board meetings (and the
committee meetings described below) to be held
each year, the directors are solicited for, and at their
own initiative provide, their views and counsel on
a variety of topics.

8
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Our non-Management directors meet periodically in executive session. Unless they determine
otherwise, the Chairman of our Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee presides at
these meetings. The meetings provide a forum for
the free expression of views and the exchange of
ideas by our outside directors without the possible
inhibiting influence of Management directors.
The Board of Directors accomplishes a substantial amount of its work through three committees:
the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee
and the Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines
and committee charters require that all members
of these committees be “independent”— that they
have no relationship that may interfere with the
exercise of their independence from Management
and the firm. Each of these committees is authorized to engage whatever resources, as it deems
appropriate, without seeking approval of the
Board or Management, to discharge its duties and
responsibilities. Our strong belief is that exceptional independent oversight will promote and
protect shareholder interests.
Our Audit Committee consists of four independent directors and is chaired by Lord Browne
of Madingley, who is the Group Chief Executive of
BP p.l.c., and earlier in his career had been the
Group Treasurer of BP and Chief Financial Officer
of Standard Oil Company (Ohio). The primary
purposes of the Audit Committee include assisting
the Board in its oversight of the integrity of our
financial statements, our compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the qualifications
and independence of our independent auditors,
the performance of our internal audit function and
independent auditors, and our management of
market, credit, liquidity and other financial and
operational risks. In addition, the Audit Committee
reviews and monitors the adequacy of the structures, policies and procedures that the firm has
developed to assure the integrity of our investment
research. During fiscal 2002, the Audit Committee
(or sub-committees thereof) held eight meetings,
including five executive sessions, two private sessions with Management, and five private sessions
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with each of the independent auditors and Director
of Internal Audit. Lord Browne also held five meetings with the Director of Internal Audit. The
independent auditors and the Director of Internal
Audit each have free access to the Audit Committee
to discuss any matters they deem appropriate.
Our Compensation Committee consists of five
independent directors and is chaired by James A.
Johnson, a Vice Chairman of Perseus, L.L.C., a
merchant banking and private equity firm, and
retired Chairman and CEO of Fannie Mae. The
primary purposes of the Compensation Committee
include assisting the Board in overseeing the development and administration of our compensation
programs and reviewing the compensation of our
executives and, to insure consistency with the firm’s
Statement of Investment Research Principles, of our
investment research professionals, and the development, implementation and effectiveness of our
policies and strategies relating to human capital
management. In particular, the Compensation
Committee, after reviewing in detail our CEO’s performance and taking into consideration an
evaluation by the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, sets the CEO’s compensation.
In consultation with the CEO, the Committee also
determines the compensation of all of our senior
officers. In a service business, we know that
without attracting and retaining the best people, we
cannot be the best firm. Appropriate compensation
and human capital management programs are
crucial to success in this area. During fiscal 2002,
our Compensation Committee held four meetings.
In addition, Mr. Johnson met with the chairs of our
internal compensation policy committee five times.
In September 2002, we formed our Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee, which
consists of all five of our outside independent directors and is chaired by John H. Bryan, the retired
Chairman and CEO of Sara Lee Corporation. The
primary purposes of the Corporate Governance
and Nominating Committee are to recommend
individuals to the Board for nomination, election or
appointment as members of the Board or its committees and to take a leadership role in shaping the
corporate governance of Goldman Sachs, including

developing and recommending to the Board and
reviewing on an ongoing basis the corporate governance principles and practices it should apply to
the firm. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee played a central role in developing
our Corporate Governance Guidelines and our
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics which applies
to all of our directors and the people of Goldman
Sachs worldwide. The guidelines and code were
adopted by the Board in February of this year and
are available on our Web site. Since its formation,
among its other activities, the Committee has conducted an evaluation of the performance of the
Board and of our CEO and reviewed the CEO’s
management succession plan. The Committee also
has led the continuing search for individuals who
possess the exceptional qualities necessary to be
recommended for Board membership. Our newest
outside director, William George, the retired Chairman and CEO of Medtronic, Inc., and director
nominee Lloyd Blankfein, a Vice Chairman of the
firm with responsibility for our securities businesses, were initially reviewed by the Committee.
Since its inception, the Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee has held three meetings.
CREATING LONG-TERM VALUE FOR SHAREHOLDERS

One thing that has not changed since becoming a
public company is our focus on creating long-term
value for our owners, the only difference being
that, today, our owners are no longer our partners, but our shareholders. As a public company
we have worked hard to retain the elements of
our partnership culture that led to Goldman
Sachs’ success. We have also focused on the new
elements unique to public companies: creating a
world class Board of Directors and a strong
framework of corporate governance. Although
our history as a public company is less than four
years, we believe that we are off to a good start.
However, we have also learned over the past 133
years that we can never be complacent. Our Management and our Board of Directors understand
this and will always work to ensure the success of
Goldman Sachs for the benefit of our owners.

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT
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chapter i

Defining Client Relationships
In 2002, declining equities markets and volatile
debt markets, increasing levels of risk and
market uncertainty made decision-making
extremely difficult for management teams
across virtually every industry — and raised
the stakes of action or inaction considerably.
For Goldman Sachs only a few things were
certain: we would stay close to our clients,
listen to their concerns, and offer our best
thinking and our most objective advice.
Where it made sense for our issuer
clients, we engaged our global distribution

“We were determined that we were going to show
the world that the business could be done at a high level
where the client would come first.”
—Al Feld, who celebrates his 70th anniversary
with Goldman Sachs in 2003

10
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capabilities in an effort to tap the most
attractive and efficient markets to meet their
needs. For our investor clients, we worked to
identify and develop opportunities that met
their investment objectives.
We have spent significant amounts of time
with our clients, helping them allocate assets,
evaluate risk, hedge their exposures and
enhance shareholder value. Most companies
can excel in an up market, but experience,
expertise and superior execution make a
difference for clients when things get difficult.

LONDON FIXED INCOME

FRANKFURT FIXED INCOME AND BANKING

FRANKFURT FIXED INCOME

E.ON — NAVIGATING THE CHALLENGE OF ENTERING NEW MARKETS

Goldman Sachs has worked closely
with E.ON, the German-based power
giant, and its predecessor firms for
several years. Last spring, E.ON
wanted to take a new direction:
although the firm had not been an
active issuer of debt securities in the
past, it now sought the flexibility of
access to the public markets. Conditions were less than ideal in mid-May,

and several other issuers chose to
postpone or restructure transactions.
Goldman Sachs believed E.ON could
come to market — and E.ON put its
trust in Goldman Sachs, the only U.S.
bookrunner in the offering.
Tapping into its deep investor
base, Goldman Sachs laid the groundwork with an extensive marketing
effort that reached a large audience

of portfolio and asset managers. The
Goldman Sachs sales team then
focused on those managers who
demonstrated interest in E.ON and
appetite for its debut debt issue. The
result was a record-breaking €7.3
billion offering, and another step in a
long relationship between Europe’s
largest investor-owned energy service
provider and Goldman Sachs.

HONG KONG BANKING
AND CAPITAL MARKETS

NEW YORK EQUITY
CAPITAL MARKETS

HONG KONG BANKING AND
LONDON CAPITAL MARKETS

NEW YORK BANKING AND
CAPITAL MARKETS

BANK OF CHINA — A MODERNIZATION AND TRANSFORMATION PROCESS

Goldman Sachs has had a long relationship with the Bank of China Group,
dating back to the 1970s. Beginning
in 2000, Goldman Sachs assisted
the company in formulating and
implementing its restructuring plans.
A critical element of these efforts
was the consolidation and listing of
its commercial banking operations

12
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in Hong Kong, and we acted as the
financial advisor for this process.
In October 2001, Bank of China
(Hong Kong) was successfully formed
through the merger of Bank of China’s
12 subsidiary banks and one credit
card company. This merger was not
only Hong Kong’s largest bank merger
but also one of the most complicated.

Goldman Sachs further advised the
company on its July 2002 listing on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong,
which raised $2.7 billion. This highly
successful and historic IPO was the
first international stock listing by a
mainland bank, and paved the way for
broader financial change within China.

BOSTON EQUITIES SALES TRADING

NEW YORK PROGRAM TRADING

NEW YORK PROGRAM TRADING

BOSTON EQUITIES RESEARCH SALES

PUTNAM INVESTMENTS — SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS DESPITE TURBULENT MARKETS

Putnam Investments and Goldman
Sachs have enjoyed an exceptionally
strong relationship built over a long
period of time — a relationship that has
spanned multiple products including
equities, derivatives, capital markets,
trading and investment research.

Over the last several years, Putnam
Investments has also come to look
at Goldman Sachs as a trusted advisor.
In 2002, Putnam Investments and
Goldman Sachs worked closely
together to evaluate and implement
a number of significant portfolio

restructurings. A great deal of collaboration and analysis led up to these
transactions and they were executed
successfully despite turbulent conditions in the marketplace.

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT
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GLOBAL RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT — SUCCESS THROUGH CLIENT FOCUS

Goldman Sachs’ Global Relationship
Management team (GRM) brings
together two of our most deeply held
principles: client focus and teamwork.
Their mandate is to think broadly and

TOKYO

LONDON
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strategically about the financial
alternatives for our clients. In effect,
GRM is at the intersection of our
clients’ needs and Goldman Sachs’
capabilities. Teamwork and client

NEW YORK

focus come together in GRM to
create a level of service to our clients
that can be identified as uniquely
Goldman Sachs.

PRIVATE WEALTH MANAGEMENT — EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE

Especially in today’s challenging environment, wealthy families look to
Goldman Sachs for advice and guidance in developing investment
strategies. The financial markets are
highly interdependent, and successful
investment portfolios require global
perspective, leading-edge knowledge
and individualized strategy.

Goldman Sachs’ approach to
wealth management is simple: we
believe our private clients are best
served by dedicated teams who are
committed to delivering our broad
investment management capabilities
and other resources of the firm to
those clients in order to meet their
individual objectives.

The force of the team’s combined
knowledge and experience provides
our clients with a disciplined approach
to portfolio strategy and management
and the outstanding client service
that is the hallmark of a Goldman
Sachs relationship.

NEW YORK

HONG KONG

HONG KONG

NEW YORK
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chapter ii

Defining Teamwork
Organizations succeed because of the caliber
of people they attract. Goldman Sachs succeeds because it attracts people of very high
caliber, people who want to work together to
achieve something greater than they could
achieve on their own. That desire and ability
to be part of a team is fundamental to our
culture, our business principles and, we
believe, our long-term success.
Since the firm’s founding in 1869,
Goldman Sachs has focused on teamwork
rather than solitary effort. That so many

individuals have left their mark on the firm,
and continue to do so today, is evidence that
even the strongest performers know the value
of adding rather than subtracting perspectives, skills and insights. We put tremendous
resources and effort into finding the right
people and helping them build satisfying
careers at Goldman Sachs because time has
proven the powerful, positive force of talented people working as one.

“The point is this team thing, the cooperation, teamwork, and our culture was developed
not because someone was a genius and woke up in the middle of the night when the little
electric light popped. It really came from the needs of the moment. It’s good, solid business.
You want to have people working together to achieve an objective.”
—John L. Weinberg, Partner 1956–1990
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NEW YORK FIXED INCOME AND FINANCE

LOS ANGELES AND NEW YORK BANKING

NEW YORK FIXED INCOME

LOS ANGELES BANKING

PROVIDIAN FINANCIAL — REBUILDING SHAREHOLDER VALUE

As 2001 ended, Providian, the large
consumer credit company and a longtime Goldman Sachs client, faced
serious problems that threatened its
liquidity and caused its stock price to
fall significantly. Realizing that quick
and comprehensive action was
needed, Goldman Sachs brought
together investment banking and

fixed income professionals who
worked on Providian’s behalf throughout much of 2002.
The team structured a series of
complex transactions for Providian
and executed them in difficult markets,
including the sale of Providian’s
Master Trust and its credit card
business in the United Kingdom.

Goldman Sachs also securitized and
provided the equity to fund the sale
of $2.4 billion of Providian’s higher
risk assets. Months of consistent and
dedicated efforts led to a dramatic
restructuring of Providian’s balance
sheet and improved its prospects.

GLOBAL RECRUITING TEAM — A NEW FIRMWIDE APPROACH

Talent is the most important asset we
have. It’s not just something we say
but a fact that drives our performance
and our decisions every day. In all
Goldman Sachs hires, we look for individuals who will bring their intelligence,
energy and dedication to bear on our
clients’ most significant problems. And
we continually assess and refine our
practices to make sure we can fulfill

LONDON

HONG KONG
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this goal. Over the past year, we have
strengthened our focus on presenting
ourselves as one firm. By doing this,
we interview for the firm first and for
individual businesses second — ensuring that we don’t miss out on talent by
defining our criteria too narrowly.
This new firmwide approach has
allowed us to streamline our recruiting
efforts through a more closely coordi-

NEW YORK

nated global process. Recruiters and
other Goldman Sachs professionals
work together to give recruits the
best and most accurate perspective
on the career opportunities Goldman
Sachs has to offer. Both cost-effective
and efficient, this new approach helps
us reach a diverse pool of candidates
and seek the best person for every
job at Goldman Sachs.

ZORGVERZEKERAAR VGZ (VGZ) — GLOBAL COORDINATION AND DETERMINATION

Our clients reap the benefits of the
diversification of Goldman Sachs
Asset Management, and as we work
more closely with them, those benefits increase proportionately. For five
years, the Goldman Sachs Asset
Management team served as one of
four portfolio managers for VGZ, one of
the largest specialized health insurance
companies in The Netherlands. When

VGZ decided to elect a sole fiduciary

manager last year, approximately 15
firms competed. Our client relationship team in London and our portfolio
teams in New York set to work to
reaffirm our investment capabilities
and our commitment to VGZ. After a
lengthy selection process, Goldman
Sachs was chosen to serve as VGZ’s
sole fiduciary manager. Taking on

LONDON SALES AND MARKETING TEAM

VGZ’s approximately €1 billion account
required the seamless integration
of our asset allocation, benchmarking,
risk budgeting, manager selection
and manager monitoring capabilities.
This kind of inter-product and crossregional effort is made possible
through the dedicated teamwork
that characterizes Goldman Sachs.

NEW YORK QUANTITATIVE RESOURCES

NEW YORK LEGAL AND QUANTITATIVE RESOURCES

NEW YORK QUANTITATIVE RESOURCES
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chapter iii

Defining Determination
With few exceptions, the markets were not
kind in 2002. Market participants that could
tap into their institutional memory and hardearned experience of living through other
down cycles and that could take advantage of
strong, positive, enduring cultures had a real
edge over those that could not.
Firms remind themselves that nothing lasts
forever. Goldman Sachs leaders reminded
their teams, in the boom years of the 1990s,
that “trees don’t grow to the sky.” They
pointed to past generations of Goldman Sachs
leaders who saw periods of great success but
also had to wrestle with times of crisis.

Our disciplined management approach, our
financial prudence and the strength of our
core franchise have paid off this year, as we
have continued a leadership position in our
most important investment banking businesses.
Over the past 133 years, Goldman Sachs
and its people have been tested by adverse
markets, economic conditions and events. We
have survived and grown stronger and more
successful as a result of that passage, and it has
defined the characteristics of the organization.

“You may remember… that in the merchandise panic of the early ’20s, one of our clients
had to step into the market and issue short-term notes. I doubt very much that anyone who
was not familiar with the personalities and the history of the business could have done that
job [as we did], or would have wanted to do it, would have put their shoulder to the wheel.
In other words, it isn’t always a bed of roses, this business.”
—Walter Sachs, Partner 1908–1959
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NEW YORK

TOKYO

NEW YORK

PHOTOGRAPHED AT THE BRITISH MUSEUM, LONDON

MILAN

INVESTMENT BANKING — LEADERSHIP AS A FIXED POINT IN A CHANGING MARKET

Despite the dramatic downturn in
corporate activity, Goldman Sachs
remained a market leader in Investment Banking, ranking number one
in announced and completed global
mergers and acquisitions and in
worldwide public common stock
issuances.(1) And while business
volumes declined, we continued to

(1)

strengthen existing relationships and
establish new client relationships
through an unmatched combination
of thoughtful, strategic analysis and
advice, superior execution and a
commitment to absolute integrity in
everything we do.
2003 will continue to provide
challenges as well as opportunities.

Thomson Financial Securities Data — January 1, 2002 through December 31, 2002.

Our clients need objective advice and
nimble strategies as they reevaluate
their growth opportunities and consider
various types of transformations.
Our pursuit of excellence and
commitment to provide thoughtful and
balanced financial advice to our clients
will never lag, even in difficult years.

NEW YORK

NEW YORK

FIXED INCOME, CURRENCY AND COMMODITIES (FICC) — CUSTOMIZED SOLUTIONS IN A TURBULENT YEAR

Goldman Sachs seeks to develop
innovative approaches to help clients
during volatile times. In the active and
uncertain market environment of 2002,
FICC helped its clients manage a
variety of risks, including those related
to commodities, credit, currencies,
interest rates and liquidity.
FICC teams worked tirelessly to
assist clients in their efforts to
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effectively hedge their risk exposures
by creating customized derivativebased and other structured solutions.
In addition, FICC maintained its
commitment to being an active
market-maker in a broad variety of
products, thus providing market
liquidity and facilitating client trades.
These activities demonstrated that,
even in the most volatile of times,

our clients can look to us to meet
their varied needs.
FICC’s commitment to its clients
drove record net revenues and
strong performances across many
of its businesses.

HONG KONG

LONDON

NEW YORK
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GOLDMAN SACHS ASSET MANAGEMENT — GLOBAL INVESTMENT RESOURCES

Goldman Sachs Asset Management’s
clients faced many concerns as
equities markets declined for the third
straight year. Challenges included
pension funding status, asset
allocation, expected future returns
and market uncertainty. For many
investors, the issues were global.
Goldman Sachs Asset Management

TOKYO

PRINCETON
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leveraged its worldwide team of
investment professionals to provide
portfolio management expertise,
timely investment research, detailed
portfolio analytics and risk management resources to help our clients
address their concerns.
This level of client commitment
contributed both to significant

LONDON

mandates from new clients and to
additional assets from certain existing
clients. As a result, despite significant
market depreciation, Goldman Sachs
ended the year with approximately the
same level of assets under management as the prior year, at $348 billion.

EQUITIES — DEEPENING CLIENT RELATIONSHIPS

While Goldman Sachs’ equities
businesses could not escape the
difficult market conditions that were
pervasive in 2002, we continued to
benefit from the scale and efficiency
of our global equities businesses,
and the success of our focused
effort to deepen client relationships.
We view both — our unique client
franchise, and the size of our

business — as critical to our leadership in equities going forward.
Last year, there were a number of
large convertible transactions and
rights offerings, privatization success
stories and significant block trades.
We entered new markets, created
new products and continued to
enhance our service to the whole
array of institutional clients, executing

transactions for them in products that
had not been available 12 months
before. And as we and our clients
learn to operate in this environment,
we gain insight into how best to serve
our clients in the years to come.
These experiences will carve the path
to even stronger relationships and
continued opportunities in the future.

HONG KONG

NEW YORK

LONDON

NEW YORK RESEARCH
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Our Core Businesses
Goldman Sachs is a leading global investment banking, securities and
investment management firm that provides a wide range of services worldwide
to a substantial and diversified client base that includes corporations, financial
institutions, governments and high-net-worth individuals.

$5,371

$3,836

$2,830

INVESTMENT BANKING

2000

2001

2002

Investment Banking
Net Revenues

Our current structure, which is organized by regional, industry and
product groups, seeks to combine client-focused investment bankers
with execution and industry expertise.
Our investment banking activities are divided into two categories:
Financial Advisory and Underwriting.

(in millions)

$1,499

$2,070

$2,592

Financial Advisory

Financial Advisory includes advisory assignments with respect to
mergers and acquisitions, divestitures, corporate defense activities,
restructurings and spin-offs.
Underwriting

2000

2001

2002

Financial Advisory
Net Revenues

2000

2001

$1,331

$1,766

$2,779

(in millions)

2002

Underwriting
Net Revenues
(in millions)
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Underwriting includes public offerings and private placements
of equity and debt securities.

Our Core Businesses

Our Trading and Principal Investments activities are divided into
three categories: Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities, Equities
and Principal Investments.

$6,349

$5,249

Our Trading and Principal Investments business facilitates customer
transactions and takes proprietary positions through market making
in, and trading of, fixed income and equity products, currencies,
commodities, and swaps and other derivatives. In addition, we engage
in floor-based and electronic market making as a specialist on U.S.
equities and options exchanges.

$6,627

TRADING AND PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS

2000

2001

2002

Trading and
Principal Investments
Net Revenues
(in millions)

$4,047

$4,470

2000

2001

2002

FICC
Net Revenues
(in millions)

$1,008

$2,923

$3,489

FICC makes markets in and trades interest rate and credit products,
currencies and commodities, structures and enters into a wide
variety of derivative transactions, and engages in proprietary
trading. FICC’s principal products are: commodities and commodity
derivatives; credit products, including investment-grade corporate
securities, high-yield securities, bank loans, municipal securities,
credit derivatives and emerging market debt; currencies and currency
derivatives; interest rate products, including interest rate derivatives
and global government securities; money market instruments; and
mortgage-backed securities and loans.

$3,004

Fixed Income, Currency and Commodities (FICC)

Equities

Principal Investments

Principal Investments primarily represents net revenues from our
merchant banking investments. We make principal investments
directly and through funds that we raise and manage.

2000

2001

2002

Equities
Net Revenues
(in millions)

-$621

-$229

$134

Equities makes markets in, acts as a specialist for, and trades equities
and equity-related products, structures and enters into equity
derivative transactions, and engages in proprietary trading. As an
agent and market maker, we facilitate customer transactions, often
by committing capital, to provide liquidity to clients with large
blocks of stocks or options.

2000

2001

2002

Principal Investments
Net Revenues
(in millions)
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Our Core Businesses

$4,592

$5,626

$5,907

ASSET MANAGEMENT AND SECURITIES SERVICES

2000

2001

2002

Asset Management
and Securities Services
Net Revenues

$1,345

$1,473

$1,653

(in millions)

2000

2001

2002

Asset Management
Net Revenues

$940

$1,133

$981

(in millions)

2000

2001

2002

Our Asset Management and Securities Services segment is
divided into three categories: Asset Management, Securities Services
and Commissions.
Asset Management

Asset Management generates management fees by providing
investment advisory services to a diverse client base of institutions
and individuals. Assets under management include our mutual
funds, separate accounts managed for institutional and individual
investors, our merchant banking funds and other alternative
investment funds.
Securities Services

Securities Services includes prime brokerage, financing services
and securities lending, and our matched book businesses, all of
which generate revenues primarily in the form of interest rate
spreads or fees.
Commissions

Securities Services
Net Revenues

$3,273

2000

$3,020

$2,307

(in millions)

2001

2002

Commissions
Net Revenues
(in millions)
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Commissions includes fees from executing and clearing client
transactions on major stock, options and futures markets worldwide. Commissions also includes revenues from the increased share
of the income and gains derived from our merchant banking funds
when the return on a fund’s investments exceeds certain threshold
returns (typically referred to as an “override”).
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Goldman Sachs is a leading global investment banking,
securities and investment management firm that provides a wide range of services worldwide to a substantial and diversified client base that includes
corporations, financial institutions, governments and
high-net-worth individuals.

others, that could cause our results to differ, possibly
materially, from those indicated in the forward-looking
statements are discussed below under “—Results of
Operations—Certain Factors That May Affect Our
Results of Operations.”

Our activities are divided into three segments:

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

• investment banking – This segment comprises

Financial Advisory and Underwriting;
• trading and principal investments – This seg-

ment comprises Fixed Income, Currency and
Commodities (FICC), Equities and Principal
Investments (Principal Investments primarily represents net revenues from our merchant banking
investments); and
• asset management and securities services – This

segment comprises Asset Management, Securities
Services and Commissions.
Our Investment Banking and Trading and Principal
Investments activities were previously aggregated into
one reporting segment —Global Capital Markets.
All references to 2002, 2001 and 2000 refer to our fiscal
year ended, or the date, as the context requires,
November 29, 2002, November 30, 2001 and
November 24, 2000, respectively.
When we use the terms “Goldman Sachs,” “we,” “us”
and “our,” we mean The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries.
In this discussion, we have included statements that may
constitute “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the safe harbor provisions of The Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forwardlooking statements are not historical facts but instead
represent only our belief regarding future events, many of
which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and
beyond our control. These statements relate to our future
plans and objectives, among other things. By identifying
these statements for you in this manner, we are alerting
you to the possibility that our actual results may differ,
possibly materially, from the results indicated in these
forward-looking statements. Important factors, among
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The sharp slowdown in the global economy in 2001
proved short lived, but the pace of recovery in 2002 was
modest. An acceleration in U.S. production in early 2002
as inventory liquidation slowed led to a strong increase
in global economic growth in the first quarter, but
momentum eased sharply the following quarter.
Continued weakness in capital spending, combined with
an erosion of corporate and investor confidence and
increased geopolitical risks, was accompanied by significant declines in global equity prices and corporate activity. In addition, the U.S. Congress passed the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in response to concerns
regarding recent corporate scandals and several large
corporate bankruptcies. The provisions of SarbanesOxley, combined with rules and rule proposals (if
adopted) of the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, New York Stock Exchange and Nasdaq,
necessitate significant changes to corporate governance
and public disclosure. In addition, investment banks
have been and continue to be the subject of increased
regulatory scrutiny regarding research and initial public
offering practices. This difficult economic and regulatory
environment, combined with a second consecutive year
of declines in investment banking activity, continued to
provide a challenging business climate for financial institutions. Reflecting this environment, during our fiscal
year, industry-wide completed mergers and acquisitions
declined 49%, industry-wide initial public offerings
declined 17% and industry-wide equity underwriting
volume declined 7%.(1) The fixed income markets, which
generally performed well for a second straight year, were
characterized by a steep yield curve, low interest rates
and significant volatility in credit spreads.

(1)

Source: Thomson Financial Securities Data – December 1, 2001
through November 29, 2002 and November 25, 2000 through
November 30, 2001.
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The U.S. economy recovered gradually from the recession
in 2001. A slowing of inventory liquidation in late 2001
led to a sharp rise in production in early 2002, but underlying growth in demand remained weak. Real gross
domestic product growth in the 2002 calendar year rose
to approximately 2.4%, an increase from 0.3% in 2001
but well below the pace of most recoveries. Corporations
remained cautious and investment continued to decline,
while consumer and housing spending held up relatively
well. Concerns about the quality of corporate earnings
and the extent of the economic recovery prompted further declines in U.S. equity markets. Despite a rebound
near year end, major indices ended the year well below
2001 year-end levels. After cutting overnight interest
rates aggressively during 2001 (25 basis points of which
fell in the first month of our 2002 fiscal year), the U.S.
Federal Reserve left rates unchanged until November
2002, when renewed signs of economic weakness
prompted a 50 basis point cut in the overnight lending
rate. Long-term yields remained low, as evidenced by the
10-year U.S. Treasury yield hitting its lowest level in
40 years in October 2002.

improved and an improvement in other Asian economies
lifted Japanese exports. In addition, consumer spending
held up relatively well, despite falling personal incomes.
The Bank of Japan continued to provide substantial
liquidity by expanding purchases of government bonds
and increasing money market operations, but concerns
lingered as to the state of Japan’s banking system and
budget deficit. Equities markets in Japan rose early in
2002 but fell sharply as the outlook for a sustained
recovery receded.

The European economy remained weak in 2002, with the
German economy showing particular weakness. An initial rise in business confidence in early 2002 did not
translate into a meaningful recovery in activity. Real
gross domestic product growth in Europe for the 2002
calendar year was approximately 1.1%, lower than the
1.6% recorded in 2001. European equity markets
recorded particularly sharp declines through the year.
The European Central Bank and Bank of England left
interest rates unchanged throughout our 2002 fiscal year,
but in response to continued economic weakness, the
European Central Bank lowered interest rates by 50 basis
points shortly after the end of our fiscal year.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In Japan, economic growth accelerated in the first half of
2002, but appears to have decelerated towards the end of
2002. Export demand and industrial production
rebounded quite strongly in the middle of 2002, driving
overall growth rates positive, as global demand

Growth in other Asian economies picked up sharply in
late 2001, reflecting an improvement in technology
demand in the United States and, in some countries, an
increase in domestic spending. Export growth decelerated
later in 2002, leading to renewed pressure on some
economies, but the region generally remained stronger
than other areas. China, in particular, has continued to
record strong growth and its strength has benefited other
regional trading partners. Despite large falls in global
equities markets, most Asian equity markets (outside of
Japan) performed better than those in other regions.

The composition of our net revenues has varied over time
as financial markets and the scope of our operations have
changed. The composition of net revenues can also vary
over the shorter term due to fluctuations in U.S. and
global economic and market conditions. Over the last two
years, we have been operating in a challenging economic
and business environment. Industry-wide declines in the
volume of equity underwritings and mergers and acquisitions have adversely affected the results of our
Underwriting and Financial Advisory businesses, and continued weakness in global equities markets has adversely
affected the results of certain of our Trading and Principal
Investments businesses. In addition, our operating results
have been affected by Goldman Sachs’ combination with
SLK LLC (SLK) in October 2000. As a result, period-toperiod comparisons may not be meaningful.

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT

31

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Financial Overview

The following table sets forth an overview of our financial results:
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
($ IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Net revenues
Pre-tax earnings
Net earnings
Diluted earnings per share
Return on average shareholders’ equity (2)
Return on average tangible shareholders’ equity (3)

2000(1)

2002

2001

$13,986

$15,811

$16,590

3,253

3,696

5,020

2,114

2,310

3,067

4.03

4.26

6.00

11.3%

13.0%

26.9%

15.3%

17.8%

28.9%

(1)

As part of the combination with SLK, a $702 million retention pool of restricted stock units was established for SLK employees. A charge of $290
million ($180 million after taxes) related to restricted stock units for which future service was not required as a condition to the delivery of the underlying shares of common stock was included in our operating results in 2000. Excluding this charge, our diluted earnings per share were $6.35.

(2)

Return on average shareholders’ equity is computed by dividing net earnings by average monthly shareholders’ equity. Return on average shareholders’ equity for 2000 excludes the charge related to our combination with SLK.

(3)

Tangible shareholders’ equity equals total shareholders’ equity less goodwill and identifiable intangible assets. We believe that return on average
tangible shareholders’ equity is a meaningful measure of our financial performance because it reflects the return on the equity deployed in our
businesses. Return on average tangible shareholders’ equity is computed by dividing net earnings by average monthly tangible shareholders’
equity. Return on average tangible shareholders’ equity for 2000 excludes the charge related to our combination with SLK. The following table
sets forth the reconciliation of average shareholders’ equity to average tangible shareholders’ equity:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER

2002

2001

2000

$18,659

$17,704

$12,078

(IN MILLIONS)

Average shareholders’ equity
Less: Average goodwill and identifiable intangible assets
Average tangible shareholders’ equity

4,837

4,727

818

$13,822

$12,977

$11,260

The following table sets forth the net revenues, operating expenses and pre-tax earnings of our segments:
OPERATING RESULTS BY SEGMENT
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

Investment Banking

Net revenues
Operating expenses
Pre-tax earnings

Trading and Principal
Investments

Securities Services

Total

$ 2,830

$ 3,836

$ 5,371

2,454

3,117

3,645

719

$ 1,726

$

376

$

$ 5,249

$ 6,349

$ 6,627

4,273

5,134

4,199

Net revenues

$

976

$ 1,215

$ 2,428

$ 5,907

$ 5,626

$ 4,592

Operating expenses

3,794

3,501

3,008

Pre-tax earnings

$ 2,113

$ 2,125

$ 1,584

Net revenues

$13,986

$15,811

$16,590

10,733

12,115

11,570

$ 3,253

$ 3,696

$ 5,020

Pre-tax earnings

32

2000

Net revenues

Operating expenses (1)

(1)

2001

Operating expenses
Pre-tax earnings

Asset Management and

2002

Includes the following expenses that have not been allocated to our segments: (i) amortization of employee initial public offering awards of
$212 million, $363 million and $428 million for the years ended November 2002, November 2001 and November 2000, respectively, and (ii) nonrecurring
acquisition awards of $290 million related to our combination with SLK for the year ended November 2000.
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Net revenues in our segments include allocations of
interest income and interest expense to specific securities, commodities and other positions in relation to the
cash generated by, or funding requirements of, such
underlying positions. See Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements for further information regarding
our segments.
The cost structures of each of our segments are broadly
similar to that of Goldman Sachs taken as a whole in that
they are primarily influenced by discretionary compensation, headcount and levels of business activity. Our overall compensation and benefits expenses are generally
targeted at 50% (plus or minus a few percentage points)
of consolidated net revenues. A substantial portion of our
compensation expense represents discretionary bonuses.
Compensation expense within our segments reflects,
among other factors, the overall performance of

Goldman Sachs as well as the performance of individual
business units.
Investment Banking

Goldman Sachs provides a broad range of investment
banking services to a diverse group of corporations,
financial institutions, governments and individuals. The
activities of our Investment Banking segment are divided
into two categories:
• financial advisory – Financial Advisory includes

advisory assignments with respect to mergers and
acquisitions, divestitures, corporate defense activities, restructurings and spin-offs; and
• underwriting – Underwriting includes public

offerings and private placements of equity and
debt securities.

The following table sets forth the operating results of our Investment Banking segment:
INVESTMENT BANKING OPERATING RESULTS
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

2000

Financial Advisory
Underwriting

$1,499

$2,070

$2,592

1,331

1,766

2,779

Total net revenues

2,830

3,836

5,371

Operating expenses

2,454

3,117

3,645

$ 376

$ 719

$1,726

Pre-tax earnings
2002 versus 2001

Net revenues in Investment Banking were $2.83 billion
for the year compared with $3.84 billion in 2001. Net revenues in Financial Advisory decreased 28% from the prior
year to $1.50 billion, reflecting a 49% decline in industrywide completed mergers and acquisitions. (1) Net revenues
in our Underwriting business declined 25% to $1.33 billion, primarily reflecting a 17% decline in industry-wide
initial public offerings and a 7% decline in industry-wide
total equity underwriting volume, (1) as well as a decline in
Goldman Sachs’ market share in global debt underwriting. The reduction in Investment Banking net revenues
was primarily due to lower levels of activity across all sectors, particularly communications, media and entertainment, natural resources, high technology and healthcare.
Our investment banking backlog at the end of 2002 was
significantly lower than at the end of 2001. (2)
(1)

Source: Thomson Financial Securities Data – December 1, 2001
through November 29, 2002 and November 25, 2000 through
November 30, 2001.

(2)

Our investment banking backlog represents an estimate of our
future net revenues from investment banking transactions where we
believe that future revenue realization is more probable than not.

Operating expenses decreased 21%, primarily due to
decreased compensation and benefits expenses, reflecting
lower discretionary compensation and lower employment levels. Market development and communications
and technology expenses also decreased, reflecting the
continued impact of expense reduction initiatives first
implemented in 2001, reduced employment levels and
lower levels of business activity. For a further discussion
of operating expenses and our expense reduction initiatives, see “—Operating Expenses” below. Pre-tax earnings were $376 million in 2002 compared with $719
million in 2001.
2001 versus 2000

Investment Banking generated net revenues of $3.84 billion compared with $5.37 billion for 2000, as the slowdown in global economic growth led to significantly
lower equity valuations and reduced investment banking
activity. Net revenues in Financial Advisory decreased
20% from the prior year to $2.07 billion, primarily
reflecting a 31% decline in industry-wide completed

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT

33

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

mergers and acquisitions.(1) Net revenues in our
Underwriting business declined 36% to $1.77 billion,
primarily reflecting a 53% decline in industry-wide
equity underwriting volumes.(1) Debt underwriting net
revenues were essentially unchanged from 2000. The
reduction in Investment Banking net revenues was primarily due to lower levels of activity in the communications, media and entertainment, telecommunications,
high technology and industrial sectors. Our investment
banking backlog at the end of 2001 was significantly
lower than at the end of 2000. (2)
Operating expenses decreased 14%, primarily due to
decreased compensation and benefits expenses as lower
discretionary compensation more than offset the impact
of the growth in employment levels in 2000. Pre-tax earnings were $719 million in 2001 compared with $1.73 billion in 2000.
Trading and Principal Investments

Our Trading and Principal Investments business facilitates customer transactions with a diverse group of
corporations, financial institutions, governments and
individuals and takes proprietary positions through
market making in, and trading of, fixed income and
equity products, currencies, commodities, and swaps
and other derivatives. In addition, we engage in floorbased and electronic market making as a specialist on
U.S. equities and options exchanges. The activities of
our Trading and Principal Investments segment are
divided into three categories:
• ficc – We make markets in and trade interest rate

and credit products, currencies and commodities,
structure and enter into a wide variety of derivative
transactions, and engage in proprietary trading;
• equities – We make markets in, act as a specialist

structure and enter into equity derivative transactions, and engage in proprietary trading; and
• principal investments – Principal Investments

primarily represents net revenues from our merchant banking investments.
Substantially all of our inventory is marked-to-market
daily and, therefore, its value and our net revenues are
subject to fluctuations based on market movements. In
addition, net revenues derived from our principal investments in privately held concerns and in real estate may
fluctuate significantly depending on the revaluation or
sale of these investments in any given period. We also regularly enter into large transactions as part of our trading
businesses. The number and size of such transactions may
affect our results of operations in a given period.
In January 2002, we began to implement a new fee-based
pricing structure in our Nasdaq trading business.
Previously we did not charge explicit fees in this business
but rather earned market-making revenues based generally on the difference between bid and ask prices. Such
market-making net revenues are reported in our Equities
trading results. As a result of the change to the fee-based
pricing structure, a substantial portion of our Nasdaq net
revenues is reported in Commissions below and in “Asset
management and securities services” in the consolidated
statements of earnings.
Net revenues from Principal Investments do not include
management fees and the increased share of the income
and gains from our merchant banking funds (merchant
banking overrides) to which we are entitled when the
return on investments exceeds certain threshold returns to
fund investors. These management fees and increased
shares of income and gains are included in the net revenues
of the Asset Management and Securities Services segment.

for, and trade equities and equity-related products,
The following table sets forth the operating results of our Trading and Principal Investments segment:
TRADING AND PRNCIPAL INVESTMENTS OPERATING RESULTS
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

FICC
Equities
Principal Investments
Total net revenues
Operating expenses
Pre-tax earnings

34

2002

2001

2000

$4,470

$4,047

$3,004

1,008

2,923

3,489

(621)

134

5,249

6,349

6,627

4,273

5,134

4,199

$ 976

$1,215

$2,428

(229)

(1)

Source: Thomson Financial Securities Data – November 25, 2000 through November 30, 2001 and November 27, 1999 through November 24, 2000.

(2)

Our investment banking backlog represents an estimate of our future net revenues from investment banking transactions where we believe that
future revenue realization is more probable than not.
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2002 versus 2001

Net revenues in Trading and Principal Investments were
$5.25 billion for the year compared with $6.35 billion in
2001. FICC net revenues of $4.47 billion increased 10%
compared with 2001, reflecting strong performances in
our currencies, mortgages, fixed income derivatives, and
investment-grade credit businesses, partially offset by
decreased net revenues in commodities and leveraged
finance. Net revenues in Equities were $1.01 billion compared with $2.92 billion for 2001, primarily reflecting
lower net revenues in our global shares businesses, which
were affected by the continued weakness in the equities
markets, the transfer of the Nasdaq fee-based business
into Commissions and the negative effect of a single
block trade in the first quarter of 2002. In addition, net
revenues in equity derivatives and equity arbitrage were
lower than the prior year. Principal Investments recorded
negative net revenues of $229 million, primarily due to
declines in the value of certain investments in the high
technology and telecommunications sectors, partially offset by real estate and energy sector disposition gains.
Operating expenses decreased 17%, primarily due to
decreased compensation and benefits expenses, the
transfer of the Nasdaq fee-based business to
Commissions and the elimination of goodwill amortization. Communications and technology and market
development expenses also decreased in 2002, reflecting
the continued impact of expense reduction initiatives
first implemented in 2001, reduced employment levels
and lower levels of business activity. For a further discussion of operating expenses and our expense reduction
initiatives, see “—Operating Expenses” below. Pre-tax
earnings were $976 million in 2002 compared with
$1.22 billion in 2001.
2001 versus 2000

Net revenues in Trading and Principal Investments were
$6.35 billion for 2001 compared with $6.63 billion in
2000, as negative net revenues in Principal Investments
and declines in Equities were partially offset by higher net
revenues in FICC. Net revenues in FICC were $4.05 billion, up 35% compared with 2000, as we capitalized on
lower interest rates, increased volatility and strong customer demand. This increase in net revenues was driven
by strong performances in commodities, currencies, our
credit-sensitive businesses (which include high-yield debt,
bank loans and investment-grade corporate debt) and
fixed income derivatives. Equities net revenues were

$2.92 billion compared with $3.49 billion in 2000,
primarily reflecting declining volatility and customer
flow, the introduction of decimalization and lower net
revenues in equity arbitrage, partially offset by the contribution from SLK. Principal Investments experienced
negative net revenues of $621 million for 2001 due to
mark-to-market losses on both private and public investments, primarily in the high technology and telecommunications sectors.
Operating expenses increased 22%, primarily due to
increased compensation and benefits expenses, higher
brokerage, clearing and exchange fees, higher amortization of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets, and
increased communications and technology, depreciation
and occupancy expenses. These increases were principally due to the inclusion of SLK and the growth in
employment levels in 2000, partially offset by lower discretionary compensation and the effect of expense reduction initiatives implemented in 2001. For a further
discussion of operating expenses and our expense reduction initiatives, see “—Operating Expenses” below. Pretax earnings were $1.22 billion in 2001 compared with
$2.43 billion in 2000.
Asset Management and Securities Services

The components of our Asset Management and Securities
Services segment are set forth below:
• asset management – Asset Management gener-

ates management fees by providing investment
advisory services to a diverse client base of institutions and individuals;
• securities services – Securities Services includes

prime brokerage, financing services and securities
lending, and our matched book businesses, all of
which generate revenues primarily in the form of
interest rate spreads or fees; and
• commissions – Commissions includes fees from

executing and clearing client transactions on major
stock, options and futures markets worldwide.
Commissions also includes revenues from the
increased share of the income and gains derived from
our merchant banking funds when the return on a
fund’s investments exceeds certain threshold returns.
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The following table sets forth the operating results of our Asset Management and Securities Services segment:
ASSET MANAGEMENT AND SECURITIES SERVICES OPERATING RESULTS
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

2000

Asset Management
Securities Services
Commissions

$1,653

$1,473

$1,345

981

1,133

940

3,273

3,020

2,307

Total net revenues
Operating expenses
Pre-tax earnings

5,907

5,626

4,592

3,794

3,501

3,008

$2,113

$2,125

$1,584

Assets under management typically generate fees based
on a percentage of their value and include our mutual
funds, separate accounts managed for institutional and

individual investors, our merchant banking funds and
other alternative investment funds. Substantially all assets
under management are valued as of calendar month end.

The following table sets forth our assets under management by asset class:
ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT BY ASSET CLASS
AS OF NOVEMBER 30
(IN BILLIONS)

2002

2001

2000

Money markets
Fixed income and currency
Equity
Alternative investments (1)

$108

$122

$ 72

96

71

57

86

96

107

58

62

58

Total

$348

$351

$294

(1)

Includes merchant banking, quantitative asset allocation and other similar funds that we manage, as well as funds where we recommend one
or more subadvisors for our clients.

The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in our assets under management:
ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30
(IN BILLIONS)

2002

2001

2000

Balance, beginning of year
Net assets inflows
Net market depreciation

$351

$294

$258

9

67

40

(12)

(10)

(4)

Balance, end of year

$348

$351

$294

2002 versus 2001

Net revenues in Asset Management and Securities
Services were $5.91 billion for the year, 5% higher than
2001. Asset Management net revenues of $1.65 billion
increased 12% compared with last year, primarily reflecting an 8% increase in average assets under management
and increased incentive income. Assets under management were $348 billion at the end of 2002, essentially flat
compared with the end of 2001. Market depreciation of
$12 billion, primarily in equity assets, was partially offset
by net asset inflows of $9 billion, primarily in fixed
income and equity assets. The decline in net asset inflows
compared with 2001 was primarily due to a reduction in
money market net inflows, which were particularly
36
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strong in 2001. Securities Services net revenues were
$981 million compared with $1.13 billion for 2001, primarily reflecting lower net revenues in our margin lending business and fixed income matched book.
Commissions were $3.27 billion, up 8% compared with
2001, primarily due to increased net revenues from
equity commissions, in part due to the transfer of the
Nasdaq fee-based business into Commissions, partially
offset by lower merchant banking overrides (i.e., an
increased share of a fund’s income and gains when the
return on the fund’s investments exceeds certain threshold returns) and reduced clearing fees.
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Operating expenses increased 8%, primarily due to the
transfer of the Nasdaq fee-based business to Commissions, increased compensation and benefits expenses,
higher occupancy expenses, brokerage, clearing and
exchange fees, and depreciation expenses, partially offset
by the elimination of goodwill amortization. For a further discussion of operating expenses, see “—Operating
Expenses” below. Pre-tax earnings in Asset Management
and Securities Services were $2.11 billion in 2002 compared with $2.13 billion in 2001.
2001 versus 2000

Net revenues in Asset Management and Securities Services
were $5.63 billion, an increase of 23% compared with
2000. All major components of the business contributed
to the net revenue growth in 2001. Asset Management net
revenues of $1.47 billion increased 10% compared with
2000, primarily reflecting an increase of 11% in average
assets under management. Net asset inflows of $67 billion, principally in money market assets, were partially
offset by declines in equity asset values due to market

depreciation. Securities Services net revenues of $1.13 billion increased 21% over 2000, primarily due to increased
spreads in our fixed income matched book and the contribution from SLK, partially offset by lower net revenues
in securities lending and margin lending. Commissions
increased 31% compared with 2000 to $3.02 billion,
principally reflecting the contribution from SLK’s clearing
and execution business.
Operating expenses increased 16%, primarily due to
increased compensation and benefits expenses, higher
communications and technology expenses, higher amortization of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets, and
increased brokerage, clearing and exchange fees and
occupancy and depreciation expenses. These increases
were principally due to the inclusion of SLK and the
growth in employment levels in 2000, partially offset by
lower discretionary compensation and the effect of
expense reduction initiatives implemented in 2001. Pretax earnings in Asset Management and Securities Services
were $2.13 billion in 2001 compared with $1.58 billion
in 2000.

Operating Expenses

The following table sets forth our operating expenses and number of employees:
OPERATING EXPENSES AND EMPLOYEES
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
($ IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

2000

Compensation and benefits
Nonrecurring acquisition awards
Amortization of employee initial public offering and
acquisition awards
Non-compensation expenses

$ 6,744

$ 7,700

$ 7,773

—

—

290

293

464

428

3,696

3,951

3,079

Total operating expenses

$10,733

$12,115

$11,570

Employees at year end (1)

19,739

22,677

22,627

(1)

Excludes employees of Goldman Sachs’ property management subsidiaries. Substantially all of the costs of these employees are reimbursed to
Goldman Sachs by the real estate investment funds to which these companies provide property management services.

During 2002, we continued to focus on cost containment
in light of the difficult business environment. We reduced
employment levels and maintained our focus on the
expense reduction initiatives first implemented in 2001.
These initiatives were largely focused on reducing
expenses in areas such as travel and entertainment, advertising, consulting, telecommunications and occupancyrelated services. In addition, we canceled, deferred or
scaled back some of our non-critical capital reinvestment
plans in order to limit growth in our depreciation and
amortization expense. Given the highly discretionary
nature of the expenses impacted by our cost reduction
initiatives, the effect of these initiatives on future operating results will be largely dependent upon the prevailing
business environment.

2002 versus 2001

Operating expenses were $10.73 billion for 2002, 11%
below 2001. Compensation and benefits expenses of
$6.74 billion decreased 12% compared with the prior
year, primarily due to lower discretionary compensation,
reduced employment levels, and lower consultants and
temporary staff expense. The ratio of compensation and
benefits to net revenues for 2002 was 48% compared
with 49% for 2001. Employment levels decreased 13%
from November 2001. Employee equity-based compensation granted for 2002 included roughly equal amounts
of restricted stock units and stock options. See “—Recent
Accounting Developments” below as well as Note 2 and
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for
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further information regarding our stock-based compensation, including our adoption, beginning in fiscal 2003,
of the fair value method of accounting for stock-based
compensation.
Non-compensation-related expenses were $3.70 billion
for 2002, 6% below 2001. Excluding amortization of
goodwill and identifiable intangible assets, these expenses
decreased 3% compared with last year, primarily reflecting lower market development and communications and
technology expenses due to the continued impact of
expense reduction initiatives first implemented in 2001,
reduced employment levels and lower levels of business
activity. These reductions were partially offset by higher
occupancy expenses primarily related to new leases and
one-time costs related to the postponement of construction plans for a smaller facility adjacent to our office
building currently under construction in Jersey City,
New Jersey. Amortization of goodwill and identifiable
intangible assets was lower than in 2001, reflecting the
adoption of the goodwill non-amortization provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.
142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
2001 versus 2000

Operating expenses were $12.12 billion for 2001, 7%
above 2000 excluding the SLK charge of $290 million.
Compensation and benefits of $7.70 billion were essentially unchanged from the prior year as lower discretionary compensation was offset by incremental expense
related to the inclusion of SLK. The ratio of compensation and benefits to net revenues for 2001 was 49% compared with 47% for 2000. Employment levels were
essentially unchanged from November 2000. Substantially all of the equity-based compensation granted
for 2001 was in the form of stock options. See “—Recent
Accounting Developments” below as well as Note 2
and Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for
further information regarding our stock-based compensation.
Non-compensation expenses were $3.95 billion, an
increase of 28% compared with 2000, primarily due to
higher brokerage, clearing and exchange fees, intangible
asset amortization, communications and technology costs
and occupancy and depreciation expenses partially offset
by reduced market development expenses. In addition to
the inclusion of SLK, the increase in our non-compensation
expenses in 2001 was primarily due to growth in employment levels during 2000 partially offset by the effect of
expense reduction initiatives implemented in 2001.
Certain properties occupied by Goldman Sachs were
affected by the terrorist attack of September 11, 2001.
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We recorded expenses related to the attack in 2001,
which were not material and were wholly offset by an
expected insurance recovery. These expenses, and the
related insurance recovery, pertain to write-offs of damaged technology and telecommunications equipment, certain employee-related expenditures and other business
recovery costs.
Provision for Taxes

The effective income tax rate for 2002 was 35.0%, down
from 37.5% in 2001. The decline in the effective income
tax rate compared with 2001 was primarily due to a
change in our geographic earnings mix combined with
ongoing efforts to convert major operating subsidiaries
around the world to corporate form and an increase in
tax-exempt income and domestic tax credits.
The effective tax rate for 2001 was 37.5% compared
with 38.9% in 2000. The decline in the effective tax rate
in 2001 was primarily due to lower state and local taxes.
Our effective tax rate can vary from period to period
depending on, among other factors, the geographic and
business mix of our earnings. These same and other factors, including our history of pre-tax earnings, are taken
into account in assessing our ability to realize our net
deferred tax assets. See Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements for further information regarding
our provision for taxes.
Certain Factors That May Affect
Our Results of Operations

As an investment banking, securities and investment
management firm, our businesses are materially affected
by conditions in the financial markets and economic conditions generally, both in the United States and elsewhere
around the world. In the last year, we have been operating in a very challenging environment: the number and
size of securities underwritings and mergers and acquisition transactions have declined significantly; the equities
markets in the United States and elsewhere have been
volatile and are at levels substantially below their record
highs; investors have exhibited concerns over the
integrity of the U.S. financial markets as a result of
recent, highly publicized financial scandals; and the attention of management of many clients has been diverted
from capital-raising transactions and acquisitions and
dispositions in part as a result of corporate governance
regulations, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and
related uncertainty in capital markets. It is unclear how
long this environment will last, but so long as it does, our
businesses will be adversely affected.
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These types of economic and market conditions have in
the past adversely affected, and may in the future
adversely affect, our business and profitability in many
ways, including the following:
• We generally maintain large trading, specialist and

investment positions. Market fluctuations and
volatility may adversely affect the value of those positions, including our interest rate and credit products,
currency, commodity and equity positions and our
merchant banking investments, or may reduce our
willingness to enter into some new transactions.
• A continuation of the industry-wide declines in the

volume of equity underwritings and mergers and
acquisitions is likely to have a continuing adverse
effect on our revenues and, because we may be
unable to reduce expenses correspondingly, our
profit margins. In particular, because a significant
portion of our investment banking revenues are
derived from our participation in large transactions,
a decrease in the number of large transactions due
to uncertain or unfavorable market conditions may
adversely affect our investment banking business.
• Declines in the volume and number of investment

banking transactions may continue to increase
price competition.
• Reductions in the level of the equities markets also

tend to reduce the value of our clients’ portfolios,
which in turn may reduce the fees we earn for managing assets. Even in the absence of uncertain or
unfavorable economic or market conditions,
investment performance by our asset management
business below the performance of benchmarks or
competitors could result in a decline in assets under
management and therefore in the fees we receive.
• Concentration of risk in the past has increased the

losses that we have incurred in our proprietary
trading, market-making, block trading, merchant
banking, underwriting and lending businesses and
may continue to do so in the future.
• The volume of transactions that we execute for our

customers and as a specialist may decline, which
would reduce the revenues we receive from commissions and spreads. In our specialist businesses,
we are obligated by stock exchange rules to maintain an orderly market, including by purchasing
shares in a declining market. This may result in
trading losses and an increased need for liquidity.
Finally, further weakness in global equities markets
could adversely impact our trading businesses and
impair the value of our goodwill and identifiable
intangible assets.

If any of the variety of instruments and strategies we utilize to hedge or otherwise manage our exposure to various types of risk are not effective, we may incur losses.
Our hedging strategies and other risk management techniques may not be fully effective in mitigating our risk
exposure in all market environments or against all types
of risk.
Liquidity (i.e., ready access to funds) is essential to our
businesses. Our liquidity could be impaired by an inability to access the long-term or short-term debt markets,
an inability to access the repurchase and securities lending markets, or an inability to sell assets. This situation
may arise due to circumstances that we may be unable to
control, such as a general market disruption, perceptions
about our creditworthiness, or an operational problem
that affects third parties or us. Further, our ability to sell
assets may be impaired if other market participants are
seeking to sell similar assets at the same time.
Our credit ratings are important to our liquidity. A
reduction in our credit ratings could adversely affect our
liquidity and competitive position, increase our borrowing costs or trigger our obligations under certain bilateral provisions in some of our trading and collateralized
financing contracts. Under such provisions, counterparties could be permitted to terminate contracts with
Goldman Sachs or require us to post additional collateral. Termination of our trading and collateralized
financing contracts could cause us to sustain losses and
impair our liquidity by requiring us to find other sources
of financing or to make significant cash payments or
securities movements.
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (Group Inc.) is a holding company and, therefore, it depends on dividends,
distributions and other payments from its subsidiaries to
fund dividend payments and to fund all payments on its
obligations, including debt obligations. Many of our
subsidiaries, including Goldman, Sachs & Co., are subject to laws that authorize regulatory bodies to block or
reduce the flow of funds from those subsidiaries to
Group Inc. Regulatory action of that kind could impede
access to funds that Group Inc. needs to make payments
on obligations, including debt obligations, or dividend
payments.
We are exposed to the risk that third parties that owe us
money, securities or other assets will not perform their
obligations. These parties may default on their obligations to us due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. The amount and duration
of our credit exposures have been increasing over the
past several years, as has the breadth of the entities to
which we have such exposure. As a clearing member
firm, we finance our customer positions and we could be
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held responsible for the defaults or misconduct of our
customers. In addition, we have experienced, due to competitive factors, pressure to extend credit and price more
aggressively the credit risks we take. In particular, corporate clients sometimes seek to require credit commitments
from us in connection with investment banking assignments. Although we regularly review credit exposures to
specific clients and counterparties and to specific industries, countries and regions that we believe may present
credit concerns, default risk may arise from events or circumstances that are difficult to detect or foresee. In addition, concerns about, or a default by, one institution
could lead to significant liquidity problems, losses or
defaults by other institutions, which in turn could
adversely affect Goldman Sachs.
Our ability to conduct business may be adversely
impacted by a disruption in the infrastructure that supports our businesses and the communities in which they
are located. This may include a disruption involving
electrical, communications, transportation or other services used by Goldman Sachs or third parties with which
we conduct business.
Substantial legal liability or a significant regulatory
action against Goldman Sachs could have a material
adverse financial effect or cause significant reputational
harm to Goldman Sachs, which in turn could seriously
harm our business prospects. We face significant legal
risks in our businesses, and the volume of claims and
amount of damages claimed in litigation against financial intermediaries are increasing. Our experience has
been that legal claims by customers and clients increase
in a market downturn. In addition, employment related
claims typically increase in periods when we have
reduced the total number of employees.
For additional important factors that may affect our
results of operations, see “Business—Certain Factors
That May Affect Our Business” in our Form 10-K for
our fiscal year ended November 29, 2002.
GEOGRAPHIC DATA

For a summary of the net revenues, pre-tax earnings and
identifiable assets of Goldman Sachs by geographic region,
see Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
CASH FLOWS

Our cash flows are primarily related to the operating and
financing activities undertaken in connection with our
trading and market-making businesses. We have reclassified net cash flows from “Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, net of agreements to resell” as
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operating activities, because secured funding is an
integral aspect of our day-to-day operations. Previously,
these cash flows were reported as financing activities.
year ended november 2002

Cash and cash equivalents decreased to $4.82 billion in
2002. Cash of $10.08 billion was used for operating
activities, primarily reflecting an increase in financial
instruments owned, partially offset by an increase in
financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased. Cash of
$1.10 billion was used for investing activities, primarily
for leasehold improvements and the purchase of telecommunications and technology-related equipment. Cash of
$9.09 billion was provided by financing activities, reflecting proceeds from the issuances of long-term and net
short-term borrowings, partially offset by repayments of
long-term borrowings (including the current portion of
long-term borrowings) and common stock repurchases.
year ended november 2001

Cash and cash equivalents increased to $6.91 billion in
2001. Cash of $2.87 billion was provided by operating
activities. Cash of $1.91 billion was used for investing
activities, primarily for leasehold improvements and the
purchase of telecommunications and technology-related
equipment. Cash of $2.08 billion was provided by
financing activities, reflecting proceeds from the issuances
of long-term and net short-term borrowings, partially
offset by repayments of long-term borrowings (including
the current portion of long-term borrowings) and common stock repurchases.
year ended november 2000

Cash and cash equivalents increased to $3.87 billion in
2000. Operating activities provided cash of $1.61 billion.
Cash of $3.66 billion was used for investing activities,
primarily for our combination with SLK and purchases
of technology-related equipment. Cash of $2.86 billion
was provided by financing activities as proceeds from the
issuances of long-term borrowings were partially offset
by repayments of long-term borrowings (including the
current portion of long-term borrowings).
LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity is of critical importance to companies in the
financial services sector. Most failures of financial institutions have occurred in large part due to insufficient
liquidity. Accordingly, Goldman Sachs has in place a
comprehensive set of liquidity and funding policies that
are intended to maintain significant flexibility to address
both firm-specific and broader industry or market
liquidity events. Our principal objective is to be able to
fund Goldman Sachs and to enable our core businesses
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to continue to generate revenue and provide services to
our clients, even under adverse circumstances.
Management has implemented a number of policies that
are designed to achieve this objective. Our liquidity policies are intended to be conservative and, accordingly,
reflect the following general assumptions:
• During a liquidity crisis, credit-sensitive funding,

including unsecured debt and some types of collateralized financing agreements, may be unavailable
and the terms or availability of other types of
secured financing may change.
• Liquidity needs will come in different forms and

may occur simultaneously; therefore, we assume
that the same pool of funds cannot satisfy multiple
liquidity needs.
• Because legal and regulatory requirements can

restrict the flow of funds between entities, unless
legally provided for, we assume funds or securities
are not freely available from a subsidiary to the parent company.
Our liquidity policies are focused on the maintenance
of excess liquidity and conservative asset-liability
management.
Excess Liquidity Policies
maintenance of a pool of highly liquid securities

Our most important liquidity policy is to maintain
excess liquidity in the form of unencumbered, highly
liquid securities. This liquidity is intended to allow us to
meet immediate obligations without needing to sell
other assets or depend on additional funding from
credit-sensitive markets.
Our primary liquidity cushion consists of cash and unencumbered U.S. government and agency securities and
highly liquid mortgage securities that may be sold or
pledged to provide same-day liquidity. This pool of highly
liquid assets averaged $30.06 billion during 2002 and
$24.55 billion during 2001. We also maintain smaller
pools of unencumbered French, German, United
Kingdom and Japanese government bonds that can be
used in a similar fashion to address local market crises.
These pools, in the aggregate, averaged $6.73 billion during 2002.
The size of our liquidity cushion is determined by an internal liquidity model together with a qualitative assessment
of the condition of the financial markets and Goldman
Sachs. The liquidity model identifies and estimates potential uses of liquidity over a short-term horizon, including:

• upcoming maturities of unsecured debt;
• potential buybacks of a portion of our outstanding

negotiable debt;
• collateral outflows, assuming that collateral that

has not been called by counterparties, but is available to them, will be called and all counterparties
that can call collateral through marking transactions to market will do so continually;
• draws on our unfunded commitments; and
• upcoming cash outflows, such as tax or bonus

payments.
In addition to the liquidity risk assumptions described
above, we assume that no assets other than the liquidity
cushion are available to source liquidity and that committed or advised bank facilities will be unavailable.
other unencumbered assets

In addition to the liquidity cushion described above, we
maintain a significant amount of other unencumbered
securities in the United States, Europe and Asia, including
other government bonds, high-grade money market securities, corporate bonds and marginable equities.
maintenance of liquidity ratio

Our policy is to maintain total unencumbered assets,
including our liquidity cushion and other unencumbered
assets described above, in an amount that, if pledged or
sold, is intended to provide the funds necessary to replace
at least 100% of unsecured obligations that are scheduled
to mature (or where holders have the option to redeem)
within the coming year. This “liquidity ratio” of unencumbered assets at loan value divided by short-term unsecured liabilities is intended to ensure that we could fund
our positions on a secured basis in the event we were
unable to replace our unsecured debt maturing within
one year. In calculating this ratio, we assume conservative
loan values (the estimated amount of cash that would be
advanced by counterparties against securities we own)
that are based on stress-scenario borrowing capacity. The
estimated loan value of the aggregate of our liquidity
cushion and the other unencumbered assets averaged
$68.55 billion during 2002.
committed bank facilities

While we assume committed or advised bank facilities
will be unavailable in the event of a liquidity crisis,
Goldman Sachs maintains over $1 billion in undrawn
bank facilities as an additional liquidity resource.
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Asset-Liability Management Policies
maintenance of a highly liquid balance sheet

Goldman Sachs seeks to maintain a highly liquid balance
sheet. Many of our assets are readily funded in the repurchase agreement and securities lending markets, which
generally have proven to be a consistent source of funding, even in periods of market stress. Substantially all of
our inventory is marked-to-market daily.
Our balance sheet fluctuates significantly between financial statement dates and is lower at fiscal year end than
would be observed on an average basis. We require our
businesses to reduce balance sheet usage on a quarterly
basis to demonstrate compliance with limits set by management, thereby providing a disincentive to committing
our capital over longer periods of time. These balance
sheet reductions are generally achieved during the last
several weeks of each fiscal quarter through ordinarycourse, open-market transactions in the most liquid portions of our balance sheet, principally U.S. government
and agency securities, securities of foreign sovereigns, and
mortgage and money market instruments, as well as
through the roll-off of repurchase agreements and certain
collateralized financing arrangements. Accordingly, over
the last six quarters, our total assets and adjusted assets
at quarter end have been, on average, 18% lower and
16% lower, respectively, than amounts that would have
been observed, based on a weekly average, over that
period. These differences, however, have not resulted in
material changes to our credit risk, market risk or excess
liquidity position because they are generally in highly
liquid assets that are typically financed on a secured basis.
funding of assets with longer term liabilities

While Goldman Sachs’ liquidity policies generally do not
rely on sales of assets (other than the liquidity cushions)
to maintain liquidity in a distressed environment, we recognize that orderly asset sales may be prudent, and could
be necessary, in a persistent liquidity crisis. As a result, we
seek to manage the composition of our asset base and the
maturity profile of our funding such that we should be
able to liquidate our assets prior to our liabilities coming
due, even in times of prolonged or severe liquidity stress.
We seek to maintain total capital (long-term borrowings
plus shareholders’ equity) substantially in excess of our
less liquid assets. Our total capital of $57.71 billion and
$49.25 billion as of November 2002 and November
2001, respectively, exceeded the assets that we believe may
be more difficult to fund or sell, particularly during times
of market stress. Such assets include, but are not limited
to, bank loans, high-yield debt securities, emerging market debt securities and principal investments.

42

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT

As of November 2002 and 2001, we held $2.97 billion
and $3.45 billion, respectively, in bank loans, $1.94 billion and $1.78 billion, respectively, in high-yield debt
securities and $0.76 billion and $1.32 billion, respectively, in emerging market debt securities. As of
November 2002 and 2001, the aggregate carrying value
of our principal investments held directly or through our
merchant banking funds was $1.78 billion and $2.85 billion, respectively. These carrying values were comprised
of corporate principal investments with an aggregate carrying value of $1.04 billion and $1.85 billion, respectively, and real estate investments with an aggregate
carrying value of $0.74 billion and $1.00 billion, respectively. In addition, we held other financial assets such as
certain mortgage whole loans, certain mortgage-backed
securities and other distressed assets that could be less
liquid, particularly during times of market stress.
In addition, we had illiquid non-financial assets of
$12.30 billion and $12.01 billion as of November 2002
and November 2001, respectively. These assets, which
are reported as “Other assets” in the consolidated statements of financial condition, include goodwill and identifiable intangible assets, property, plant and equipment,
deferred tax assets, prepaid assets and our equity
method investments.
diversification of funding sources

Goldman Sachs seeks to maintain broad and diversified
funding sources globally. These sources include insurance
companies, mutual funds, banks, bank trust departments,
corporations, individuals and other asset managers. We
have imposed internal guidelines on how much of our
commercial paper can be owned by any single investor or
group of investors. We believe that our relationships with
our creditors are critical to our liquidity.
We access funding in a variety of markets in the United
States, Europe and Asia. We make extensive use of the
repurchase agreement and securities lending markets,
arrange for letters of credit to be issued on our behalf and
raise funding in the public and private markets. In particular, we issue debt through syndicated U.S. registered
offerings, U.S. registered and 144A medium-term notes
programs, offshore medium-term notes offerings and
other bond offerings, U.S. and non-U.S. commercial
paper and promissory note issuances, and other methods.
avoidance of debt maturity concentrations

We seek to structure our liabilities to avoid maturity concentrations. To that end, we have created internal guidelines on the principal amount of debt maturing on any
one day or during any single week or year. We also have
average maturity targets for our long-term and total
unsecured debt programs.
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subsidiary funding and foreign exchange policies

Most of our unsecured funding is raised by our parent
company, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. The parent
company then lends the necessary funds to its subsidiaries. We manage our intercompany exposure by generally requiring intercompany loans to have maturities
equal to or shorter than the maturities of the aggregate
borrowings of the parent company. This policy ensures
that the subsidiaries’ obligations to the parent company
will generally mature in advance of the parent company’s
third-party long-term borrowings. In addition, many of
our subsidiaries and affiliates pledge collateral to cover
their intercompany borrowings. We generally fund our
equity investments in subsidiaries with equity capital.
Our capital invested in foreign subsidiaries is generally
exposed to foreign exchange risk, which we selectively
hedge. In addition, we generally hedge the nontrading
exposure to foreign exchange risk that arises from transactions denominated in currencies other than the transacting entity’s functional currency.

share for repurchased shares was $76.49, $88.22 and
$99.90 for the years ended November 2002, November
2001 and November 2000, respectively.
The following table sets forth information on our
assets, shareholders’ equity, leverage ratios and book
value per share:
AS OF NOVEMBER
($ IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Total assets
Adjusted assets (1)
Shareholders’ equity
Tangible shareholders’ equity (2)
Leverage ratio (3)
Adjusted leverage ratio (4)
Book value per share (5)
(1)

CAPITAL AND FUNDING

2002

2001

$355,574

$312,218

215,547

194,518

19,003

18,231

14,164

13,423

18.7x

17.1x

15.2x
$

38.69

14.5x
$

36.33

Adjusted assets excludes (i) low-risk collateralized assets generally
associated with our matched book and securities lending businesses
(which we calculate by adding our securities purchased under agreements to resell and securities borrowed, and then subtracting our
nonderivative short positions), (ii) cash and securities we segregate
in compliance with regulations and (iii) goodwill and identifiable
intangible assets. The following table sets forth a reconciliation of
total assets to adjusted assets:

Capital

AS OF NOVEMBER

Our capital requirements are determined by factors such
as subsidiary regulatory requirements, rating agency
guidelines, our capital policies regarding asset composition, leverage and risk of loss, business opportunities, and
capital availability and cost. Goldman Sachs’ total capital
increased 17% to $57.71 billion as of November 2002
compared with $49.25 billion as of November 2001.

(IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

Total assets

$ 355,574

$ 312,218

Deduct: Securities purchased under
agreements to resell
Securities borrowed
Add:

(45,772)

(27,651)

(113,579)

(101,164)

44,552

38,057

(20,389)

(22,134)

Financial instruments sold, but
not purchased, at fair value
(excluding derivatives)

Deduct: Cash and securities segregated

The increase in total capital resulted primarily from an
increase in long-term borrowings to $38.71 billion as of
November 2002 from $31.02 billion as of November
2001. The weighted average maturity of our long-term
borrowings as of November 2002 was approximately
5 years. We swap a substantial portion of our long-term
borrowings into U.S. dollar obligations with short-term
floating interest rates in order to minimize our exposure
to interest rates and foreign exchange movements.
Shareholders’ equity increased by 4% to $19.00 billion as
of November 2002 from $18.23 billion as of November
2001. During 2002, we repurchased 19.4 million shares
of our common stock. The principal purpose of our stock
repurchase program is to substantially offset the dilutive
effect of employee equity-based compensation. The
repurchase program has been effected through regular
open-market purchases, the sizes of which have been and
will be influenced by, among other factors, prevailing
prices and market conditions. As of November 2002, we
were authorized to repurchase up to 19.3 million additional shares of common stock pursuant to our common
stock repurchase program. The average price paid per

in compliance with U.S.
federal and other regulations
Goodwill and identifiable
intangible assets
Adjusted assets
(2)

(4,839)
$ 215,547

(4,808)
$ 194,518

Tangible shareholders’ equity equals total shareholders’ equity less
goodwill and identifiable intangible assets. The following table sets
forth a reconciliation of shareholders’ equity to tangible shareholders’ equity:
AS OF NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

Shareholders’ equity

2002

2001

$19,003

$18,231

Deduct: Goodwill and identifiable
intangible assets
Tangible shareholders’ equity

4,839

4,808

$14,164

$13,423

(3)

Leverage ratio equals total assets divided by shareholders’ equity.

(4)

Adjusted leverage ratio equals adjusted assets divided by tangible
shareholders’ equity. We believe that the adjusted leverage ratio is a
more meaningful measure of our capital adequacy because it
excludes certain low-risk collateralized assets that are generally
supported with little or no capital and reflects the tangible equity
deployed in our businesses.

(5)

Book value per share is based on common shares outstanding,
including restricted stock units granted to employees with no future
service requirements, of 491.2 million as of November 2002 and
501.8 million as of November 2001.
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Short-Term Borrowings

Goldman Sachs obtains unsecured short-term borrowings principally through issuance of promissory notes,
commercial paper and bank loans. Short-term borrowings also include the portion of long-term borrowings
maturing within one year.
The following table sets forth our short-term borrowings:
SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
AS OF NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

Promissory notes
Commercial paper
Bank loans and other
Current portion of
long-term borrowings

$20,433

$15,281

9,463

8,353

4,948

6,794

5,794

7,169

Total

$40,638

$37,597

Our liquidity depends to an important degree on our
ability to refinance these borrowings on a continuous
basis. Investors who hold our outstanding promissory
notes and commercial paper have no obligation to purchase new instruments when the outstanding instruments mature. As part of our overall liquidity policies,
we maintain unencumbered assets in an amount that, if
pledged or sold, would provide the funds necessary to
replace unsecured obligations that are scheduled to
mature (or where holders have the option to redeem)
within the coming year. For a discussion of factors that
could impair our ability to access these and other markets, see “—Results of Operations—Certain Factors
That May Affect Our Results of Operations.” See
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding our short-term borrowings.
Credit Ratings

Goldman Sachs relies upon the short-term and long-term
debt capital markets to fund a significant portion of its
day-to-day operations. The cost and availability of debt
financing is influenced by our credit ratings. Credit ratings are important when we are competing in certain
markets and when we seek to engage in longer term
transactions, including over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives. We believe our credit ratings are determined primarily based on the credit rating agencies’ assessment of the
external operating environment, our liquidity, market
and credit risk management practices, the level and variability of our earnings, our franchise, reputation and
management and our capital base. An adverse change in
any of these factors could result in a reduction in our
credit ratings which, in turn, could increase our borrowing costs and limit our access to the capital markets or
require us to post additional collateral and permit counterparties to terminate transactions, pursuant to our obli44
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gations under bilateral provisions in certain of our trading and collateralized financing contracts. This could
reduce our earnings and adversely affect our liquidity.
As of November 2002, additional collateral that would
have been callable in the event of a one level reduction in
our long-term credit ratings, pursuant to bilateral agreements with certain counterparties, was not material.
The following table sets forth our credit ratings as of
November 2002:

Fitch (1)
Moody’s Investors Service (2)
Standard & Poor’s (3)

SHORT-TERM
DEBT

LONG-TERM
DEBT

F1+
P-1
A-1

AAAa3
A+

(1)

On May 17, 2002, Fitch affirmed Goldman Sachs’ credit ratings but
revised its outlook for the long-term debt rating from “stable” to
“negative.”

(2)

On August 9, 2002, Moody’s Investors Service upgraded Goldman
Sachs’ long-term debt rating from A1 to Aa3.

(3)

On October 17, 2002, Standard & Poor’s lowered Goldman Sachs’
short-term debt rating from A-1+ to A-1. Standard & Poor’s affirmed
our long-term debt rating of A+ and revised its outlook for the longterm debt rating from “negative” to “stable.”

Management Oversight of Liquidity, Capital
and Funding

Goldman Sachs has established management and infrastructure to oversee our liquidity, capital and funding.
The Finance Committee establishes and assures compliance with our liquidity policies and has oversight responsibility for liquidity risk, the size and composition of our
balance sheet, our capital base and our credit ratings. The
Committee regularly reviews our funding position and
capitalization and makes adjustments in light of current
events, risks and exposures. See “—Risk Management—
Risk Management Structure” below for a further description of the committees that participate in our risk
management process.
Goldman Sachs maintains a Liquidity Crisis Plan that
identifies a structure for analyzing and responding to a
liquidity-threatening event. The Liquidity Crisis Plan provides the framework to estimate the likely impact of a
liquidity event on Goldman Sachs and outlines which and
to what extent liquidity maintenance activities should be
implemented based on the severity of the event. It also
lists the crisis management team and internal and external parties to be contacted to ensure effective distribution
of information.
Contractual Obligations and Contingent Commitments

Goldman Sachs has contractual obligations to make future
payments under long-term debt and long-term noncancelable lease agreements and has contingent commitments
under a variety of commercial arrangements as disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as of November 2002:
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

(IN MILLIONS)

Long-term borrowings by contract maturity
Minimum rental commitments

2003

2004-2005

2006-2007

2008THEREAFTER

TOTAL

$ —

$15,909

$4,642

$18,160

$38,711

350

620

505

1,827

3,302

As of November 2002, our long-term borrowings were
$38.71 billion. Substantially all of our long-term borrowings were unsecured and consisted principally of senior borrowings with maturities extending through 2032.
See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements for
further information regarding our long-term borrowings.
As of November 2002, our minimum rental commitments, net of minimum sublease rentals, under noncancelable leases were $3.30 billion. These lease
commitments, principally for office space, expire on various dates through 2029. Certain agreements are subject
to periodic escalation provisions for increases in real
estate taxes and other charges.

Our occupancy expenses include costs associated with
office space held in excess of our current requirements,
primarily due to the impact of the levels of current business activity on our previously anticipated growth in
headcount. This excess space is being held for potential
future growth. We continually review our space requirements and may, from time to time, reduce capacity
through the use of sublease contracts or early termination
agreements. We may incur costs in connection with such
reductions in our global office space. Where we have
unoccupied space that we may occupy in the future, we
will continue to charge the underlying operating costs to
earnings as incurred.

The following table sets forth our contingent commitments as of November 2002:
CONTINGENT COMMITMENTS
AMOUNT OF COMMITMENT EXPIRATION BY PERIOD

2003

2004-2005

2006-2007

2008THEREAFTER

TOTAL

Commitments to extend credit
Commitments under letters of credit issued
by banks to counterparties
Other commercial commitments (1)

$ 6,126

$1,224

$1,089

$ 975

$ 9,414

11,607

15

10

—

11,632

572

832

1

493

1,898

Total

$18,305

$2,071

$1,100

$1,468

$22,944

(IN MILLIONS)

(1)

Includes our merchant banking commitments and guarantees related to construction-related obligations and our fund management activities.

As of November 2002, we had commitments to enter
into forward secured financing transactions, including
certain repurchase and resale agreements and secured
borrowing and lending arrangements, of $40.04 billion.

See Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements
for further information regarding our commitments and
contingencies.
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REGULATED SUBSIDIARIES

Many of our principal subsidiaries are subject to extensive regulation in the United States and elsewhere.
Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Spear, Leeds & Kellogg, L.P.
are registered U.S. broker-dealers and futures commissions merchants, and their primary regulators include the
Securities and Exchange Commission, the Commodity
Futures Trading Commission, the Chicago Board of
Trade, the New York Stock Exchange and The National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Goldman Sachs
International, a registered U.K. broker-dealer, is subject to
regulation by The Financial Services Authority. Goldman
Sachs (Japan) Ltd., a Tokyo-based broker-dealer, is subject to regulation by the Financial Services Agency, the
Tokyo Stock Exchange, the Osaka Securities Exchange,
the Tokyo International Financial Futures Exchange and
the Japan Securities Dealers Association. Several other
subsidiaries of Goldman Sachs are regulated by securities,
investment advisory, banking, and other regulators and
authorities around the world, such as the Federal Financial
Supervisory Authority (BaFin) and the Bundesbank in
Germany, the Securities and Futures Commission in
Hong Kong and the Monetary Authority of Singapore.
Compliance with the rules of these regulators may prevent us from receiving distributions, advances or repayment of liabilities from these subsidiaries. See Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding our regulated subsidiaries.

to customers and counterparties, an inability to engage in
new transactions and increases in general systemic risk.
Goldman Sachs has established risk control procedures at
several levels throughout the organization. Trading desk
managers have the first line of responsibility for managing risk within prescribed limits. These managers have indepth knowledge of the primary sources of risk in their
individual markets and the instruments available to
hedge our exposures.
In addition, a number of committees are responsible for
establishing trading limits, for monitoring adherence to
these limits and for general oversight of our risk management process. These committees, whose responsibilities
as of 2003 are described below, meet regularly and consist of senior members of both our revenue-producing
units and departments that are independent of our
revenue-producing units.
management committee – All risk control functions

ultimately report to the Management Committee.
Through both direct and delegated authority, the
Management Committee approves all of Goldman Sachs’
operating activities, trading risk parameters and customer
review guidelines.
risk committees – The Firmwide Risk Committee:
• reviews the activities of existing businesses;
• approves new businesses and products;

RISK MANAGEMENT

Goldman Sachs has a comprehensive risk management
process to monitor, evaluate and manage the principal
risks assumed in conducting its activities. These risks
include market, credit, liquidity, legal, reputational and
other operational exposures.

• approves divisional market risk limits and reviews

business unit market risk limits;
• approves inventory position limits for selected

country exposures and business units;
• approves sovereign credit risk limits and credit risk

limits by ratings group; and
Risk Management Structure

Goldman Sachs seeks to monitor and control its risk
exposure through a variety of separate but complementary financial, credit, operational and legal reporting systems. We believe that we have effective procedures for
evaluating and managing the market, credit and other
risks to which we are exposed. Nonetheless, the effectiveness of our policies and procedures for managing risk
exposure can never be completely or accurately predicted
or fully assured. For example, unexpectedly large or
rapid movements or disruptions in one or more markets
or other unforeseen developments can have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial
condition. The consequences of these developments can
include losses due to adverse changes in inventory values,
decreases in the liquidity of trading positions, higher
volatility in our earnings, increases in our credit exposure
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• reviews scenario analyses and approves limits based

on abnormal or “catastrophic” market movements.
The FICC and Equities Risk Committees set market risk
limits for their respective product lines based on a number of measures including Value at Risk (VaR), scenario
analyses and inventory levels. The Asset Management
Control Oversight and the Asset Management Risk
Committees oversee various operational, credit, pricing
and business practice issues.
global compliance and control committee – The
Global Compliance and Control Committee assists management in the identification and review of certain compliance, reputational and other operational risks and in
the development of policies and communication and
training programs designed to mitigate these risks.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

capital committee – The Capital Committee reviews

Risk Limits

and approves all transactions involving commitments of
our capital. Such capital commitments include extensions
of credit, liquidity commitments, bond underwritings,
and other unusual financing structures and transactions
that involve significant capital exposure. The Capital
Committee is also responsible for ensuring that business
and reputational standards for capital commitments are
maintained on a global basis.

Business unit risk limits are established by the various
risk committees and may be further allocated by the business unit managers to individual trading desks.

commitments committee – The Commitments Com-

mittee reviews and approves our underwriting and distribution activities and sets and maintains policies and
procedures designed to ensure that legal, reputational,
regulatory, and business standards are maintained in conjunction with these activities. In addition to reviewing
specific transactions, the Commitments Committee periodically conducts strategic reviews of industry sectors
and products and establishes policies in connection with
transaction practices.
credit policy committee – The Credit Policy
Committee establishes and reviews broad credit policies
and parameters that are implemented by the Credit
Department.
operational risk committee – The Operational Risk

Committee provides oversight of the ongoing development and implementation of our operational risk policies, framework and methodologies, and monitors the
effectiveness of operational risk management.
finance committee – The Finance Committee is respon-

sible for oversight of our capital, liquidity and funding
needs and for setting certain inventory position limits.
Segregation of duties and management oversight are fundamental elements of our risk management process. In
addition to the committees described above, departments
that are independent of the revenue-producing units, such
as the Firmwide Risk, Credit, Controllers, Treasury,
Global Operations, Compliance, Management Controls
(Internal Audit) and Legal departments, in part perform
risk management functions, which include monitoring,
analyzing and evaluating risk. Furthermore, the
Controllers Department, in conjunction with the
Firmwide Risk Department, independently reviews, on a
regular basis, internal valuation models and the pricing of
positions determined by individual business units.

Market risk limits are monitored on a daily basis by the
Firmwide Risk Department, and are reviewed regularly
by the appropriate risk committee. Limit violations are
reported to the appropriate risk committee and the
appropriate business unit managers.
Inventory position limits are monitored by the
Controllers Department and position limit violations are
reported to the appropriate business unit managers, the
Finance Committee and the appropriate risk committee.
Market Risk

The potential for changes in the market value of our trading positions is referred to as “market risk.” Our trading
positions result from underwriting, market-making, specialist and proprietary trading activities.
Categories of market risk include exposures to interest
rates, equity prices, currency rates and commodity
prices. A description of each market risk category is set
forth below:
• Interest rate risks primarily result from exposures to

changes in the level, slope and curvature of the yield
curve, the volatility of interest rates, mortgage prepayment speeds and credit spreads.
• Equity price risks result from exposures to changes

in prices and volatilities of individual equities,
equity baskets and equity indices.
• Currency rate risks result from exposures to

changes in spot prices, forward prices and volatilities of currency rates.
• Commodity price risks result from exposures to

changes in spot prices, forward prices and volatilities of commodities, such as electricity, natural gas,
crude oil, petroleum products, and precious and
base metals.
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We seek to manage these risk exposures through diversifying exposures, controlling position sizes and establishing hedges in related securities or derivatives. For
example, we may hedge a portfolio of common stock by
taking an offsetting position in a related equity-index
futures contract. The ability to manage an exposure may,
however, be limited by adverse changes in the liquidity of
the security or the related hedge instrument and in the
correlation of price movements between the security and
related hedge instrument.
In addition to applying business judgment, senior management uses a number of quantitative tools to manage
our exposure to market risk. These tools include:
• risk limits based on a summary measure of market

risk exposure referred to as VaR;
• risk limits based on scenario analyses that measure

the potential effects on our trading net revenues of
various market events, including a large widening
of credit spreads, a substantial decline in equities
markets and significant moves in emerging markets; and
• inventory position limits for selected business units

and country exposures.
var— VaR is the potential loss in value of Goldman
Sachs’ trading positions due to adverse market movements over a defined time horizon with a specified confidence level.

For the VaR numbers reported below, a one-day time
horizon and a 95% confidence level were used. This
means that there is a one in 20 chance that daily trading
net revenues will fall below the expected daily trading net
revenues by an amount at least as large as the reported
VaR. Thus, shortfalls from expected trading net revenues
on a single trading day greater than the reported VaR
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would be anticipated to occur, on average, about once a
month. Shortfalls on a single day can exceed reported
VaR by significant amounts. Shortfalls can also accumulate over a longer time horizon such as a number of consecutive trading days.
The VaR numbers below are shown separately for interest rate, equity, currency and commodity products, as
well as for our overall trading positions. These VaR numbers include the underlying product positions and related
hedges that may include positions in other product areas.
For example, the hedge of a foreign exchange forward
may include an interest rate futures position, and the
hedge of a long corporate bond position may include a
short position in the related equity.
The modeling of the risk characteristics of our trading
positions involves a number of assumptions and approximations. While management believes that these assumptions and approximations are reasonable, there is no
uniform industry methodology for estimating VaR, and
different assumptions and/or approximations could produce materially different VaR estimates.
We use historical data to estimate our VaR and, to better
reflect current asset volatilities, we generally weight historical data to give greater importance to more recent
observations. Given its reliance on historical data, VaR is
most effective in estimating risk exposures in markets in
which there are no sudden fundamental changes or shifts
in market conditions. An inherent limitation of VaR is
that the distribution of past changes in market risk factors
may not produce accurate predictions of future market
risk. Different VaR methodologies and distributional
assumptions could produce a materially different VaR.
Moreover, VaR calculated for a one-day time horizon does
not fully capture the market risk of positions that cannot
be liquidated or offset with hedges within one day.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The following tables set forth the daily VaR for substantially all of our trading positions:
AVERAGE DAILY VaR
(IN MILLIONS)

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER

RISK CATEGORIES

2002

2001

2000

Interest rates
Equity prices
Currency rates
Commodity prices
Diversification effect (1)

$ 34

$ 20

$ 13

22

20

21

16

15

6

12

9

Firmwide

$ 46

Our average daily VaR increased to $46 million in 2002
from $39 million in 2001, primarily due to an increase in
interest rate risk in response to higher levels of customer
activity and increased market opportunities. The increase
in average daily VaR to $39 million in 2001 from $28

(38)

8

(25)

(20)

$ 39

$ 28

million in 2000 was attributable to increased exposures
in interest rates and currencies and higher measured
interest rate volatility, particularly during the second half
of the year.

DAILY VaR
(IN MILLIONS)
RISK CATEGORIES

AS OF NOVEMBER

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 2002

2002

2001

HIGH

LOW

Interest rates
Equity prices
Currency rates
Commodity prices
Diversification effect (1)

$ 29

$ 39

$68

$19

33

21

49

15

9

13

35

5

14

12

17

8

(44)

(33)

Firmwide

$ 41

77

32

(1)

$ 52

Equals the difference between firmwide daily VaR and the sum of the daily VaRs for the four risk categories. This effect arises because the four
market risk categories are not perfectly correlated.
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The following chart presents the daily VaR for substantially all of our trading positions during 2002:

DAILY VaR
($ IN MILLIONS)
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Trading Net Revenues Distribution

Substantially all of our inventory positions are marked-to-market on a daily basis and changes are recorded in net revenues. The following chart sets forth the frequency distribution for substantially all of our daily trading net revenues for
the year ended November 2002:

DAILY TRADING NET REVENUES
($ IN MILLIONS)
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80

60

40

20

0
<(20)

(20)-0

0-20

20-40
DAILY TRADING NET REVENUES

50

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT

40-60

60-80

>80

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As part of our overall risk control process, daily trading
net revenues are compared with VaR calculated as of the
end of the prior business day. Trading losses incurred on
a single day exceeded our 95% one-day VaR on one
occasion during 2002.
Nontrading Risk

The market risk for financial instruments in our nontrading portfolio, including our merchant banking investments, is measured using a sensitivity analysis that
estimates the potential reduction in our net revenues
associated with a 10% decline in equity markets. This
sensitivity analysis is based on certain assumptions
regarding the relationship between changes in the stock
price indices and changes in the fair value of the individual financial instruments in our nontrading portfolio.
Different assumptions could produce materially different
risk estimates. The sensitivity of our nontrading portfolio
to a 10% equity market decline was $80 million as of
November 2002 compared with $155 million as of
November 2001, reflecting asset dispositions and market
depreciation in the portfolio.
Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the loss that we would incur if a
counterparty, or an issuer of securities or other instruments we hold, fails to perform under its contractual
obligations to us. To reduce our credit exposures, we
seek to enter into netting agreements with counterparties
that permit us to offset receivables and payables with
such counterparties. In addition, we attempt to further
reduce credit risk with certain counterparties by entering
into agreements that enable us to obtain collateral from
a counterparty or to terminate or reset the terms of
transactions after specified time periods or upon the
occurrence of credit-related events, by seeking thirdparty guarantees of the counterparty’s obligations, and
through the use of credit derivatives and other structures
and techniques.
For most businesses, counterparty credit limits are established by the Credit Department, which is independent of
the revenue-producing departments, based on guidelines
set by the Firmwide Risk Committee and the Credit
Policy Committee. For most products, we measure and
limit credit exposures by reference to both current and

potential exposure. We typically measure potential exposure based on projected worst-case market movements
over the life of a transaction within a 95% confidence
interval. For collateralized transactions we also evaluate
potential exposure over a shorter collection period, and
give effect to the value of received collateral. We further
seek to measure credit exposure through the use of scenario analyses, stress tests and other quantitative tools.
Our global credit management systems monitor current
and potential credit exposure to individual counterparties
and on an aggregate basis to counterparties and their
affiliates. The systems also provide management, including the Firmwide Risk and Credit Policy Committees,
with information regarding overall credit risk by product,
industry sector, country and region.
Derivatives

Derivative contracts are financial instruments, such as
futures, forwards, swaps or option contracts, that derive
their value from underlying assets, indices, reference rates
or a combination of these factors. Derivative instruments
may be privately negotiated contracts, which are often
referred to as OTC derivatives, or they may be listed and
traded on an exchange.
Most of our derivative transactions are entered into for
trading purposes. We use derivatives in our trading activities to facilitate customer transactions, to take proprietary positions and as a means of risk management. We
also enter into derivative contracts to manage the interest
rate and currency exposure on our long-term borrowings.
Derivatives are used in many of our businesses, and we
believe that the associated market risk can only be understood relative to the underlying assets or risks being
hedged, or as part of a broader trading strategy.
Accordingly, the market risk of derivative positions is
managed with all of our other nonderivative risk.
Derivative contracts are reported on a net-by-counterparty basis in our consolidated statements of financial
condition where management believes a legal right of
setoff exists under an enforceable netting agreement. For
an OTC derivative, our credit exposure is directly with
our counterparty and continues until the maturity or termination of such contract.
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The following table sets forth the distribution, by credit rating, of substantially all of our exposure with respect to
OTC derivatives as of November 2002, after taking into consideration the effect of netting agreements. The categories
shown reflect our internally determined public rating agency equivalents.
OVER-THE-COUNTER DERIVATIVE CREDIT EXPOSURE
($ IN MILLIONS)

CREDIT RATING EQUIVALENT

COLLATERAL
HELD (2)

EXPOSURE

EXPOSURE
NET OF
COLLATERAL

PERCENTAGE OF
EXPOSURE NET
OF COLLATERAL

AAA/Aaa
AA/Aa2
A/A2
BBB/Baa2
BB/Ba2 or lower
Unrated (1)

$ 3,747

$ 170

$ 3,577

7,271

1,147

6,124

21

12,831

996

11,835

41

6,036

733

5,303

18

2,666

747

1,919

7

743

609

134

—

Total

$33,294

$4,402

$28,892

13%

100%

The following tables set forth our OTC derivative credit exposure, net of collateral, by remaining contractual maturity:
EXPOSURE NET OF COLLATERAL
(IN MILLIONS)
0–6
MONTHS

6–12
MONTHS

1–5
YEARS

5–10
YEARS

10 YEARS
OR GREATER

AAA/Aaa
AA/Aa2
A/A2
BBB/Baa2
BB/Ba2 or lower
Unrated (1)

$ 233

$ 112

$1,033

$ 884

$1,315

1,424

508

1,472

1,408

1,312

6,124

1,721

734

2,288

1,444

5,648

11,835

1,241

672

2,252

727

411

5,303

693

185

711

274

56

1,919

111

14

7

1

1

134

Total

$5,423

$2,225

$7,763

$4,738

$8,743

$28,892

0–6
MONTHS

6–12
MONTHS

1–5
YEARS

5–10
YEARS

10 YEARS
OR GREATER

Interest rate contracts
Currency contracts
Commodity contracts
Equity contracts

$ 779

$ 452

$5,237

$4,039

$8,563

2,513

742

868

458

170

4,751

1,159

619

1,094

178

9

3,059

972

412

564

63

1

2,012

Total

$5,423

$2,225

$7,763

$4,738

$8,743

$28,892

CREDIT RATING EQUIVALENT

PRODUCT

$ 3,577

TOTAL(3)

$19,070

(1)

In lieu of making an individual assessment of the credit of unrated counterparties, we make a determination that the collateral held in respect of
such obligations is sufficient to cover a substantial portion of our exposure. In making this determination, we take into account various factors,
including legal uncertainties and market volatility.

(2)

Collateral is usually received under agreements entitling Goldman Sachs to require additional collateral upon specified increases in exposure or
the occurrence of adverse credit events.

(3)

Where we have obtained collateral from a counterparty under a master trading agreement that covers multiple products and transactions, we have
allocated the collateral ratably based on exposure before giving effect to such collateral.

Derivatives transactions may also involve the legal
risk that they are not authorized or appropriate for
a counterparty, that documentation has not been
properly executed or that executed agreements may
not be enforceable against the counterparty. We
attempt to minimize these risks by obtaining advice
of counsel on the enforceability of agreements as
well as on the authority of a counterparty to effect
the derivative transaction.
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Operational Risks

Operational risk is the risk of reputational damage, regulatory intervention or financial loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes or systems. Operational
failures can occur in mechanical or technological systems
or infrastructure, and they can take place during the ordinary course of business or as the result of extraordinary
events, including events external to Goldman Sachs. They
also may be caused by human error or by malfeasance.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Goldman Sachs manages operational risk through the
application of control standards; the review, training and
supervision of our people; the active participation and
commitment of senior management; a continuous review
of our processes designed to identify key operational
risks; a commitment to continuous improvement; and a
system of control departments each with responsibilities
and processes for managing specific aspects of operational risk relevant to each department. Together, these
elements comprise a strong firmwide control culture that
helps Goldman Sachs remain focused on minimizing
operational failures and the damage they can cause.
In 2000, we established an Operational Risk Management Department to monitor our firmwide operational
risk. While each business unit has processes and systems
in place to address operational risks within the unit, it is
the job of Operational Risk Management to develop a
framework for measuring our operational risk more
broadly. Operational Risk Management’s long-term goal
is to provide consistent measures of operational performance so that it can evaluate that performance over time
and across Goldman Sachs and identify areas that need
special attention. In addition, it is the role of Operational
Risk Management to report its findings to senior management to help them bring increased business focus on
operational risk and facilitate improvements in operational risk management.
The Operational Risk Management Department works
closely with other control and support areas –
Compliance, Legal, Management Controls (Internal
Audit), Technology, Human Capital Management,
Controllers and Global Operations – as well as the business units to monitor, measure, and help them improve
our overall operational risk management.

securitization process. In addition to retained interests in
assets that we transferred to SPEs, we also hold variable
interests in similar SPEs to which we did not transfer
assets. Our variable interests in these SPEs include the
rights to specific cash flows from purchased interests as
well as derivative transactions.
Certain of these SPEs are not consolidated for one or
more of the following reasons: (i) the entity is a qualifying SPE under SFAS No. 140 to which we have transferred financial assets, (ii) the entity is not controlled by
us, (iii) we do not have a majority of the entity’s substantive risks and rewards or (iv) independent investors have
substantive majority equity investments in legal form.
Our retained and other variable interests in, and derivative transactions with, unconsolidated SPEs are
accounted for at fair value, in the same manner as our
other financial instruments. As of November 2002, we
had no material additional financial commitments or
guarantees in respect of these entities. In addition, we
have not entered into any derivative contracts that are
indexed or linked to our stock.
As discussed below in “—Recent Accounting Developments,” in January 2003, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation
(FIN) No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities.” SPEs are generally considered variable interest
entities under FIN No. 46. See Note 2 and Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements for additional information about our basis of presentation, our retained interests, securitization activities and variable interests in
variable interest entities. See Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements for information about our guarantees to entities that are not SPEs.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

In the normal course of business, Goldman Sachs enters
into arrangements with unconsolidated entities. These
arrangements may involve retained interests in assets
transferred to special-purpose entities (SPEs) in connection with our securitization activities, variable interests in
SPEs to which we did not transfer assets and obligations
under certain guaranty contracts.
Goldman Sachs utilizes SPEs to securitize commercial
and residential mortgages and home equity loans, government and corporate bonds and other types of financial
assets. SPEs are critical to the functioning of several significant investor markets, including the mortgage-backed
and asset-backed securities markets, since they provide
market liquidity to financial assets by offering investors
access to specific cash flows and risks created through the

“Financial instruments owned, at fair value” and
“Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased, at
fair value” in the consolidated statements of financial
condition are carried at fair value or amounts that
approximate fair value, with related unrealized gains
or losses recognized in our results of operations. The
determination of fair value is fundamental to our statements of financial condition and earnings and, in certain circumstances, it requires management to make
complex judgments.
How We Determine Fair Value

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.
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Quoted market prices in active markets are the best evidence of fair value and we use them when available. Such
prices provide the best price transparency and we typically obtain them through electronic quotations or published prices. If quoted market prices in active markets
are not available, our estimate of fair value is based on, if
available, quoted prices or recent transactions in less
active markets and/or prices of similar instruments. These
alternative pricing sources provide some price transparency and we typically obtain this type of information
through broker quotes or third-party pricing services.
If prices are not readily available either through quoted
market prices in active markets or alternative pricing
sources, or if liquidating a position is reasonably
expected to affect market prices, fair value is based on
valuation models or management’s estimate, using the

best information available, of amounts that could be realized under current market conditions, assuming an
orderly liquidation over a reasonable period of time. Our
valuation models consider, among other inputs, contractual and market prices, yield curves, credit, volatility factors, prepayment rates and/or correlations of the
underlying positions. Examples of valuation models we
use include the present value of estimated cash flows,
option-pricing models, matrix pricing, option-adjusted
spread models and fundamental analysis. The inputs to
and the design of our valuation models incorporate
assumptions that we believe other market participants
would use in their estimates of fair values. However, different valuation models and assumptions could produce
materially different estimates of fair value.

In determining fair value, we separate our financial instruments into three categories, cash trading instruments (i.e., nonderivative trading instruments), derivative contracts and principal investments, as set forth in the following table as of
November 2002:
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(IN MILLIONS)

Cash trading instruments
Derivative contracts
Principal investments
Total

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
OWNED, AT FAIR VALUE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SOLD, BUT NOT YET
PURCHASED, AT FAIR VALUE

$ 85,791

$44,552

42,205

38,921

1,779

—

$129,775

$83,473

Cash Trading Instruments

The fair values of cash trading instruments are generally
obtained from quoted market prices in active markets,
broker or dealer price quotations, or alternative pricing
sources with a reasonable level of price transparency. The
types of instruments valued in this manner include U.S.
government and agency securities, sovereign government
obligations, liquid mortgage products, investment-grade

corporate bonds, listed equities, money market securities,
state, municipal and provincial obligations, and physical
commodities. Certain cash trading instruments have little
or no price transparency, including certain high-yield
debt, corporate bank loans, whole loan mortgages and
distressed debt.

The following table sets forth the valuation of our cash trading instruments by level of price transparency as of
November 2002:
CASH TRADING INSTRUMENTS BY PRICE TRANSPARENCY
(IN MILLIONS)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
OWNED, AT FAIR VALUE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SOLD, BUT NOT YET
PURCHASED, AT FAIR VALUE

$81,125

$44,357

Quoted prices or alternative pricing sources with
reasonable price transparency
Little or no price transparency
Total
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4,666

195

$85,791

$44,552
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Quoted market prices in active markets are the best evidence of fair value and we use them when available. Such
prices provide the best price transparency and we typically obtain them though electronic quotations or published prices. If quoted market prices in active markets
are not available, our estimate of fair value is based on, if
available, quoted prices or recent transactions in less
active markets and/or prices of similar instruments. These
alternative pricing sources provide some price transparency and we typically obtain this type of information
through broker quotes or third-party pricing services.
If prices are not readily available either through quoted
market prices in active markets or alternative pricing
sources, or if liquidating a position is reasonably
expected to affect market prices, fair value is based on
valuation models or management’s estimate, using the

best information available, of amounts that could be realized under current market conditions, assuming an
orderly liquidation over a reasonable period of time. Our
valuation models consider, among other inputs, contractual and market prices, yield curves, credit, volatility factors, prepayment rates and/or correlations of the
underlying positions. Examples of valuation models we
use include the present value of estimated cash flows,
option-pricing models, matrix pricing, option-adjusted
spread models and fundamental analysis. The inputs to
and the design of our valuation models incorporate
assumptions that we believe other market participants
would use in their estimates of fair values. However, different valuation models and assumptions could produce
materially different estimates of fair value.

In determining fair value, we separate our financial instruments into three categories, cash trading instruments (i.e., nonderivative trading instruments), derivative contracts and principal investments, as set forth in the following table as of
November 2002:
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(IN MILLIONS)

Cash trading instruments
Derivative contracts
Principal investments
Total

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
OWNED, AT FAIR VALUE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SOLD, BUT NOT YET
PURCHASED, AT FAIR VALUE

$ 85,791

$44,552

42,205

38,921

1,779

—

$129,775

$83,473

Cash Trading Instruments

The fair values of cash trading instruments are generally
obtained from quoted market prices in active markets,
broker or dealer price quotations, or alternative pricing
sources with a reasonable level of price transparency. The
types of instruments valued in this manner include U.S.
government and agency securities, sovereign government
obligations, liquid mortgage products, investment-grade

corporate bonds, listed equities, money market securities,
state, municipal and provincial obligations, and physical
commodities. Certain cash trading instruments have little
or no price transparency, including certain high-yield
debt, corporate bank loans, whole loan mortgages and
distressed debt.

The following table sets forth the valuation of our cash trading instruments by level of price transparency as of
November 2002:
CASH TRADING INSTRUMENTS BY PRICE TRANSPARENCY
(IN MILLIONS)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
OWNED, AT FAIR VALUE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SOLD, BUT NOT YET
PURCHASED, AT FAIR VALUE

$81,125

$44,357

Quoted prices or alternative pricing sources with
reasonable price transparency
Little or no price transparency
Total
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4,666

195

$85,791

$44,552

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

We generally do not adjust the valuation assumptions
for cash trading instruments with little or no price transparency unless there is substantial evidence supporting a
change in value (for example, comparable third-party
transactions) or if management determines that expected
realizable value is less than carrying value.

Derivative Contracts

Derivative contracts consist of exchange-traded and
OTC derivatives. The fair values of our exchangetraded derivatives are generally determined from
quoted market prices. OTC derivatives are valued using
valuation models.

The following table sets forth our exchange-traded and OTC derivative assets and liabilities as of November 2002:
DERIVATIVE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(IN MILLIONS)

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Exchange-traded derivatives
OTC derivatives

$ 8,911

$ 8,630

33,294

30,291

Total

$42,205

$38,921

The fair values of our derivative assets and liabilities include cash we have paid and received (for example, option premiums) and will change significantly from period to period based on, among other factors, changes in our trading positions and market movements.
The following tables set forth the fair values of our OTC derivative assets and liabilities as of November 2002 by product and by remaining contractual maturity:
OTC DERIVATIVES
(IN MILLIONS)
ASSETS
0–6
MONTHS

6–12
MONTHS

1–5
YEARS

5–10
YEARS

10 YEARS
OR GREATER

TOTAL

Interest rate contracts
Currency contracts
Commodity contracts
Equity contracts

$ 864

$ 536

$6,266

$4,983

$9,281

$21,930

2,955

917

1,007

486

211

5,576

1,200

632

1,145

185

11

3,173

1,386

492

673

63

1

2,615

Total

$6,405

$2,577

$9,091

$5,717

$9,504

$33,294

0–6
MONTHS

6–12
MONTHS

1–5
YEARS

5–10
YEARS

10 YEARS
OR GREATER

TOTAL

Interest rate contracts
Currency contracts
Commodity contracts
Equity contracts

$1,084

$ 393

$ 6,870

$5,556

$2,291

$16,194

3,134

751

1,478

935

603

6,901

1,432

836

977

62

2

3,309

1,958

938

844

147

—

3,887

Total

$7,608

$2,918

$10,169

$6,700

$2,896

$30,291

PRODUCT

LIABILITIES
PRODUCT

Price transparency for OTC derivative model inputs
varies depending on, among other factors, product
type, maturity and the complexity of the contract. In
general, there is significant price transparency for simple
interest rate contracts. Price transparency for currency
contracts varies by the underlying currencies, with the
currencies of the leading industrialized nations having
the most price transparency. Price transparency for
commodity contracts varies by type of underlying
commodity. Price transparency for equity contracts
varies by market, with the equity markets of the
leading industrialized nations having the most price
transparency. For more complex structures, price trans-

parency is inherently more limited because they often
combine one or more product types, requiring additional inputs such as correlations and volatilities.
The inputs used in our valuation models are based on
quoted market prices in active markets, if available, or, if
not, quoted market prices or recent transactions in less
active markets and/or prices of similar instruments.
Where such data is not readily available, inputs are
derived from other market data, taking into account
observable market movements that could reasonably be
expected to affect the derived input.
The net derivative contracts presented in the table above
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Principal Investments

In valuing our corporate and real estate principal investments, we separate our portfolio into two categories – public
securities and private securities. The following table sets forth the carrying value of our principal investments portfolio
as of November 2002:
PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS
(IN MILLIONS)

56

CORPORATE

REAL ESTATE

TOTAL

Private
Public

$ 881

$736

$1,617

154

8

162

Total

$1,035

$744

$1,779

Our public principal investments, which tend to be large,
concentrated holdings that resulted from initial public
offerings or other corporate transactions, are valued using
quoted market prices discounted for restrictions on sale.

trends within sectors and/or regions, underlying business
models, expected exit timing and strategy, and any specific
rights or terms associated with the investment, such as
conversion features and liquidation preferences.

Our private principal investments, by their nature, have
little to no price transparency. Such investments are initially carried at cost as an approximation of fair value.
Adjustments to cost (above or below) are made if there are
third-party transactions evidencing a change in value.
Downward adjustments are also made if we determine
that the expected realizable value of the investment is less
than the carrying value. In reaching that determination,
we consider many factors including, but not limited to, the
operating cash flows and financial performance of the
companies or properties relative to budgets or projections,

Controls Over Valuation of Financial Instruments

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT

Proper controls, independent of the trading and principal
investing functions, are fundamental to ensuring that
financial instruments are appropriately valued and the
resulting fair value measurements are reliable, particularly where certain levels of price discovery may require
additional analysis. These controls include independent
review of valuation models and price verification by
personnel with technical knowledge of relevant markets
and products.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146,
“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities.” The statement specifies the accounting for
certain employee termination benefits, contract termination costs and costs to consolidate facilities or relocate
employees and is effective for exit and disposal activities
initiated after December 31, 2002. We do not expect the
statement to have a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
Effective in fiscal 2003, we will begin to account for
stock-based employee compensation in accordance with
the fair-value method prescribed by SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as
amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure,” using the
prospective adoption method. Under this method of
adoption, compensation expense will be recognized
based on the fair value of stock options and restricted
stock units granted for fiscal 2003 and future years over
the related service period while stock options and
restricted stock units granted for fiscal 2002 and prior
years, unless modified, will continue to be accounted for
under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” generally
resulting in no recognition of compensation expense
related to stock options granted with no intrinsic value.
The amount of stock-based compensation to be recognized under SFAS No. 123 in fiscal 2003 and beyond is
not currently determinable because the number and value
of stock options and/or restricted stock units to be
granted to employees in the future is not yet known, nor
are the related future service provisions. We elected to
adopt the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 for the
fiscal year-ended 2002. See Note 2 and Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements for additional information on our stock-based compensation.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN No. 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others.” FIN No. 45 specifies the disclosures to be made about obligations under certain issued
guarantees and requires a liability to be recognized for
the fair value of a guarantee obligation. The recognition
and measurement provisions of the interpretation apply
prospectively to guarantees issued after December 31,
2002. The disclosure provisions are effective beginning
with our first fiscal quarter in 2003. Adoption of the
recognition and measurement provisions will not have
a material effect on our financial condition or results
of operations.
In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” FIN No. 46
requires a company to consolidate a variable interest
entity (VIE) if the company has variable interests that
give it a majority of the expected losses or a majority of
the expected residual returns of the entity. Prior to FIN
No. 46, VIEs were commonly referred to as SPEs. FIN
No. 46 is effective immediately for VIEs created after
January 31, 2003. Goldman Sachs must apply FIN
No. 46 to VIEs created before February 1, 2003 as of the
beginning of the fiscal 2003 fourth quarter. We are evaluating the impact of adoption but do not expect it to
have a material effect on our financial condition or
results of operations. We have disclosed information
about our VIEs in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21,
“Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables.” EITF Issue No. 00-21 addresses the
accounting for arrangements under which a vendor will
perform multiple revenue-generating activities. EITF
Issue No. 00-21 is effective for revenue arrangements
entered into beginning with our fourth fiscal quarter in
2003. We do not expect it to have a material effect on our
financial condition or results of operations.
In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on
EITF Issue No. 02-3, “Issues Involved in Accounting for
Derivative Contracts Held for Trading Purposes and
Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk
Management Activities.” EITF Issue No. 02-3 precludes
mark-to-market accounting for energy-trading contracts
that are not derivatives pursuant to SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” We have adopted the provisions of EITF Issue
No. 02-3 related to energy-trading contracts as of the
beginning of the fiscal 2003 first quarter and the effect of
adoption was not material to our financial condition or
results of operations. EITF Issue No. 02-3 also communicates the FASB staff’s belief that the transaction price
for a derivative contract is the best information available
with which to estimate fair value at the inception of a
contract when the estimate is not based on other observable market data. We are currently evaluating the impact
of the FASB staff’s view on our financial condition and
results of operations.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Research Settlement

On December 20, 2002, as part of a proposed global settlement involving the leading securities firms operating in
the United States, agreements in principle were announced
among Goldman Sachs’ U.S. broker-dealer subsidiary
Goldman, Sachs & Co. and various regulatory authorities
to resolve their investigations of Goldman, Sachs & Co.
relating to investment research analysts’ conflicts of interest. Pursuant to the agreements in principle, Goldman,
Sachs & Co. has agreed, among other things, to (i) pay
$50 million in retrospective relief, (ii) contribute $50 million over five years to provide independent third-party
research to clients, (iii) contribute $10 million for investor
education and (iv) adopt internal structural and other
safeguards to further ensure the integrity of Goldman,
Sachs & Co. investment research. The cost of the agreements in principle has been provided for in our consolidated financial statements. In connection with the
agreements, we also expect to be joining the other leading
securities firms who are part of the proposed global settlement in an initiative that generally will prohibit the allocation of shares in initial public offerings to executives and
directors of public companies. Current or future civil lawsuits implicating investment research analysts’ conflicts of
interest were not settled as part of the agreements in principle. Our total potential liability in respect of such civil
cases cannot be reasonably estimated but could be material to results of operations in a given period.

Transactions with Sumitomo Mitsui
Financial Group, Inc.

On February 7, 2003, Goldman Sachs and Sumitomo
Mitsui Financial Group, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “SMFG”) entered into a series of related transactions with three primary components: (i) the purchase
by Goldman Sachs of convertible preferred stock of
SMFG having a liquidation preference equal to ¥150.3
billion ($1.25 billion); (ii) the provision by SMFG to
Goldman Sachs’ affiliates of first loss credit protection up
to an aggregate of $1 billion and additional second loss
credit protection of up to $1.125 billion, in exchange for
the underlying commitment fees, to mitigate in part the
credit risk to Goldman Sachs associated with certain
credit extensions to its investment-grade clients; and (iii)
the enhancement and development of certain business
cooperation understandings between SMFG and
Goldman Sachs.
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition and the related consolidated
statements of earnings, changes in shareholders’ equity,
cash flows and comprehensive income present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of The
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
Company) at November 29, 2002 and November 30,
2001, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended
November 29, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management; our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits of these financial statements in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
January 27, 2003
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Revenues
Investment banking
Trading and principal investments
Asset management and securities services
Interest income
Total revenues
Interest expense
Revenues, net of interest expense
Operating expenses
Compensation and benefits
Nonrecurring acquisition awards
Amortization of employee initial public offering and acquisition awards
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees
Market development
Communications and technology
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets
Occupancy
Professional services and other
Total non-compensation expenses
Total operating expenses
Pre-tax earnings
Provision for taxes
Net earnings
Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted
Average common shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

2002

2001

2000

$ 2,572

$ 3,677

$ 5,339

4,063

6,254

6,528

4,950

4,587

3,737

11,269

16,620

17,396

22,854

31,138

33,000

8,868

15,327

16,410

13,986

15,811

16,590

6,744

7,700

7,773

—

—

290

293

464

428

852

843

573

306

406

506

528

604

435

617

613

441

127

260

45

637

591

440

629

634

639

3,696

3,951

3,079

10,733

12,115

11,570

3,253

3,696

5,020

1,139

1,386

1,953

$ 2,114

$ 2,310

$ 3,067

$ 4.27

$ 4.53

$ 6.33

4.03

4.26

6.00

495.6

509.7

484.6

525.1

541.8

511.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition

AS OF NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and securities segregated in compliance with U.S. federal and other regulations
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Receivables from customers and counterparties
Securities borrowed
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Financial instruments owned, at fair value
Financial instruments owned and pledged as collateral, at fair value
Total financial instruments owned, at fair value
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Short-term borrowings, including the current portion of long-term borrowings
Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Payables to customers and counterparties
Securities loaned
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased, at fair value
Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Long-term borrowings
Total liabilities

2002

$

4,822
20,389

2001

$

6,909
22,134

5,779

5,453

23,159

28,010

113,579

101,164

45,772

27,651

123,318

99,654

6,457

9,231

129,775

108,885

12,299

12,012

$355,574

$312,218

$ 40,638

$ 37,597

1,893

4,014

93,697

93,283

12,238

6,862

59,919

39,369

83,473

74,717

6,002

7,129

38,711

31,016

336,571

293,987

—

—

Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share; 150,000,000 shares authorized,
no shares issued and outstanding
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 4,000,000,000 shares authorized,
515,084,810 and 499,017,511 shares issued as of November 2002 and
November 2001, respectively, and 472,940,724 and 476,228,933 shares
outstanding as of November 2002 and November 2001, respectively
Restricted stock units
Nonvoting common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 200,000,000 shares authorized,
no shares issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Unearned compensation
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Treasury stock, at cost, par value $0.01 per share; 42,144,086 and 22,788,578 shares
as of November 2002 and November 2001, respectively
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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5

5

3,494

4,542

—

—

12,773

11,785

7,259

5,373

(845)

(1,220)

(122)

(168)

(3,561)

(2,086)

19,003

18,231

$355,574

$312,218

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share
Balance, beginning of year
Issued
Balance, end of year
Restricted stock units
Balance, beginning of year
Granted
Delivered
Forfeited
Balance, end of year
Nonvoting common stock, par value $0.01 per share
Balance, beginning of year
Exchanged
Balance, end of year
Additional paid-in capital
Balance, beginning of year
Issuance of common stock
Issuance of common stock contributed to a defined contribution plan
Tax benefit related to delivery of equity-based awards
Balance, end of year
Retained earnings
Balance, beginning of year
Net earnings
Dividends declared
Balance, end of year
Unearned compensation
Balance, beginning of year
Restricted stock units granted
Restricted stock units forfeited
Amortization of restricted stock units
Balance, end of year
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/income
Balance, beginning of year
Currency translation adjustment
Balance, end of year
Treasury stock, at cost, par value $0.01 per share
Balance, beginning of year
Shares repurchased
Balance, end of year

2002

$

5

2001

$

5

2000

$

4

—

—

5

5

1
5

4,542

4,760
648

4,339
1,150

(1,293)

(600)

(507)

(253)

(266)

(222)

3,494

4,542

4,760

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

11,785

11,127

7,359

869

535

3,651

498

—

—

1

119

123

116

12,773

11,785

11,127

5,373

3,294

444

2,114

2,310

3,067

(231)

(217)

7,259

5,373

3,294

(1,220)

(1,878)

(2,038)

(387)

(375)

(842)

95

108

163

667

925

839

(845)

(1,220)

(1,878)

(168)

(130)

37

46

(38)

(167)

(122)

(168)

(130)

(228)

(2,086)

(648)

—

(1,475)

(1,438)

(648)

(3,561)
$19,003

(2,086)

(648)

$18,231

$16,530

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net earnings
Noncash items included in net earnings
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Cash and securities segregated in compliance with
U.S. federal and other regulations
Net receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
Net payables to customers and counterparties
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, net of
agreements to resell
Financial instruments owned, at fair value
Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased, at fair value
Other, net
Net cash (used for)/provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Property, leasehold improvements and equipment
Business combinations, net of cash acquired
Other, net
Net cash used for investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Short-term borrowings, net
Issuance of long-term borrowings
Repayment of long-term borrowings, including the
current portion of long-term borrowings
Common stock repurchased
Dividends paid
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

2002

2001

2000

$ 2,114

$ 2,310

$ 3,067

617

613

441

127

260

45

230

52

(352)

639

789

1,345

1,745

(5,002)

(5,389)

(2,423)

931

336

5,265

20,056

14,570

(7,039)

(21,098)

(916)

2,429

18,046

(9,528)

(20,977)

(14,390)

(8,386)

8,756

1,809

5,507

(1,560)

(1,511)

867

(10,077)

2,865

1,607

(1,008)

(1,370)

(1,552)

(68)

(314)

(1,988)

(27)

(225)

(116)

(1,103)

(1,909)

(3,656)

6,354

1,261

(726)

12,740

6,694

16,060

(8,358)

(4,208)

(11,606)

(1,475)

(1,438)

(648)

(228)

(231)

(217)

60

5

1

9,093

2,083

2,864

(2,087)

3,039

815

6,909

3,870

3,055

$ 4,822

$ 6,909

$ 3,870

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:
Cash payments for interest approximated the related expense for each of the fiscal years presented.
Payments of income taxes were $1.22 billion, $1.30 billion and $1.96 billion for the years ended November 2002, November 2001 and November
2000, respectively.
Noncash activities:
The value of common stock issued in connection with business combinations was $47 million, $223 million and $3.41 billion for the years ended
November 2002, November 2001 and November 2000, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

2000

Net earnings
Currency translation adjustment, net of tax

$2,114

$2,310

$3,067

46

(38)

(167)

Comprehensive income

$2,160

$2,272

$2,900

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

note

1

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (Group Inc.), a
Delaware corporation, together with its consolidated
subsidiaries (collectively, the firm), is a leading global
investment banking, securities and investment management firm that provides a wide range of services worldwide to a substantial and diversified client base that
includes corporations, financial institutions, governments
and high-net-worth individuals.
The firm’s activities are divided into three segments:
• investment banking – This segment comprises

Financial Advisory and Underwriting;
• trading and principal investments – This seg-

ment comprises Fixed Income, Currency and
Commodities (FICC), Equities and Principal
Investments (Principal Investments primarily represents net revenues from the firm’s merchant banking investments); and
• asset management and securities services –

This segment comprises Asset Management,
Securities Services and Commissions.
note

2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of Group, Inc. and all other entities in which the
firm has a controlling financial interest. All material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.
The usual condition for a controlling financial interest in
an entity is ownership of a majority of the voting interest.
Accordingly, the firm consolidates entities in which it has
all, or a majority of, the voting interest. A controlling
financial interest can also exist in entities whose activities
are predetermined or significantly limited, or whose independent equity investors do not hold an equity investment with substantive risks and rewards. These types of
entities are commonly referred to as special-purpose
entities (SPEs).
The firm consolidates all SPEs it controls and those in
which it holds a majority of the SPE’s substantive risks
and rewards. The firm also consolidates all SPEs to which
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it has transferred assets unless independent investors have
made a substantive majority equity investment in legal
form or the transferred assets are financial instruments
and the SPE is a qualifying SPE as defined in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.” The firm’s
financial interests in, and derivative transactions with,
non-consolidated SPEs are accounted for at fair value, in
the same manner as other financial instruments. As
of November 2002, the firm had no material additional
financial commitments or guarantees in respect of these
entities.
When the firm does not have a controlling financial interest in an entity but exerts significant influence over the
entity’s operating and financial policies (generally defined
as owning a voting or economic interest of 20% to 50%),
the firm accounts for its investment in accordance with
the equity method of accounting as prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 18,
“The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in
Common Stock.”
If the firm does not have a controlling financial interest
in, or exert significant influence over, the entity, the firm
accounts for its investment at fair value.
The firm also has formed numerous non-consolidated
private investment funds with third-party investors that
are typically organized as limited partnerships. The firm
acts as general partner and also holds limited partnership
interests in the funds. The firm does not hold a majority
of the residual interests in any of the funds. The firm’s
investments in these funds are included in “Financial
instruments owned, at fair value” in the consolidated
statements of financial condition. As of September 30,
2002 (the latest investment fund reporting date), the
funds’ total assets were approximately $11.85 billion.
The firm’s principal U.S. and international subsidiaries
include Goldman, Sachs & Co. (GS&Co.), J. Aron &
Company and Spear, Leeds & Kellogg, L.P. in New York,
Goldman Sachs International (GSI) in London and
Goldman Sachs (Japan) Ltd. (GSJL) in Tokyo.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles that require management to make estimates
and assumptions regarding trading inventory valuations,
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the outcome of pending litigation and other matters that
affect the consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures. These estimates and assumptions are based
on judgment and available information, and, consequently, actual results could be materially different from
these estimates.

financial instruments

Unless otherwise stated herein, all references to 2002,
2001 and 2000 refer to the firm’s fiscal year ended or the
date, as the context requires, November 29, 2002,
November 30, 2001 and November 24, 2000, respectively. Certain reclassifications have been made to prioryear amounts to conform to the current-year presentation.

“Financial instruments owned, at fair value” and
“Financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased, at
fair value” in the consolidated statements of financial
condition are carried at fair value or amounts that
approximate fair value, with related unrealized gains or
losses recognized in the firm’s results of operations. The
fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

Revenue Recognition
investment banking

Underwriting revenues and fees from mergers and acquisitions and other corporate finance advisory assignments
are recorded when the services related to the underlying
transaction are completed under the terms of the engagement. Expenses associated with such transactions are
deferred until the related revenue is recognized or the
engagement is otherwise concluded. Underwriting revenues are presented net of related expenses. Expenses
associated with advisory transactions are recorded as noncompensation expenses, net of client reimbursements.
repurchase agreements and collateralized
financing arrangements

Securities purchased under agreements to resell and securities sold under agreements to repurchase, principally
U.S. government, federal agency and investment-grade
non-U.S. sovereign obligations, represent short-term collateralized financing transactions and are carried in the
consolidated statements of financial condition at their
contractual amounts plus accrued interest. These
amounts are presented on a net-by-counterparty basis
when the requirements of Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 41 are satisfied. The firm takes possession of securities purchased
under agreements to resell, monitors the market value of
these securities on a daily basis and obtains additional
collateral as appropriate.
Securities borrowed and loaned are recorded based on
the amount of cash collateral advanced or received. These
transactions are generally collateralized by either cash,
securities or letters of credit. The firm takes possession of
securities borrowed, monitors the market value of securities loaned and obtains additional collateral as appropriate. Income or expense on repurchase agreements and
collateralized financing arrangements is recognized as
interest over the life of the transaction.

Gains and losses on financial instruments are recorded on
a trade-date basis in the consolidated statements of earnings. The consolidated statements of financial condition
generally reflect purchases and sales of financial instruments on a trade-date basis.

Quoted market prices in active markets are the best evidence of fair value and the firm uses them when available.
If quoted market prices in active markets are not available, management’s estimate of fair value is based on, if
available, quoted prices or recent transactions in less
active markets and/or prices of similar instruments.
If prices are not readily available either through quoted
market prices in active markets or alternative pricing
sources, or if liquidating a position is reasonably
expected to affect market prices, fair value is based on
valuation models or management’s estimate, using the
best information available, of amounts that could be realized under current market conditions, assuming an
orderly liquidation over a reasonable period of time. The
firm’s valuation models consider, among other inputs,
contractual and market prices, yield curves, credit,
volatility factors, prepayment rates and/or correlations of
the underlying positions.
The inputs used in the firm’s valuation models are based
on quoted market prices in active markets, if available,
or, if not, from quoted market prices or recent transactions in less active markets, and prices of similar instruments. Where such data is not readily available, inputs
are derived from other market data taking into account
observable market movements that could reasonably be
expected to affect the derived input. Different valuation
models and assumptions could produce materially different estimates of fair value.
In general, transfers of financial assets are accounted for
as sales under SFAS No. 140 when the firm has relinquished control over the transferred assets. For transfers
accounted for as sales, any related gains or losses are recognized in net revenues. Transfers that are not accounted
for as sales are accounted for as repurchase agreements
and collateralized financing arrangements, with the
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related interest expense recognized in net revenues over
the life of the transaction.
Principal investments are initially carried at cost as an
approximation of fair value. The carrying value of such
investments is adjusted when changes in the underlying
fair values are readily determinable. For public investments, values are determined using quoted market prices
discounted for restrictions on sale. For private investments, adjustments to cost (above or below) are made if
there are third-party transactions evidencing a change in
value. Downward adjustments are also made if management determines that the expected realizable value of the
investment is less than the carrying value. In reaching that
determination, management considers many factors
including, but not limited to, the operating cash flows
and financial performance of the companies or properties
relative to budgets or projections, trends within sectors
and/or regions, underlying business models, expected exit
timing and strategy, and any specific rights or terms associated with the investment, such as conversion features
and liquidation preferences.
asset management

Asset management fees are generally recognized over the
period the related service is provided based upon average
net asset values. In certain circumstances, the firm is entitled to receive incentive fees when the return on assets
under management exceeds certain benchmark returns or
other performance targets. Incentive fees are generally
based on investment performance over a 12-month period
and are not subject to adjustment once the measurement
period ends. Accordingly, incentive fees are recognized in
the consolidated statements of earnings when the measurement period ends. Asset management fees and incentive fees are included in “Asset management and securities
services” in the consolidated statements of earnings.

commissions

The firm generates commissions from executing and
clearing client transactions on stock, options and futures
markets worldwide. These commissions are recorded on
a trade-date basis in “Asset management and securities
services” in the consolidated statements of earnings.
merchant banking override

The firm is entitled to receive merchant banking overrides
(i.e., an increased share of a fund’s income and gains)
when the return on the fund’s investments exceeds certain
threshold returns. Overrides are based on investment performance over the life of each merchant banking fund,
and future investment underperformance may require
amounts previously distributed to the firm to be returned
to the funds. Accordingly, overrides are recognized in the
consolidated statements of earnings only when all material contingencies have been resolved. Overrides are
included in “Asset management and securities services”
in the consolidated statements of earnings.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The firm defines cash equivalents as highly liquid
overnight deposits held in the ordinary course of business.
Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

The cost of acquired companies in excess of the fair value
of net assets at acquisition date is recorded as goodwill.
Prior to December 1, 2001, goodwill was amortized over
periods of 15 to 20 years on a straight-line basis. Effective
December 1, 2001, the firm adopted SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and, consequently, goodwill is no longer amortized but, instead, is
tested at least annually for impairment. Identifiable intangible assets, which consist primarily of specialist rights
and customer lists, continue to be amortized over their
useful lives.

Property, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment

Property, leasehold improvements and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, are included in
“Other assets” in the consolidated statements of financial condition. Effective December 1, 2001, the firm changed to
the straight-line method of depreciation for certain property, leasehold improvements and equipment placed in service
after November 2001. This change did not have a material effect on the firm’s results of operations for the year ended
November 2002.
The firm’s depreciation and amortization expense is generally computed using the methods set forth below:
PROPERTY AND
EQUIPMENT
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LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS
TERM OF LEASE GREATER
THAN USEFUL LIFE

TERM OF LEASE LESS
THAN USEFUL LIFE

CERTAIN INTERNAL USE
SOFTWARE COSTS

Placed in service
prior to December 1, 2001

Accelerated cost
recovery

Accelerated cost
recovery

Straight-line over the
term of the lease

Straight-line over
useful life of the
asset

Placed in service on
or after December 1, 2001

Straight-line over
useful life of the
asset

Straight-line over
useful life of the
asset

Straight-line over the
term of the lease

Straight-line over
useful life of the
asset
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Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing
net earnings by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding. Common shares outstanding includes
common stock and nonvoting common stock as well as
restricted stock units for which no future service is
required as a condition to the delivery of the underlying
common stock. Diluted EPS includes the determinants of
basic EPS and, in addition, reflects the dilutive effect of
the common stock deliverable pursuant to stock options
and to restricted stock units for which future service is
required as a condition to the delivery of the underlying
common stock.
Stock-Based Compensation

The firm has historically accounted for stock-based
employee compensation plans in accordance with APB
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” as
permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for StockBased Compensation.” In accordance with APB No. 25,
compensation expense is not recognized for stock options
that have no intrinsic value on the date of grant.
Compensation expense is recognized immediately for
restricted stock units for which future service is not

required as a condition to the delivery of the underlying
shares of common stock. For restricted stock units with
future service requirements, compensation expense is recognized over the relevant service period using amortization methodologies determined by the applicable vesting
provisions.
Effective in fiscal 2003, the firm will begin to account for
stock-based employee compensation in accordance with
the fair-value method prescribed by SFAS No. 123, as
amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure,” using the
prospective adoption method. Under this method of
adoption, compensation expense will be recognized
based on the fair value of stock options and restricted
stock units granted for fiscal 2003 and future years over
the related service period. The amount of stock-based
compensation to be recognized under SFAS No. 123 in
fiscal 2003 and beyond is not currently determinable
because the number and value of stock options and/or
restricted stock units to be granted to employees in the
future is not yet known, nor are the related future service
provisions. The firm elected to adopt the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 for the fiscal year ended 2002.

Stock options granted for the years ended November 2002, November 2001 and November 2000 were accounted for,
and will continue to be accounted for, under the intrinsic value-based method as prescribed by APB No. 25. Therefore,
no compensation expense was recognized for those stock options that had no intrinsic value on the date of grant. If the
firm were to recognize compensation expense over the relevant service period, under the fair value method of SFAS
No. 123 with respect to these stock options, net earnings would have decreased, resulting in pro forma net earnings and
EPS as presented below:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Net earnings, as reported
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense, net of related tax
benefits, included in reported net earnings
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation, net of related tax
effects, determined under fair-value based method for all awards
Pro forma net earnings

2002

2001

2000

$2,114

$2,310

$3,067

416

499

822

(785)

(844)

(918)

$1,745

$1,965

$2,971

$ 4.27

$ 4.53

$ 6.33

4.03

4.26

6.00

$ 3.52

$ 3.86

$ 6.13

3.32

3.63

5.81

EPS, as reported
Basic
Diluted
Pro forma EPS
Basic
Diluted
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Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the financial reporting and
tax bases of the firm’s assets and liabilities. Valuation
allowances are established to reduce deferred tax assets
to the amount that more likely than not will be realized.
The firm’s tax assets and liabilities are presented as a
component of “Other assets” and “Other liabilities and
accrued expenses,” respectively, in the consolidated statements of financial condition.
Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in non-U.S. currencies
are translated at rates of exchange prevailing on the date
of the consolidated statement of financial condition, and
revenues and expenses are translated at average rates of
exchange for the fiscal year. Gains or losses on translation
of the financial statements of a non-U.S. operation, when
the functional currency is other than the U.S. dollar, are
reflected, net of hedges, as a separate component of
equity and included in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income. Gains or losses on foreign currency transactions are included in the consolidated statements of earnings.
Recent Accounting Developments

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146,
“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities.” The statement specifies the accounting for
certain employee termination benefits, contract termination costs and costs to consolidate facilities or relocate
employees and is effective for exit and disposal activities
initiated after December 31, 2002. Management does not
expect the statement to have a material effect on the
firm’s financial condition or results of operations.
In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation
(FIN) No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN No. 45
specifies the disclosures to be made about obligations
under certain issued guarantees and requires a liability to
be recognized for the fair value of a guarantee obligation.
The recognition and measurement provisions of the interpretation apply prospectively to guarantees issued after
December 31, 2002. The disclosure provisions are effective beginning with the firm’s first fiscal quarter in 2003.
Adoption of the recognition and measurement provisions
will not have a material effect on the firm’s financial condition or results of operations.
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In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” FIN No. 46
requires a company to consolidate a variable interest
entity (VIE) if the company has variable interests that
give it a majority of the expected losses or a majority of
the expected residual returns of the entity. Prior to FIN
No. 46, VIEs were commonly referred to as SPEs. FIN
No. 46 is effective immediately for VIEs created after
January 31, 2003. The firm must apply FIN No. 46 to
VIEs created before February 1, 2003 as of the beginning
of the fiscal 2003 fourth quarter. Management is evaluating the impact of adoption but does not expect it to
have a material effect on the firm’s financial condition or
results of operations.
In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21,
“Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables.” EITF Issue No. 00-21 addresses the
accounting for arrangements under which a vendor will
perform multiple revenue-generating activities. EITF
Issue No. 00-21 is effective for revenue arrangements
entered into beginning with the firm’s fourth quarter in
fiscal 2003. Management does not expect it to have a
material effect on the firm’s financial condition or results
of operations.
In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on
EITF Issue No. 02-3, “Issues Involved in Accounting for
Derivative Contracts Held for Trading Purposes and
Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk
Management Activities.” EITF Issue No. 02-3 precludes
mark-to-market accounting for energy-trading contracts
that are not derivatives pursuant to SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” The firm has adopted the provisions of EITF
Issue No. 02-3 related to energy-trading contracts as of
the beginning of the fiscal 2003 first quarter and the
effect of adoption was not material to the firm’s financial
condition or results of operations. EITF Issue No. 02-3
also communicates the FASB staff’s belief that the transaction price for a derivative contract is the best information available with which to estimate fair value at the
inception of a contract when the estimate is not based on
other observable market data. Management is currently
evaluating the impact of the FASB staff’s view on the
firm’s financial condition and results of operations.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

note

3

SPEAR, LEEDS & KELLOGG

of net assets acquired was $4.2 billion, of which $2.4 billion was recorded as goodwill and $1.8 billion was
recorded as identifiable intangible assets.

On October 31, 2000, the firm completed its combination with SLK LLC (SLK), a leader in securities clearing
and execution, floor-based market making and off-floor
market making. The combination was accounted for
under the purchase method of accounting for business
combinations. In exchange for the membership interests
in SLK and subordinated debt of certain retired members,
the firm issued 35.3 million shares of common stock valued at $3.5 billion, issued $149 million in debentures and
paid $2.1 billion in cash. The purchase price was allocated to tangible and identifiable intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated
fair values as of the effective date of the combination. The
excess of consideration paid over the estimated fair value

As part of the combination with SLK, the firm established
a $702 million retention pool of restricted stock units for
SLK employees. A charge of $290 million ($180 million
after taxes) related to restricted stock units for which
future service was not required as a condition to the
delivery of the underlying shares of common stock was
included in the firm’s operating results in 2000. The
remaining restricted stock units, for which future service
is required, are being amortized over the five-year service
period following the date of consummation.

The following table sets forth the unaudited pro forma combined operating results of the firm and SLK for the year
ended November 2000. These pro forma results were prepared as if the firm’s combination with SLK had taken place
at the beginning of fiscal 2000.
PRO FORMA OPERATING RESULTS (UNAUDITED)
YEAR ENDED
NOVEMBER 2000

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Revenues, net of interest expense
Net earnings
Basic EPS
Diluted EPS
note

$18,630
3,459
6.66
6.32

4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Transactions involving financial instruments sold, but
not yet purchased, generally entail an obligation to purchase a financial instrument at a future date. The firm
may incur a loss if the market value of the financial
instrument subsequently increases prior to the purchase
of the instrument.

Financial instruments, including both cash instruments
and derivatives, are used to manage market risk, facilitate
customer transactions, engage in proprietary transactions
and meet financing objectives. These instruments can be
either executed on an exchange or negotiated in the overthe-counter (OTC) market.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table sets forth the firm’s financial instruments owned, including those pledged as collateral, at fair value,
and financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased, at fair value:
AS OF NOVEMBER
2002
ASSETS

(IN MILLIONS)

Commercial paper, certificates of deposit and
time deposits
U.S. government, federal agency and
sovereign obligations
Corporate debt
Equities and convertible debentures
State, municipal and provincial obligations
Derivative contracts
Physical commodities
Total

$

1,092

2001
LIABILITIES

$

—

ASSETS

$

1,351

LIABILITIES

$

—

36,053

22,272

31,173

25,425

6,902

16,697

18,606
6,453

23,624

14,398

20,075

12,201

715

—

771

—

42,205

38,921

38,521

36,660

661

980

297

797

$129,775

$83,473

$108,885

$74,717
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Credit Concentrations

Credit concentrations may arise from trading, underwriting and securities borrowing activities and may be
impacted by changes in economic, industry or political
factors. As of November 2002 and 2001, U.S. government and federal agency obligations represented 6% and
7%, respectively, of the firm’s total assets. In addition,
most of the firm’s securities purchased under agreements
to resell are collateralized by U.S. government, federal
agency and other sovereign obligations.
Derivative Activities

Derivative contracts are financial instruments, such as
futures, forwards, swaps or option contracts, that derive
their value from underlying assets, indices, reference rates
or a combination of these factors. Derivatives may
involve future commitments to purchase or sell financial
instruments or commodities, or to exchange currency or
interest payment streams. The amounts exchanged are
based on the specific terms of the contract with reference
to specified rates, securities, commodities or indices.
Derivative contracts exclude certain cash instruments,
such as mortgage-backed securities, interest-only and
principal-only obligations, and indexed debt instruments,
that derive their values or contractually required cash
flows from the price of some other security or index. The
firm includes certain commodity-related contracts in its
derivative disclosure, although not required to do so, as

these contracts may be settled in cash or are readily convertible into cash.
Most of the firm’s derivative transactions are entered into
for trading purposes. The firm uses derivatives in its trading activities to facilitate customer transactions, to take
proprietary positions and as a means of risk management. Risk exposures are managed through diversification, by controlling position sizes and by establishing
hedges in related securities or derivatives. For example,
the firm may hedge a portfolio of common stock by taking an offsetting position in a related equity-index futures
contract. Gains and losses on derivatives used for trading
purposes are generally included in “Trading and principal
investments” in the consolidated statements of earnings.
The firm also enters into derivative contracts, to manage
the interest rate, currency and equity-linked exposure on
its long-term borrowings. These derivatives generally
include interest rate futures contracts, interest rate swap
agreements, currency swap agreements and equity-linked
contracts, which are primarily utilized to convert a substantial portion of the firm’s long-term debt into U.S. dollar-based floating rate obligations. Certain interest rate
swap contracts are designated as fair-value hedges. The
gains and losses associated with the ineffective portion of
these fair-value hedges are included in “Trading and principal investments” in the consolidated statements of earnings and were not material for the years ended November
2002 and November 2001.

Derivative contracts are reported on a net-by-counterparty basis in the firm’s consolidated statements of financial condition when management believes a legal right of setoff exists under an enforceable netting agreement. The fair value of
derivative financial instruments, computed in accordance with the firm’s netting policy, is set forth below:
AS OF NOVEMBER
2002
(IN MILLIONS)

2001

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Forward settlement contracts
Swap agreements
Option contracts

$ 4,293

$ 4,602

$ 5,265

$ 4,491

22,426

18,516

18,438

15,931

15,486

15,803

14,818

16,238

Total

$42,205

$38,921

$38,521

$36,660

Securitization Activities

The firm securitizes commercial and residential mortgages and home equity loans, government and corporate
bonds, and other types of financial assets. The firm acts
as underwriter of the beneficial interests that are sold to
investors. The firm derecognizes financial assets transferred in securitizations provided it has relinquished control over such assets. Transferred assets are accounted for
at fair value prior to securitization. Underwriting net revenues are recognized in connection with the sales of the
underlying beneficial interests to investors.
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The firm may retain interests in securitized financial
assets, which it generally attempts to sell as quickly as
possible, subject to prevailing market conditions.
Retained interests are accounted for at fair value and are
included in “Total financial instruments owned, at fair
value” in the consolidated statements of financial condition.
During the years ended November 2002 and November
2001, the firm securitized $107.1 billion and $68.8 billion

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

of financial assets, respectively, including $89.3 billion
and $47.6 billion of agency mortgage-backed securities,
respectively. Cash flows received on retained interests
and other securitization cash flows were approximately

$534 million for the year ended November 2002. As of
November 2002, the firm held $3.7 billion of retained
interests, including $737 million of retained interests for
which the fair value is based on quoted market prices in
active markets.
The following table sets forth the weighted average key economic assumptions used in measuring the fair value of
retained interests for which fair value is based on alternative pricing sources with reasonable, little or no price transparency and the sensitivity of those fair values to immediate adverse changes of 10% and 20% in those assumptions:
AS OF NOVEMBER 2002
TYPE OF RETAINED INTERESTS
($ IN MILLIONS)

Fair value of retained interests
Weighted average life (years)

MORTGAGE

OTHER ASSET-BACKED(2)

$1,977

$1,022

4.1

4.7

25.4%

N/A

Annual prepayment rate
Impact of 10% adverse change
Impact of 20% adverse change

$

Annual credit losses (1)
Impact of 10% adverse change
Impact of 20% adverse change

$

Annual discount rate
Impact of 10% adverse change
Impact of 20% adverse change

$

(7)

—

(11)

—

2.5%
(1)

1.7%
$

(2)
7.1%
(38)

(8)
(15)
7.1%

$

(74)

(4)
(8)

(1)

The impact of adverse changes takes into account credit mitigants incorporated in the retained interests, including overcollateralization and subordination provisions.

(2)

Includes retained interests in government and corporate bonds and other types of financial assets that are not subject to prepayment risk.

The preceding table does not give effect to the offsetting
benefit of other financial instruments that are held to
hedge risks inherent in these retained interests. Changes
in fair value based on a 10% adverse variation in
assumptions generally cannot be extrapolated because
the relationship of the change in assumptions to the

change in fair value is not usually linear. In addition, the
impact of a change in a particular assumption is calculated independently of changes in any other assumption.
In practice, simultaneous changes in assumptions might
magnify or counteract the sensitivities disclosed above.
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Variable Interest Entities (VIEs)

The firm, in the ordinary course of its business, utilizes VIEs such as trusts, limited partnerships and limited liability
companies to securitize commercial and residential mortgages and home equity loans, government and corporate bonds,
and other types of financial instruments. Prior to the issuance of FIN No. 46, VIEs were commonly referred to as SPEs.
The firm holds variable interests in such entities in the form of senior and subordinated debt, preferred and common
stock, interest rate, foreign currency and credit derivatives as well as residual interests in asset-backed securitizations.
The following table summarizes the firm’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its significant variable interests in
consolidated and non-consolidated VIEs as well as the total assets of such VIEs:
AS OF NOVEMBER 2002
VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES (1)
CONSOLIDATED (2)

(IN MILLIONS)

NON-CONSOLIDATED

Maximum exposure to loss
Mortgages
Other asset-backed

$

197

630

Total maximum exposure to loss

$ 270

$ 895

VIE assets
Mortgages
Other asset-backed

$ 651

$5,176

1,095

3,540

Total VIE assets

$1,746

$8,716

73

$ 265

(1)

Excludes qualifying special-purpose entities (QSPEs), in accordance with FIN No. 46.

(2)

Consolidated total VIE assets in excess of total maximum exposure to loss represents variable interests held by third parties that have no recourse
to the general credit of the firm.

Secured Borrowing and Lending Activities

The firm obtains secured short-term financing principally
through the use of repurchase agreements and securities
lending agreements to obtain securities for settlement, to
finance inventory positions and to meet customers’ needs.
In these transactions, the firm either provides or receives
collateral, including U.S. government, federal agency,
mortgage-backed, investment-grade foreign sovereign
obligations and equity securities.
The firm receives collateral in connection with resale
agreements, securities lending transactions, derivative
transactions, customer margin loans and other secured
lending activities. In many cases, the firm is permitted to
sell or repledge securities held as collateral. These securities may be used to secure repurchase agreements, enter
into securities lending or derivative transactions, or cover
short positions. As of November 2002 and November
2001, the fair value of securities received as collateral by
the firm that it was permitted to sell or repledge was
$316.3 billion and $267.7 billion, respectively, of which
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the firm sold or repledged $272.5 billion and
$224.4 billion, respectively.
The firm also pledges its own assets to collateralize repurchase agreements and other secured financings. As of
November 2002 and November 2001, the carrying value
of securities included in “Financial instruments owned, at
fair value” that had been loaned or pledged to counterparties that did not have the right to sell or repledge was
$34.7 billion and $22.3 billion, respectively.
note

5

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

The firm obtains unsecured short-term borrowings
through issuance of promissory notes, commercial paper
and bank loans. Short-term borrowings also include the
portion of long-term borrowings maturing within one
year. The carrying value of these short-term obligations
approximates fair value due to their short-term nature.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Short-term borrowings are set forth below:
AS OF NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

Promissory notes
Commercial paper
Bank loans and other
Current portion of long-term borrowings

$20,433

$15,281

9,463

8,353

4,948

6,794

5,794

7,169

Total (1)

$40,638

$37,597

(1)

As of November 2002 and November 2001, weighted average interest rates for short-term borrowings, including commercial paper, were 2.09%
and 3.05%, respectively.

note

6

LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

The firm’s long-term borrowings are set forth below:
AS OF NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

Fixed rate obligations
U.S. dollar
Non-U.S. dollar
Floating rate obligations (2)
U.S. dollar
Non-U.S. dollar

2002

2001

$19,550

$14,462

4,407

3,425

10,175

10,415

(1)

Total (3)

4,579

2,714

$38,711

$31,016

(1)

During 2002 and 2001, interest rates on U.S. dollar fixed rate obligations ranged from 5.50% to 12.00% and from 5.90% to 12.00%, respectively.
During 2002 and 2001, non-U.S. dollar fixed rate obligations interest rates ranged from 1.20% to 8.88%.

(2)

Floating interest rates generally are based on LIBOR, the U.S. treasury bill rate or the federal funds rate. Certain equity-linked and indexed instruments are included in floating rate obligations.

(3)

Long-term borrowings have maturities that range from one to 30 years from the date of issue.

Long-term borrowings by fiscal maturity date are set forth below:
AS OF NOVEMBER
2002(1)
U.S.
DOLLAR

(IN MILLIONS)

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008-thereafter

$

Total
(1)

—

2001

NON-U.S.
DOLLAR

$

—

$

TOTAL

U.S.
DOLLAR

NON-U.S.
DOLLAR

TOTAL

—

$ 5,810

$ 371

$ 6,181

6,846

184

7,030

3,172

119

3,291

5,804

3,075

8,879

4,694

2,608

7,302

1,575

1,020

2,595

1,734

804

2,538

1,094

953

2,047

1,018

114

1,132

14,406

3,754

18,160

8,449

2,123

10,572

$29,725

$8,986

$38,711

$24,877

$6,139

$31,016

Long-term borrowings maturing within one year are included in “short-term borrowings” in the consolidated statements of financial condition.

The firm enters into derivative contracts, such as interest
rate futures contracts, interest rate swap agreements, currency swap agreements and equity-linked contracts, to
effectively convert a substantial portion of its long-term

borrowings into U.S. dollar-based floating rate obligations. Accordingly, the aggregate carrying value of these
long-term borrowings and related hedges approximates
fair value.
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The effective weighted average interest rates for long-term borrowings, after hedging activities, are set forth below:
AS OF NOVEMBER
2002

2001

($ IN MILLIONS)

AMOUNT

Fixed rate obligations
Floating rate obligations

$ 1,057
37,654

2.24

30,259

3.02

Total

$38,711

2.40

$31,016

3.20

note

RATE

8.35%

AMOUNT

$

757

RATE

10.58%

7

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

Leases

The firm is involved in a number of judicial, regulatory
and arbitration proceedings concerning matters arising in
connection with the conduct of its businesses.
Management believes, based on currently available information, that the results of such proceedings, in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the firm’s
financial condition, but may be material to the firm’s
operating results for any particular period, depending, in
part, upon the operating results for such period.

The firm has obligations under long-term noncancelable
lease agreements, principally for office space, expiring on
various dates through 2029. Certain agreements are subject to periodic escalation provisions for increases in real
estate taxes and other charges. Minimum rental commitments, net of minimum sublease rentals, under noncancelable leases for 2003 and the succeeding four years
and thereafter and rent charged to operating expense for
the last three years are set forth below:

On December 20, 2002, as part of a proposed global settlement involving the leading securities firms operating in
the United States, agreements in principle were announced
among the firm’s U.S. broker-dealer subsidiary GS&Co.
and various regulatory authorities to resolve their investigations of GS&Co. relating to investment research analysts’ conflicts of interest. Pursuant to the agreements in
principle, GS&Co. has agreed, among other things, to
(i) pay $50 million in retrospective relief, (ii) contribute
$50 million over five years to provide independent thirdparty research to clients, (iii) contribute $10 million for
investor education and (iv) adopt internal structural and
other safeguards to further ensure the integrity of
GS&Co. investment research. The cost of the agreements
in principle has been provided for in the firm’s consolidated financial statements. In connection with the agreements, the firm also expects to be joining the other leading
securities firms who are a part of the proposed global settlement in an initiative that generally will prohibit the
allocation of shares in initial public offerings to executives
and directors of public companies. Current or future civil
lawsuits implicating investment research analysts’ conflicts of interest were not settled as part of the agreements
in principle. The firm’s total potential liability in respect of
such civil cases cannot be reasonably estimated but could
be material to results of operations in a given period.
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(IN MILLIONS)

Minimum rental commitments
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008-thereafter

$ 350
354
266
280
225
1,827

Total

$3,302

Net rent expense
2000
2001

$ 240

2002

299
359

Other Commitments

The firm had commitments to enter into forward secured
financing transactions, including certain repurchase and
resale agreements and secured borrowing and lending
arrangements, of $40.04 billion and $47.54 billion as of
November 2002 and November 2001, respectively.
In connection with its lending activities, the firm had outstanding commitments of $9.41 billion and $13.35 billion as of November 2002 and November 2001,
respectively. These commitments are agreements to lend
to counterparties, have fixed termination dates and are

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

contingent on all conditions to borrowing set forth in the
contract having been met. Since these commitments may
expire unused, the total commitment amount does not necessarily reflect the actual future cash flow requirements.
The firm provides letters of credit issued by various banks
to counterparties in lieu of securities or cash to satisfy
various collateral and margin deposit requirements.
Letters of credit outstanding were $11.63 billion and
$11.50 billion as of November 2002 and November
2001, respectively.
The firm acts as an investor in merchant banking transactions, which includes making long-term investments
in equity and debt securities in privately negotiated
transactions, corporate acquisitions and real estate
transactions. In connection with these activities, the
firm had commitments to invest up to $1.46 billion and
$1.63 billion in corporate and real estate merchant
banking investment funds as of November 2002 and
November 2001, respectively.
The firm had outstanding commitments and guarantees
of $136 million and $134 million relating primarily to
client and fund management activities as of November
2002 and November 2001, respectively. The firm also
had construction-related commitments of $301 million
and $199 million as of November 2002 and November
2001, respectively.
note

note

8

EQUITY CAPITAL

Dividends declared per common share were $0.48 in each
of 2002, 2001 and 2000. On December 19, 2002, the
Board of Directors of Group Inc. (the Board) declared a dividend of $0.12 per share to be paid on February 27, 2003
to common shareholders of record on January 28, 2003.
On March 18, 2002 and on November 20, 2002, the
Board authorized the repurchase of an aggregate additional 30 million shares of common stock pursuant to the
firm’s existing share repurchase program. The total share
authorization under the repurchase program was 60 million shares as of November 2002, of which approximately 40.66 million had been repurchased at a cost of
$3.45 billion. The average price paid per share for repurchased shares was $76.49, $88.22 and $99.90 for the
years ended November 2002, November 2001 and
November 2000, respectively.
On August 21, 2000, SMBC Capital Markets, Inc., formerly Sumitomo Bank Capital Markets, Inc., exchanged
all 7.4 million shares of its nonvoting common stock, par
value $0.01 per share, of Group Inc. for an equal number
of shares of voting common stock.

9

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The computations of basic and diluted EPS are set forth below:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Numerator for basic and diluted EPS—earnings available to
common shareholders
Denominator for basic EPS—weighted average number of
common shares
Effect of dilutive securities
Restricted stock units
Stock options
Dilutive potential common shares
Denominator for diluted EPS—weighted average number of
common shares and dilutive potential common shares (1)
Basic EPS
Diluted EPS
(1)

2002

2001

2000

$2,114

$2,310

$3,067

495.6

509.7

484.6

22.1

22.0

16.2

7.4

10.1

10.7

29.5

32.1

26.9

525.1

541.8

511.5

$ 4.27

$ 4.53

$ 6.33

4.03

4.26

6.00

The diluted EPS computations do not include the antidilutive effect of the following options:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

2000

Number of antidilutive options

28.1

0.7

—
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note

10

GOODWILL AND IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

As of November 2002, goodwill of $2.86 billion was
included in “Other assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial condition. Prior to December 1, 2001, goodwill was amortized over periods of 15 to 20 years on a
straight-line basis. The following table sets forth reported
net earnings and EPS, as adjusted to exclude goodwill
amortization expense:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Net earnings, as reported
Net earnings, as adjusted
EPS, as reported:
Basic
Diluted
EPS, as adjusted:
Basic
Diluted

2001

2000

$2,310

$3,067

2,404

3,096

Amortization expense associated with identifiable intangible assets was $127 million, $115 million and $7 million for the fiscal years ended November 2002,
November 2001 and November 2000, respectively.
Estimated amortization expense for existing identifiable
intangible assets is $129 million for each of the fiscal
years ending November 2003 through November 2007.
note

$ 4.53

$ 6.33

4.26

6.00

$ 4.72

$ 6.39

4.44

6.05

11

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Identifiable Intangible Assets

The firm sponsors various pension plans and certain
other postretirement benefit plans, primarily healthcare
and life insurance, which cover most employees worldwide. The firm also provides certain benefits to former or
inactive employees prior to retirement. A summary of
these plans is set forth below:

The following table sets forth the gross carrying amount,
accumulated amortization and net carrying amount of
identifiable intangible assets:

Defined Benefit Pension Plans and
Postretirement Plans

AS OF NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

78

Identifiable intangible assets consist primarily of specialist rights and customer lists and are amortized over a
weighted average life of approximately 21 years.

2002

2001

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortization

$2,239

$2,092

Net carrying amount

$1,980
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(259)

(132)
$1,960

The firm maintains a defined benefit pension plan for
substantially all U.S. employees. Employees of certain
non-U.S. subsidiaries participate in various local defined
benefit plans. These plans generally provide benefits
based on years of credited service and a percentage of the
employee’s eligible compensation. In addition, the firm
has unfunded postretirement benefit plans that provide
medical and life insurance for eligible retirees, employees
and dependents in the United States.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following table provides a summary of the changes in the plans’ benefit obligations and the fair value of assets for
2002 and 2001 and a statement of the funded status of the plans as of November 2002 and November 2001:
AS OF OR FOR THE YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
2002

(IN MILLIONS)

Benefit obligation
Balance, beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan amendments
Actuarial loss/(gain)
Benefits paid
Effect of foreign exchange rates
Balance, end of year
Fair value of plan assets
Balance, beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Firm contributions
Benefits paid
Other distributions
Effect of foreign exchange rates
Balance, end of year
Prepaid/(accrued) benefit cost
Funded status
Unrecognized actuarial loss
Unrecognized transition (asset)/obligation
Unrecognized prior service cost
Adjustment to recognize additional
minimum liability
Prepaid/(accrued) benefit cost

2001

U.S.
PENSION

NON-U.S.
PENSION

POSTRETIREMENT

U.S.
PENSION

NON-U.S.
PENSION

POSTRETIREMENT

$140

$184

$ 84

$120

$163

$ 59

6

37

8

4

35

6

10

9

9

9

7

5

—

1

40

—

—

—

8

7

50

9

(12)

18

(2)

(9)

(7)

(2)

(7)

(4)

—

16

—

—

(2)

—

$162

$245

$ 184

$140

$184

$ 84

$138

$164

$ 12

$148

$128

$ 15

(14)

(21)

(1)

(8)

(18)

(3)

45

56

7

—

61

4

(2)

(9)

(7)

(2)

(7)

(4)

—

—

(11)

—

—

—

—

16

—

—

—

—

$167

$206

$ —

$138

$164

$ 12

$

$ (39)

$(184)

$ (2)

$ (20)

$(72)

72

5

79

62

40

36

12

(28)

15

1

(31)

16

2

—

4

31

—

3

(1)

—
$ 49

For plans in which the accumulated benefit obligation
exceeded plan assets, the aggregate projected benefit obligation and accumulated benefit obligation was $72 million and $55 million, respectively, as of November 2002,

(1)
$ 58

—
$ (90)

$

—

—

—

7

$ 35

$(59)

and $63 million and $46 million, respectively, as of
November 2001. The fair value of plan assets for each of
these plans was $39 million and $35 million as of
November 2002 and November 2001, respectively.
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The components of pension expense/(income) and postretirement expense are set forth below:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

U.S. pension
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization
Total
Non-U.S. pension
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization
Total
Postretirement
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net amortization
Total

2002

2001

2000

$ 6

$ 4

$ 4

10

9

8

(12)

(12)

(10)

(3)

(3)

$ 2

(2)

$ (2)

$ (1)

$ 37

$ 35

$ 28

9

7

7

(12)

(9)

(8)

4

1

1

$ 38

$ 34

$ 28

$ 8

$ 6

$ 2

9

5

4

(1)

(1)

—

10

—

—

$ 26

$ 10

$ 6

The weighted average assumptions used to develop net periodic pension cost and the actuarial present value of the
projected benefit obligation are set forth below. The assumptions represent a weighted average of the assumptions used
for the U.S. and non-U.S. plans and are based on the economic environment of each applicable country.
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
2002

Defined benefit pension plans
U.S. pension
Discount rate
Rate of increase in future compensation levels
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
Non-U.S. pension
Discount rate
Rate of increase in future compensation levels
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
Postretirement plans
Discount rate
Rate of increase in future compensation levels
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

For measurement purposes, an annual growth rate in the
per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits of 11% was
assumed for the fiscal year ending November 2003. The

80

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT

2001

2000

6.75%

7.00%

7.50%

5.00

5.00

5.00

8.50

8.50

8.50

4.78

4.93

4.66

4.14

4.11

4.29

5.86

5.74

5.81

6.75%

7.00%

7.50%

5.00

5.00

5.00

8.50

8.50

—

rate was assumed to decrease ratably to 5% for the fiscal
year ending November 2009 and remain at that level
thereafter.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The assumed cost of healthcare has an effect on the amounts reported for the firm’s postretirement plans. A 1%
change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would have the following effects:
1% INCREASE

1% DECREASE

(IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

2002

Cost
Obligation

$ 3

$ 2

$ (2)

$(1)

25

10

(22)

(9)

Defined Contribution Plans

The firm contributes to employer-sponsored U.S. and
non-U.S. defined contribution plans. The firm’s contribution to these plans was $154 million, $193 million
and $129 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Contributions in 2002 and 2001 each reflect a
full year of contributions with respect to employees
added as a result of the firm’s combination with SLK.
The firm has also established a nonqualified defined
contribution plan (the Plan) for certain senior employees. Shares of common stock contributed to the Plan
and outstanding as of November 2002 were 8.6 million. The shares of common stock will vest and generally be distributable to the participant on specified
future dates if the participant satisfies certain conditions and the participant’s employment with the firm
has not been terminated, with certain exceptions for
terminations of employment due to death or a change
in control. Dividends on the underlying shares of common stock are paid currently to the participants.
Forfeited shares remain in the Plan and are reallocated
to other participants. Contributions to the Plan are
expensed on the date of grant. Plan expense was immaterial for the years ended November 2002,
November 2001 and November 2000.
note

12

2001

options, stock appreciation rights, dividend equivalent
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other
stock-based awards.
The total number of shares of common stock that may
be issued under the stock incentive plan through fiscal
2002 may not exceed 300 million shares. As of
November 2002 and November 2001, 128.6 million
shares and 135.0 million shares, respectively, were
available for grant under the stock incentive plan,
after considering stock-based compensation awards
that were issued subsequent to year end, as part of
year-end compensation.
Restricted Stock Units

The firm issued restricted stock units to employees under
the stock incentive plan, primarily in connection with its
initial public offering, acquisitions and as part of yearend compensation. Of the total restricted stock units
outstanding as of November 2002 and November 2001,
(i) 29.9 million units and 41.7 million units, respectively,
required future service as a condition to the delivery of
the underlying shares of common stock and (ii) 18.3 million units and 25.6 million units, respectively, did not
require future service. In all cases, delivery of the underlying shares of common stock is conditioned on the
grantee’s satisfying certain other requirements outlined
in the award agreements.

EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE PLANS

Stock Incentive Plan

The firm sponsors a stock incentive plan that provides
for grants of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT
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The activity related to these restricted stock units is set forth below:
RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS OUTSTANDING

Outstanding, November 1999
Granted (1)
Forfeited
Delivered
Vested

Outstanding, November 2000
Granted
Forfeited
Delivered
Vested
Outstanding, November 2001
Granted (2)
Forfeited
Delivered
Vested
Outstanding, November 2002

FUTURE
SERVICE
REQUIRED

35,703,923

40,344,481

6,401,796

10,900,941

(1,189,406)

(2,752,278)

(9,571,298)

—

2,157,204

(2,157,204)

33,502,219

46,335,940

116,968

1,638,536

(975,713)

(3,065,731)

(10,253,224)

—

3,239,683

(3,239,683)

25,629,933

41,669,062

1,484,153

4,855,553

(591,957)

(3,135,134)

(21,700,672)

—

13,494,481

(13,494,481)

18,315,938

29,895,000

(1)

Includes restricted stock units granted in connection with the combination with SLK and restricted stock units granted to employees, subsequent
to year end, as part of year-end compensation.

(2)

Includes restricted stock units granted to employees subsequent to year end as part of year-end compensation.

Total employee stock compensation expense, net of forfeitures, was $645 million, $798 million and $1.35 billion for the years ended November 2002, November
2001 and November 2000, respectively.
Stock Options

In general, stock options granted to employees in connection with the firm’s initial public offering vest and
become exercisable in equal installments on or about the
third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the grant date.
Stock options granted to employees subsequent to the
firm’s initial public offering generally vest as outlined in
the applicable stock option agreement and first become
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NO FUTURE
SERVICE
REQUIRED
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exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date. All
employee stock option agreements provide that vesting is
accelerated in certain circumstances, such as upon retirement, death and extended absence. In general, all stock
options expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date,
although they may be subject to earlier termination or
cancellation in certain circumstances in accordance with
the terms of the firm’s stock incentive plan and the applicable stock option agreement. The dilutive effect of the
firm’s outstanding stock options is included in “Average
common shares outstanding — Diluted,” on the consolidated statements of earnings.
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The activity related to these stock options is set forth below:

OPTIONS
OUTSTANDING

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
EXERCISE
PRICE

Outstanding, November 1999
Granted (1)
Exercised
Forfeited

40,359,666

$52.91

19,685,230

82.89

(18,901)

48.13

(2,590,237)

52.88

Outstanding, November 2000
Granted (1)
Exercised
Forfeited

57,435,758

63.19

29,004,359

91.89

(104,155)

52.03

(1,969,077)

64.46

Outstanding, November 2001
Granted (1)
Exercised
Forfeited

84,366,885

73.04

15,908,162

79.16

(1,138,087)

52.78

(4,867,859)

68.77

Outstanding, November 2002

94,269,101

74.53

8.08

Exercisable, November 2002

10,642,579

$52.87

6.44

OPTIONS
OUTSTANDING

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
EXERCISE
PRICE

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
REMAINING
LIFE (YEARS)

6.44

(1)

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
REMAINING
LIFE (YEARS)

9.42

8.96

8.65

Includes stock options granted to employees subsequent to year end as part of year-end compensation.

The options outstanding as of November 2002 are set forth below:

EXERCISE PRICE

$45.00 – $ 59.99

32,636,115

$52.93

60.00 –

74.99

—

—

—

75.00 –

89.99

33,596,260

81.10

8.92

28,036,726

91.81

9.00

90.00 – 104.99

94,269,101

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $27.38 per option, $30.82 per
option and $28.13 per option, respectively. Fair value was estimated as of the grant date based on a binomial option
pricing model using the following weighted average assumptions:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
2002

Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Dividend yield
Expected life

3.5%
35.0

2001

5.2%
35.0

2000

5.6%
35.0

0.6

0.5

0.6

5 years

7 years

7 years
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13

INCOME TAXES

The components of the net tax expense reflected in the consolidated statements of earnings are set forth below:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

Current taxes
U.S. federal
State and local
Non-U.S.
Total current tax expense
Deferred taxes
U.S. federal
State and local
Non-U.S.
Total deferred tax expense/(benefit)
Net tax expense

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting and
tax bases of assets and liabilities. These temporary differences result in taxable or deductible amounts in

2002

2001

2000

$ 543

$ 781

$1,063

35

64

285

331

489

957

909

1,334

2,305

(299)

7

(9)

102

95

49

121

(34)

(102)

230

52

(352)

$1,139

$1,386

$1,953

future years and are measured using the tax rates and
laws that will be in effect when such differences are
expected to reverse.

Significant components of the firm’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are set forth below:
AS OF NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

Deferred tax assets
Compensation and benefits
Unrealized losses
Other, net
Valuation allowance (1)

2001

$1,415

$1,768

173

—

185

197

1,773

1,965

(17)

Total deferred tax assets

(7)

1,756

1,958

Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation and amortization
Unrealized gains

207

111

—

20

Total deferred tax liabilities

207

131

$1,549

$1,827

Net deferred tax assets
(1)

Relates primarily to the ability to utilize certain state and local and foreign tax credits.

The firm permanently reinvests eligible earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that were incorporated for U.S.
income tax purposes at the end of 2001 and, accordingly,
does not accrue any U.S. income taxes that would arise if
such earnings were repatriated. As of November 2002,
this policy resulted in an unrecognized net deferred tax
liability of approximately $33 million attributable to
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reinvested earnings of approximately $209 million.
Additionally, during 2002, the valuation allowance was
increased by $10 million, primarily due to an increase in
certain state and local and foreign tax credits. Acquired net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $58 million
are subject to annual limitations on utilization and will
begin to expire in 2018.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the firm’s effective income tax rate is set forth below:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
2002

2001

2000

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate
Increase related to state and local taxes, net of U.S. income tax effects
Domestic tax credits
Tax-exempt income, including dividends
Foreign operations
Other

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

2.7

2.8

4.3

(1.3)

—

—

(1.3)

(0.6)

(0.2)

Effective income tax rate

Tax benefits of approximately $119 million in 2002,
$123 million in 2001 and $116 million in 2000, related
to the delivery of restricted stock units and the exercise of
options, were credited directly to “Additional paid-in
capital” in the consolidated statements of financial condition and changes in shareholders’ equity.
note

14

REGULATED SUBSIDIARIES

GS&Co. and Spear, Leeds and Kellogg, L.P. are registered
U.S. broker-dealers and futures commission merchants
subject to Rule 15c3-1 of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and Rule 1.17 of the Commodity Futures
Trading Commission, which specify uniform minimum
net capital requirements, as defined, for their registrants.
They have elected to compute their net capital in accordance with the “Alternative Net Capital Requirement” as
permitted by Rule 15c3-1. As of November 2002 and
November 2001, GS&Co. had regulatory net capital, as
defined, of $4.75 billion and $4.59 billion respectively,
which exceeded the amounts required by $4.09 billion
and $3.91 billion, respectively. As of November 2002
and November 2001, Spear, Leeds and Kellogg, L.P. had
regulatory net capital, as defined, of $1.28 billion and
$952 million, respectively, which exceeded the amounts
required by $1.24 billion and $907 million, respectively.
GSI, a registered U.K. broker-dealer, is subject to the capital requirements of The Financial Services Authority, and
GSJL, a Tokyo-based broker-dealer, is subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Agency. As of
November 2002 and November 2001, GSI and GSJL
were in compliance with their local capital adequacy
requirements.
Certain other subsidiaries of the firm are also subject to
capital adequacy requirements promulgated by authorities of the countries in which they operate. As of

(0.9)

—

—

0.8

0.3

(0.2)

35.0%

37.5%

38.9%

November 2002 and November 2001, these subsidiaries were in compliance with their local capital adequacy requirements.
note

15

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

In reporting to management, the firm’s operating results
are categorized into the following three segments:
Investment Banking, Trading and Principal Investments,
and Asset Management and Securities Services. The
Investment Banking and Trading and Principal
Investments segments were previously aggregated into
one reporting segment — Global Capital Markets.
Investment Banking

The Investment Banking segment provides a broad range
of investment banking services to a diverse group of corporations, financial institutions, governments and individuals. Investment banking activities are divided into
two categories:
• financial advisory – Financial Advisory includes

advisory assignments with respect to mergers and
acquisitions, divestitures, corporate defense activities, restructurings and spin-offs; and
• underwriting – Underwriting includes public

offerings and private placements of equity and debt
securities.
Trading and Principal Investments

The Trading and Principal Investments business facilitates
customer transactions with a diverse group of corporations, financial institutions, governments and individuals
and takes proprietary positions through market making
in, and trading of, fixed income and equity products, currencies, commodities, and swaps and other derivatives. In
addition, the firm engages in floor-based and electronic
market making as a specialist on U.S. equities and

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT

85

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

options exchanges. Trading and Principal Investments is
divided into three categories:
• ficc – The firm makes markets in and trades inter-

est rate and credit products, currencies and commodities, structures and enters into a wide variety
of derivative transactions, and engages in proprietary trading;
• equities – The firm makes markets in, acts as a

specialist for, and trades equities and equity-related
products, structures and enters into equity derivative transactions, and engages in proprietary trading; and
• principal investments – Principal Investments

primarily represents net revenues from the firm’s
merchant banking investments.
Asset Management and Securities Services

The Asset Management and Securities Services segment
includes services related to the following:
• asset management – Asset Management gener-

ates management fees by providing investment
advisory services to a diverse client base of institutions and individuals;

The firm allocates revenues and expenses among the
three segments. Due to the integrated nature of the business segments, estimates and judgments have been made
in allocating certain revenue and expense items.
Transactions between segments are based on specific criteria or approximate third-party rates. Total operating
expenses include corporate items that have not been allocated to individual business segments. The allocation
process is based on the manner in which management
views the business of the firm.
The segment information presented in the table below is
prepared according to the following methodologies:

• securities services – Securities Services includes

• Revenues and expenses directly associated

prime brokerage, financing services and securities
lending, and the firm’s matched book businesses, all
of which generate revenues primarily in the form of
interest rate spreads or fees; and

with each segment are included in determining
pre-tax earnings.

• commissions – Commissions includes fees from

executing and clearing client transactions on major
stock, options and futures markets worldwide.
Commissions also includes revenues from the
increased share of the income and gains derived
from the firm’s merchant banking funds when the
return on a fund’s investments exceeds certain
threshold returns.
Basis of Presentation

In reporting segments, certain of the firm’s business
lines have been aggregated where they have similar economic characteristics and are similar in each of the following areas: (i) the nature of the services they provide,
(ii) their methods of distribution, (iii) the types of clients
they serve and (iv) the regulatory environments in which
they operate.
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The cost structures of each of the firm’s segments are
broadly similar to that of the firm taken as a whole in
that they are primarily influenced by discretionary compensation, headcount and levels of business activity. The
firm’s overall compensation and benefits expenses are
generally targeted at 50% (plus or minus a few percentage points) of consolidated net revenues. A substantial
portion of the firm’s compensation expense represents
discretionary bonuses. Compensation expense within a
segment reflects, among other factors, the overall performance of the firm as well as the performance of the
individual business unit.
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• Net revenues in the firm’s segments include alloca-

tions of interest income and interest expense to specific securities, commodities and other positions in
relation to the cash generated by, or funding
requirements of, the underlying positions. Net
interest is included within segment net revenues as
it is consistent with the way in which management
assesses segment performance.
• Overhead expenses not directly allocable to specific

segments are allocated ratably based on direct segment expenses.
• The nonrecurring expenses associated with the

firm’s acquisition awards and conversion to corporate form and related transactions are not allocated
to individual segments as management excludes
them in evaluating segment performance.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment Operating Results

Management believes that the following information provides a reasonable representation of each segment's contribution to consolidated pre-tax earnings and total assets:
AS OF AND FOR YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

Investment Banking

Trading and
Principal Investments

Asset Management
and Securities Services

Total

(1)

2002

2001

2000

Net revenues (1)
Operating expenses (2)

$

Pre-tax earnings

$

376

$

719

$

1,726
2,333

2,830

$

2,454

3,836

$

3,117

5,371
3,645

Segment assets

$

4,555

$

3,938

$

Net revenues (1)
Operating expenses (2)

$

5,249

$

6,349

$

Pre-tax earnings

$

Segment assets

$184,895

$164,965

$143,900

Net revenues (1)
Operating expenses (2)

$

$

$

Pre-tax earnings

$

Segment assets

$165,328

$142,477

$137,091

Net revenues (1)
Operating expenses (2)(3)

$ 13,986

$ 15,811

$ 16,590

10,733

12,115

Pre-tax earnings

$

Total assets

$355,574

(4)

4,273
976

5,907

5,134
$

3,794
2,113

3,253

1,215

5,626

$

3,501
$

$

2,125

3,696

$312,218

6,627
4,199
2,428

4,592
3,008

$

1,584

11,570
$

5,020

$284,410

Net revenues include net interest as set forth in the table below:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

Investment Banking
Trading and Principal Investments
Asset Management and Securities Services
Total net interest
(2)

2002

2001

2000

$ 258

$ 159

$ 32

1,186

95

99

957

1,039

855

$2,401

$1,293

$986

Operating expenses include depreciation and amortization, including the amortization of goodwill and intangible assets, as set forth in the table
below:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

2000

Investment Banking

$148

$140

$172

Trading and Principal Investments

293

386

188

Asset Management and Securities Services

311

315

150

$744

$873

$486

Total depreciation and amortization
(3)

Includes the following expenses that have not been allocated to the firm’s segments: (i) amortization of employee initial public offering awards
of $212 million, $363 million and $428 million for the years ended November 2002, November 2001 and November 2000, respectively, and
(ii) nonrecurring acquisition awards of $290 million related to the firm’s combination with SLK for the year ended November 2000.

(4)

Includes deferred tax assets relating to the firm’s conversion to corporate form and certain assets that management believes are not allocable to
a particular segment.
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The following table sets forth the net revenues of the firm’s three segments:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

2002

2001

2000

$ 1,499

$ 2,070

$ 2,592

1,331

1,766

2,779

Total Investment Banking

2,830

3,836

5,371

FICC
Equities
Principal Investments

4,470

4,047

3,004

1,008

2,923

3,489

Total Trading and Principal Investments
Asset Management
Securities Services
Commissions
Total Asset Management and Securities Services

Financial Advisory
Underwriting

Total net revenues
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(229)

(621)

134

5,249

6,349

6,627

1,653

1,473

1,345

981

1,133

940

3,273

3,020

2,307

5,907

5,626

4,592

$13,986

$15,811

$16,590

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Geographic Information

Due to the highly integrated nature of international
financial markets, the firm manages its businesses
based on the profitability of the enterprise as a whole.
Accordingly, management believes that profitability by
geographic region is not necessarily meaningful.

The firm’s revenues, expenses and identifiable assets
are generally allocated based on the country of domicile of the legal entity providing the service.

The following table sets forth the total net revenues, pre-tax earnings and identifiable assets of the firm and its consolidated subsidiaries by geographic region allocated on the basis described above:
AS OF OR FOR YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
(IN MILLIONS)

Net revenues
United States
Other Americas
United Kingdom

$

Other Europe
Asia
Total net revenues
Pre-tax earnings
United States
Other Americas
United Kingdom
Other Europe
Asia
Other (1)
Total pre-tax earnings
Identifiable assets
United States
Other Americas
United Kingdom
Other Europe
Asia
Eliminations and other (2)
Total identifiable assets

2002

2001

2000

8,643

$ 10,181

342

234

189

2,991

3,483

4,400

$

9,767

479

473

622

1,531

1,440

1,612

$ 13,986

$ 15,811

$ 16,590

$

$

$

1,973

2,487

$2,845

170

191

104

525

665

1,882

173

241

391

624

475

516

(212)

(363)

(718)

3,253

$

3,696

$

5,020

$389,096

$337,061

7,521

5,985

$287,938
7,791

144,608

131,812

121,257

8,573

8,129

7,979

25,422

25,367

16,848

(219,646)

(196,136)

(157,403)

$355,574

$312,218

$284,410

(1)

Includes the following expenses that have not been allocated to the firm’s segments: (i) amortization of employee initial public offering awards of
$212 million, $363 million and $428 million for the years ended November 2002, November 2001 and November 2000, respectively, and (ii) nonrecurring acquisition awards of $290 million related to the firm’s combination with SLK for the year ended November 2000.

(2)

Reflects eliminations and certain assets that are not allocable to a particular geographic region.

GOLDMAN SACHS 2002 ANNUAL REPORT

89

Supplemental Financial Information

Quarterly Results (unaudited)

The following represents the firm’s unaudited quarterly results for 2002 and 2001. These quarterly results were prepared
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and reflect all adjustments that are, in the opinion of the
management, necessary for a fair presentation of the results. These adjustments are of a normal recurring nature.
2002 FISCAL QUARTER
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

FIRST

SECOND

THIRD

FOURTH

$5,700

$6,234

$5,872

$5,048

2,102

2,383

2,223

2,160

3,598

3,851

3,649

2,888

2,759

2,950

2,855

2,169

839

901

794

719

315

338

272

214

$ 524

$ 563

$ 522

$ 505

$ 1.05

$ 1.13

$ 1.05

$ 1.03

0.98

1.06

1.00

0.98

0.12

0.12

0.12

0.12

FIRST

SECOND

THIRD

FOURTH

$9,502

$8,158

$7,360

$6,118

4,769

4,168

3,699

2,691

Revenues, net of interest expense
Operating expenses

4,733

3,990

3,661

3,427

3,474

3,044

2,894

2,703

Pre-tax earnings
Provision for taxes

1,259

946

767

724

491

369

299

227

Net earnings

$ 768

$ 577

$ 468

$

Earnings per share
Basic

$ 1.49

$ 1.12

$ 0.92

$ 0.99

1.40

1.06

0.87

0.93

0.12

0.12

0.12

0.12

Total revenues
Interest expense
Revenues, net of interest expense
Operating expenses
Pre-tax earnings
Provision for taxes
Net earnings
Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted
Dividends declared per common share

2001 FISCAL QUARTER
(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Total revenues
Interest expense

Diluted
Dividends declared per share
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Common Stock Price Range

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of the firm’s common stock as reported by the Consolidated Tape Association.
SALES PRICE
2002

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

2001

2000

HIGH

LOW

HIGH

LOW

HIGH

LOW

$97.25

$77.52

$120.00

$77.00

$ 94.81

$74.38

92.25

74.00

105.15

77.00

128.00

69.38

81.97

65.55

98.14

75.05

121.75

70.63

81.00

58.57

92.75

63.27

133.63

79.25

As of January 31, 2003, there were approximately 5,530 holders of record of the firm’s common stock.
On January 31, 2003, the last reported sales price for the firm’s common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was
$68.10 per share.
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Selected Financial Data
AS OF OR FOR YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER

Income statement data
Total revenues
Interest expense

1998

$ 22,854

$ 31,138

$ 33,000

$ 25,363

$ 22,478

8,868

15,327

16,410

12,018

13,958

13,986

15,811

16,590

13,345

8,520

6,744

7,700

7,773

6,459

3,838

—

—

290

2,257

—

(IN MILLIONS)

Compensation and benefits
Nonrecurring employee initial public
offering and acquisition awards
Amortization of employee initial public
offering and acquisition awards
Other operating expenses
(1)

Pre-tax earnings (1)

$

Balance sheet data (IN MILLIONS)
Total assets
Long-term borrowings
Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Partners’ capital

293

464

428

268

—

3,696

3,951

3,079

2,369

1,761

3,253

3,696

$

5,020

$

1,992

$

2,921

$312,218

$284,410

$248,348

38,711

31,016

31,395

20,952

19,906

336,571

293,987

267,880

238,203

199,355

19,003

18,231

16,530

10,145

—

—

—

—

—

6,310

Selected data (UNAUDITED)
Employees
United States
International
(2)

Assets under management
Asset class
Money markets

$

$355,574

Common share data (IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
Earnings per share
Basic
$
4.27
Diluted
4.03
Dividends declared per share
0.48
Book value per share
38.69
Average common shares outstanding
Basic
495.6
Diluted
525.1

$

4.53

$

6.33

$

$205,739

5.69

—

4.26

6.00

5.57

—

0.48

0.48

0.24

—

36.33

32.18

20.94

—

509.7

484.6

475.9

—

541.8

511.5

485.8

—

12,511

14,565

14,755

9,746

8,349

7,228

8,112

7,872

5,615

4,684

19,739

22,677

22,627

15,361

13,033

(6)

(IN BILLIONS)

$

Fixed income and currency
Equity
Alternative investments (3)
Total assets under management

92

1999 (5)

2001

Net revenues

Total employees

2000 (4)

2002

$

108

$

122

$

72

$

48

$

46

96

71

57

58

50

86

96

107

98

69

58

62

58

54

348

$

351

$

294

$

258

30
$

195

(1)

As a partnership, payments for services rendered by profit-participating limited partners were accounted for as distributions of partners’ capital
rather than as compensation and benefits expense. As a result, pre-tax earnings in 1998 is not comparable with 2002, 2001, 2000 or 1999.

(2)

Excludes employees of Goldman Sachs’ property management subsidiaries. Substantially all of the costs of these employees are reimbursed to
Goldman Sachs by the real estate investment funds to which these subsidiaries provide property management services.

(3)

Includes merchant banking, quantitative asset allocation and other similar funds that the firm manages, as well as funds where the firm recommends one or more subadvisors for the firm’s clients.

(4)

In 2000, pre-tax earnings included a charge of $290 million ($180 million after taxes) related to the firm’s combination with SLK. Excluding this
charge, diluted earnings per share were $6.35.

(5)

In 1999, pre-tax earnings were reduced by nonrecurring expenses of $2.26 billion associated with the conversion to corporate form and the charitable contribution to The Goldman Sachs Foundation of $200 million made at the time of the initial public offering.

(6)

Includes 2,600 employees related to the combination with SLK.
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In Memoriam
We mourn the loss of two of our colleagues and friends:
Howard R. Young

Arthur G. Altschul

Ray joined the firm in 1946 and was the first Harvard MBA
to join Goldman Sachs in a sales position. After several
successful years covering our important clients, he became
head of the Securities Sales Division, a predecessor of
the Equities Division, and helped transform it dramatically.
Ray was named a general partner in 1958 and served on
the Management Committee from the time of its inception
in 1961, until he became a limited partner in 1980 and
most recently a senior director of the firm. Ray was an
extraordinary individual with a passion for our business
and people; he will be greatly missed.

After joining the firm as a general partner in 1959, Arthur
played a key role in the establishment and development of
the Investment Management Services Department. He
became a limited partner in 1977 and served in that role
until 1999. Arthur was a committed partner of the firm and
a distinguished philanthropist and art collector. He will be
remembered for his generosity, thoughtful judgment and
commitment to our firm’s culture.
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Our Business Principles

Our clients’ interests always come first. Our experience shows that if we serve our clients well, our own
success will follow.

1.

Our assets are our people, capital and reputation.
If any of these is ever diminished, the last is the most
difficult to restore. We are dedicated to complying fully
with the letter and spirit of the laws, rules and ethical
principles that govern us. Our continued success
depends upon unswerving adherence to this standard.

2.

Our goal is to provide superior returns to our shareholders. Profitability is critical to achieving superior
returns, building our capital, and attracting and keeping
our best people. Significant employee stock ownership
aligns the interests of our employees and our shareholders.

3.

We take great pride in the professional quality of
our work. We have an uncompromising determination
to achieve excellence in everything we undertake.
Though we may be involved in a wide variety and heavy
volume of activity, we would, if it came to a choice,
rather be best than biggest.

We stress teamwork in everything we do. While
individual creativity is always encouraged, we have
found that team effort often produces the best results.
We have no room for those who put their personal
interests ahead of the interests of the firm and its clients.

8.

The dedication of our people to the firm and the
intense effort they give their jobs are greater than one
finds in most other organizations. We think that this is
an important part of our success.

9.

10. We consider our size an asset that we try hard to

preserve. We want to be big enough to undertake the
largest project that any of our clients could contemplate,
yet small enough to maintain the loyalty, the intimacy
and the esprit de corps that we all treasure and that contribute greatly to our success.

4.

We stress creativity and imagination in everything
we do. While recognizing that the old way may still be
the best way, we constantly strive to find a better solution
to a client’s problems. We pride ourselves on having
pioneered many of the practices and techniques that
have become standard in the industry.

5.

We make an unusual effort to identify and recruit
the very best person for every job. Although our activities
are measured in billions of dollars, we select our people
one by one. In a service business, we know that without
the best people, we cannot be the best firm.

6.

We offer our people the opportunity to move ahead
more rapidly than is possible at most other places.
Advancement depends on merit and we have yet to find
the limits to the responsibility our best people are able
to assume. For us to be successful, our men and women
must reflect the diversity of the communities and cultures
in which we operate. That means we must attract,
retain and motivate people from many backgrounds
and perspectives. Being diverse is not optional; it is
what we must be.

7.
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11. We constantly strive to anticipate the rapidly

changing needs of our clients and to develop new services to meet those needs. We know that the world of
finance will not stand still and that complacency can
lead to extinction.
12. We regularly receive confidential information as

part of our normal client relationships. To breach a confidence or to use confidential information improperly or
carelessly would be unthinkable.
13. Our business is highly competitive, and we aggres-

sively seek to expand our client relationships. However,
we must always be fair competitors and must never
denigrate other firms.
14. Integrity and honesty are at the heart of our business.

We expect our people to maintain high ethical standards
in everything they do, both in their work for the firm
and in their personal lives.

Financial Highlights

Shareholder Information

AS OF OR FOR YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER
($ AND SHARE AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

2002

2001

Executive Offices
Operating Results

Net revenues
Investment banking
Trading and principal investments
Asset management and securities services
Total net revenues
Pre-tax earnings
Net earnings

$

$

2,830
5,249
5,907
13,986
3,253
2,114

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
85 Broad Street
New York, New York 10004
1-212-902-1000
www.gs.com

3,836
6,349
5,626
15,811
3,696
2,310

Common Stock

The common stock of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trades
under the ticker symbol “GS.”

Common Share Data

Diluted earnings per share
Average diluted common shares outstanding
Dividends declared per share
Book value per share (1)

$

$

4.03
525.1

$

$

0.48
38.69

4.26
541.8
0.48
36.33

Information about the firm, including all quarterly
earnings releases and financial filings with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, can be accessed
at our Web site: www.gs.com.

$312,218
31,016
18,231
17.1x
14.5x
13.0%
17.8%

$355,574
38,711
19,003
18.7x
15.2x
11.3%
15.3%

Mellon Investor Services LLC
Overpeck Centre
85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, New Jersey 07660
1-800-419-2595
www.melloninvestor.com

Shareholder Inquiries

Financial Condition and Other Operating Data

Total assets
Long-term borrowings
Shareholders’ equity
Leverage ratio (2)
Adjusted leverage ratio (3, 4)
Return on average shareholders’ equity (5)
Return on average tangible shareholders’ equity (6)

Transfer Agent and Registrar for Common Stock
Questions from registered shareholders of The
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. regarding lost or stolen
stock certificates, dividends, changes of address and
other issues related to registered share ownership
should be addressed to:

Independent Accountants

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1177 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10036

Shareholder inquiries can also be directed to
Investor Relations via our Web site at
www.gs.com/investor_relations/ or by calling
1-212-902-0300.

Selected Data

Total employees
Assets under management ($ in billions)

$

Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2002

22,677
$
351

19,739
348

(1)

Book value per share is based on common shares outstanding, including restricted stock units granted to employees with no future service requirements, of 491.2 million as of November 2002 and 501.8 million as of November 2001.

(2)

Leverage ratio equals total assets divided by shareholders’ equity.

(3)

Adjusted leverage ratio equals adjusted assets divided by tangible shareholders’ equity. Adjusted assets excludes (i) low-risk collateralized assets
generally associated with our matched book and securities lending businesses (which we calculate by adding our securities purchased under agreements to resell and securities borrowed, and then subtracting our nonderivative short positions), (ii) cash and securities we segregate in compliance
with regulations and (iii) goodwill and identifiable intangible assets. See “Financial Information — Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Capital and
Funding” for further information regarding our adjusted leverage ratio calculation.

(4)

Tangible shareholders’ equity equals total shareholders’ equity less goodwill and identifiable intangible assets.

(5)

Return on average shareholders' equity is computed by dividing net earnings by average monthly shareholders' equity.

(6)

Return on average tangible shareholders’ equity is computed by dividing net earnings by average monthly tangible shareholders’ equity. See “Financial
Information — Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Results of Operations” for further information regarding our return on average tangible shareholders’ equity calculation.

Copies of the firm’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission can be accessed on our
Web site at www.gs.com/investor_relations/.
Copies can also be obtained by contacting
Investor Relations via our Web site at
www.gs.com/investor_relations/ or by calling
1-212-902-0300.

©2003 The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. All rights reserved.
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Except where specifically defined, the terms “Goldman
Sachs,” “Firm,” “we,” “us” and “our” in this document
may refer to The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. and/or its
subsidiaries and affiliates worldwide, or to one or more of
them, depending on the context in each instance. Except
where otherwise noted, all marks indicated by ®, ™, or SM
are trademarks or service marks of Goldman, Sachs & Co.
4350-02-102
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